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Financial Highlights

BT E R

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—EBEC-RE —EoF —E-=F B -F —ET-—F
HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million
BEET BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Revenue Wiz
— Semiconductor distribution —FBEHH 1,146.2 937.3 634.3 1,012.7 1,190.4
— Consumer product and product —HEBEEEMRERR
sourcing business BT 433 46.7 24.7 29.0 471
— Venture capital — g% - - - - -
- Others —Hfh 0.4 0.3 1.0 0.7 37
1,189.9 984.3 660.0 1,042.4 1,241.2
Profit/(loss) before interest, tax, BRAE B\ E -
depreciation, amortisation and ENRIEEEIBEA
non-cash items A (EE)
- Corporate expense ANGIE= 4] (34.5) (29.6) (26.9) (26.6) (33.9)
— Venture capital — g% (1.4) (11.2) (18.9) 11.3 (19.4)
— Semiconductor distribution —FBEHH 139.8 200.5 102.8 285.2 354.7
— Consumer product and product —HEREMNERR
sourcing business: HEZERS
Selling and distribution expenses HENSHER (20.9) (19.7) (10.6) 4.4) (5.6)
Operating loss EEE 4.1) (1.5) (4.5) 2.5) (10.9)
(25.0) (21.2) (15.1) (6.9) (16.5)
- Others —Hfth (0.2) (1.0) (2.0) (6.4) (13.5)
78.7 137.5 399 256.6 271.4
Depreciation and amortisation PR (1.7) (1.9) (3.0 (3.5) (3.6)
Profit for the year attributable to (5 F A5 A
— Owners of the Company SV VNG 2PN 53.7 109.2 40.7 231.0 269.8
— Non-controlling interests — FEIE R - - - - (0.3)
53.7 109.2 40.7 231.0 269.5
Dividend AR
— Proposed final —ZEEAH 9.1 18.2 9.1 36.3 27.3
Dividend per share (HK cents) BRI E GBI
— Proposed final —EEAH 1.0 2.0 1.0 4.0 3.0
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Financial Highlights
B E A

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—EB-HE —E-_NF T-=F T-—_F E-_—F
HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$'million
HEBT BEATL BEBT BEATL BEBT
Total assets BEHRE 1,899.6 1,872.1 1,753.6 1,745.5 1,586.6
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTDARS 1,747.4 1,723.4 1,627.9 1,637.1 1,440.2
Total equity G 1,734.1 1,709.5 1,613.3 1,622.0 1,425.0
Borrowings and lease liabilities ERkAEEE 32.0 36.2 20.1 76 16
Cash and cash equivalents RekERRELIER 59.0 76.3 121.4 152.2 1243
Financial assets at fair value BiREREATEBTE
through profit or loss (included in ZEBMEEGIARE
current assets) EE) 2.9 4.5 11.9 28.4 48.2
61.9 80.8 133.3 180.6 172.5
Total debt to total equity ERFEREER AR
b 1.9% 2.1% 1.2% 0.5% 0.1%
Current assets to current liabilities MEEERREEE S
t & 123.4% 150.8% 164.3% 239% 176%
Cash and cash equivalents and BRRekERREIER
financial assets at fair value through ~ Fi&EBIEFRATFEE
profit or loss (included in current PRz &REE GEA
assets) per share (HK$) mREEE) (BT) 0.07 0.09 0.15 0.20 0.19
Total equity per share (HK$) FicERBRE (BT) 1.91 1.88 1.78 1.79 1.57
Revenue to property, plant and WEREYE - BE &
equipment and right-of-use assets (x) & A RIEREEE
L (15) 36.1 29.5 19.0 35.0 38.3
Revenue to inventories (x) W BF & b () 12.3 11.0 416 23.3 36.8
Revenue to trade receivables (x) Weas BARE U B SR
L (15) 59.8 35.5 72.4 121.2 35.6
Revenue to trade payables, deposits Uz ERE( & 5 8RN »
received and accrued expenses (x) Blize KEAER
L (15) 16.9 17.1 28.9 43.7 43.4
Revenue to borrowings (x) o BELAE AR L 2 () 37.2 27.3 33.6 162.0 N/A
TEA
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HAIRMAN'S
ATEMENT
E 2 A




Dr. So Yuk Kwan &85+
Chairman /&

Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am honored to present the annual
results of AV Concept Holdings Limited (“AV Concept” or the “Company”)
together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (the “year under review").

During the year under review, the global economy demonstrated resilience
amid a complex backdrop. International Monetary Fund and Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development projections point to moderate
growth of around 3% in 2025, reflecting a slight tempering of earlier
optimism due to policy and trade uncertainties. Notwithstanding these
challenges, continued disinflation and easing monetary policies in many
regions have underpinned some economic stability.

AAZREREETESMAMBEIRZZAV Concept Holdings Limited ([AV
Concept] sk [ARR]) REMBAR (GBI AEENEE-Z_AF=A
“t+—HUFE(REFED 22FEE -

EOEFER  2REBEEERZERZTDARE TN - REERE
BESEBNEBAFRBERABNRNTRN - 2L REHN2025%F
HWRHB3% LR REMBARE  TRARBRRTHEURBESREER -
AW BIRFERERZ AR EEBERELSER - REARESRK—ER
JENE
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Chairman’s Statement

The year under review was a challenging period for AV Concept. The
Group review revealed a revenue of approximately HK$1,190.0 million
(2024: HK$984.3 million). The profit attributable to the Company’s owners
amounted to approximately HK$53.7 million (2024: HK$109.2 million), with
the gross profit around HK$13.2 million (2024: HK$36.3 million).

After a robust rebound in the previous year, market conditions turned
more volatile, especially in our core semiconductor business. We witnessed
significant price fluctuations in semiconductor components throughout the
year, which, coupled with softer demand in certain quarters, led to more
modest results for the Group. Globally, economic recovery continued at
an uneven pace amid persistent inflation and fluctuation of interest rates.
In China, the smartphone market showed signs of a partial recovery after
two consecutive years of shipment declines, during which the market
contracted due to economic headwinds, reduced consumer confidence,
and prolonged device replacement cycles. The recovery in 2024 remained
uneven, with significant differences across manufacturers, product tiers,
and regional markets. Consumer demand and spending patterns continued
to be unpredictable, limiting the breadth of the rebound and presenting
challenges for suppliers and distributors alike. These dynamics created a tough
environment that tempered our overall performance for the year.

In the Semiconductor Distribution segment, the Group navigated noticeable
volatility. The industry experienced cyclical rebound in year 2024 and early
2025, with memory pricing recovering from historic lows and inventory
corrections playing out across the supply chain. At the year start, strong
demand driven by new technology trends (such as Al-related chips) hinted
at growth opportunities. However, this momentum was offset by mid-year
market corrections and inventory adjustments among manufacturers. Memory
chip prices swung sharply, surging in the first half and then retreating as
supply-demand imbalances arose. The smartphone sector, a key driver for our
joint venture business, experienced only a fragile uptick. China’s smartphone
shipments did increase modestly in 2024, yet inconsistent consumer sentiment
meant the recovery lacked breadth. Overall, our semiconductor distribution
business delivered a mixed performance in terms of sales volume and price,
and we responded by tightening cost controls and carefully managing
inventory to preserve margins in this fluctuating landscape.

8 AV Concept Holdings Limited - Annual Report 2025 3R

HRAEBME @ 2024258 BUFE AR AEB N —
G o REBBUZELA1,190,000,00078 7T (2024
£ 1 984,300,000/87T) « AREIESB AR EFEL
/£53,700,0007 7T (20244 : 109,200,000/%87T) * &
FIRIA9 A %13,200,0007 7T (20244 : 36,300,000/
7o) ©

RELFHNBRYRE  MERFEBNE - LARE
EZONF BN HEEBRABE - FRFEBTMH
EBROBREAERE - N EHDFERKESS - 4K
BEREXERD—TEN - BERREEERSE
BRHRBRE N RANE RS - ERRBNAF -
ERE - SFRTSEEZEMNFHEETER 1
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5 o

PREBRESMEERSTE - TMISRIEPE - 2024F &
2025F IR E AR REH - CIBEEEREE
SEMEF - EFHENE FEGHER - FYZR
RETET (BAIKERE & ) 8) - mis—E2RERE)
71 MERERIR AR - HERETEFSE - BEUE
HMEEEX - REEREEN X F2A EEARAHT
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B BRAFAPEFRLESEEEMOEA - B
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Our Consumer Products and Product Sourcing business provided a measure of
stability amid the turbulence. We continued to market lifestyle electronics and
audio-visual products in Hong Kong, Japan and Southeast Asia, maintaining
revenues on par with last year. The Southeast Asian e-commerce market,
especially in Indonesia, remained an area of interest, but growth in that region
has normalized compared to the rapid gains of prior years. We prudently
scaled our efforts in these markets, focusing on efficiency and sustainable
partnerships rather than aggressive expansion. As a result, the consumer
products segment contributed consistently to the Group’s revenues, helping
to balance the softness in semiconductors.

Throughout the year, the Group adopted a reserved and prudent approach
to operations in light of the uncertain conditions. We exercised strict financial
discipline, cautiously evaluating new investments and controlling operating
costs. At the same time, we made strategic adjustments to position the Group
for future growth. Notably, we initiated a strategic pivot toward Japan as a
key growth market. Japan’s electronics and technology sector offers attractive
opportunities and relative macroeconomic stability. By expanding our presence
and relationships in Japan, we aim to diversify our revenue base and leverage
a market that has proven resilient and safe amid global trade uncertainty. This
strategic move, alongside our focus on core competencies, will strengthen the
Group's foundation for the years ahead.

Looking forward, we maintain a tone of cautious optimism. The global
environment remains clouded by uncertainties, geopolitical tensions and
trade disputes continue to pose risks, with new tariffs and export controls
challenging the semiconductor supply chain. Macroeconomic headwinds,
including fluctuating interest rates and uneven post-pandemic recoveries,
persist across our key markets. Yet, there are reasons for guarded optimism.
According to The global memory semiconductor market is in a strong cyclical
recovery, with 2025 expected to deliver robust double-digit growth, led by
DRAM and NAND segments. Gartner forecasts that global memory revenue
will grow by 20.5% in 2025, reaching US$196.3 billion. This growth is
primarily attributed to a recovery in electronic production and ongoing
supply-demand adjustments. The overall technological upgrades and the
rollout of 5G will translate into renewed demand for semiconductors and
electronics. IDC, the most respected technology market research firm, indicate
that China’s consumer electronics and smartphone markets are expected to
continue growing in 2025, albeit at a slower pace. Government subsidies,
innovation, and a shift toward value-driven consumption are central themes,
while persistent trade tensions and economic uncertainty pose risks to
sustained momentum.

Chairman’s Statemth

HEREMMEMRBEFNSARERKE TR T
RERBEXE - HMEENEE  BARRERTS
HELAETERRYTER  SRAXFHAENE
X - BEHNEERMEEFREEMSENAES - £
BREBAEFHE  AEEEERRKLE  BERX
HERERAFRE - BRERAR - At - ZEBHRR
BERE - BRI EREBNKD -

CEZEF  AEEREETSTHENE  EEFEEge
HES - PISEIE B AR - BEMGRE - 25
LEMX - REEE L - HAVEBABRTR - LHEK
BAMSERRREREH - BAEFERIRE
RKARRES  RELETRERE - AREGEE
RAEBARHIHERERSIERHEE - URAHZ TR
AKR - WHREREMBERYEZIRESH THEEN - &R
B BB EE KB R EEE -

BERR  RMOIEATSHFFELE - EBURER
NESERKBER B MR B K
B FEMBMIHNEREE RBEERTFHMY
2o R TTENTZFITEZE o BRIFEGartnerfa Al
2025F 2B EEMIZKIER20.5% @ EE
1,9638%0 SERSTESRARETRAE - &
BT AAR RSGREE « MSH R ERERTETE
A FTIE T SR o ARBE R T IS S IDC Y TR R -
BREFRIHBEE THHBHNR2025F#HEEE - 8
BRI A PR - BURRIE - AIFEA KR EBEE
A EBBRFERR  HEIRBREEBLED
BT RRR ©
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Chairnlan’s Statement

The Group will build on its cautious strategy, reinforcing risk management,
staying agile to market changes, and driving growth in selective markets
like Japan, to navigate the road ahead. We are confident that our prudent
approach, combined with the dedication of our team, will guide the Group
through near- term challenges and allow us to capture opportunities when

conditions improve.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our shareholders, business
partners, and customers for their continued support and confidence during
this volatile year. | am also deeply grateful to our management and staff for
their hard work, resilience, and commitment to the Group. Together, we
will strive to deliver sustainable value and growth as we move into the next

financial year.

So Yuk Kwan
Chairman
Hong Kong
30 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN N DT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following sets out the financial highlights for the year ended 31 March
2025, with the comparative figures for the corresponding financial year of

FBE R A
TRHIIE

E_RFZA=Zt+—HULEFEZHK
B5Y BR T -NFHBFEEREZ L ERETE o

2024.
2025 2024
—E_RE —EMFE
HK$'million HK$ million
BEBT BEETT
Revenue by segment 127 EE) 7.7 Wa
Semiconductor distribution FEBRESEE 1,146.2 937.3
Consumer product and product sourcing business THBRAE M N E MR T 433 46.7
Venture capital =lE% 3.0 (5.7)
Others EAfh 0.4 03
1,192.9 978.6
Profit/(loss) before interest, tax, depreciation, BFIE - FIE - ITE - BERIFRESEA
amortisation and non-cash items s (E#8)
Corporate expense NEEH (34.5) (29.6)
Venture capital 2ll3% (1.4) (11.2)
Semiconductor distribution HEEESE 139.8 200.5
Consumer product and product sourcing business: HEBRELRERRBER
Selling and distribution expenses HERSIHER (20.9) (19.7)
Operating loss K e (4.1) (1.5)
(25.0) (21.2)
Others Hith (0.2) (1.0)
78.7 137.5
Depreciation E
Venture capital =1k (0.3) (0.4)
Semiconductor distribution FBEE O EH (1.4) (1.5)
Total depreciation mERE (1.7) (1.9)
Profit before interest and tax R A S K B IE AT A 56.1 111.3
Interest expenses FEFMAEZ (4.3) (3.0)
Bank interest income RITHBUA 1.5 2.0
Profit before tax BB AR 53.3 110.3
Income tax FriSHi 0.4 (1.1)
Profit for the year attributable to owners RAEER ANERFERRT]
of the Company 53.7 109.2
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group recorded revenue of HK$1,190
million, which was increase 21% compared to the previous year (2024:
HK$984 million). Gross profit margin was 1.1% (2024: 3.7%), slightly
affected by fluctuating component prices, but disciplined cost management
helped preserve profitability. Profit attributable to owners of the Company
was HK$53.7 million (2024: HK$109.2 million), reflecting a decrease of 51%
year-on-year.

In terms of segment contributions, the Semiconductor Distribution business
remained the primary revenue driver. Segment revenue was HK$1,146.2
million (2024: HK$937.3 million) for the year, accounting for the majority of
the Group’s turnover. The Consumer Product and Product Sourcing business
recorded revenue of HK$43.3 million (2024: HK$46.7 million), achieving a
steady result as compared with last year. The Venture Capital segment, which
comprises the Group's investments in technology ventures and financial assets,
reported a segment revenue of HK$3.0 million (2024: loss of HK$5.7 million)
under market volatility. Lastly, the Internet Social Media business generated
a revenue of HK$0.4 million (2024: HK$0.3 million), remaining a very small
portion of the Group’s operations.

Semiconductor Distribution Business

The semiconductor distribution segment faced a challenging year
characterized by significant market swings. Global semiconductor industry
sales reached record levels in 2024, but this headline growth masked
considerable divergence and volatility within the sector. Early in the financial
year, our semiconductor business benefited from strong demand as customers
ramped up orders following the prior year’s supply shortages. Key drivers
included the ongoing adoption of Al-related memory chip orders. However,
as the year progressed, the market experienced sharp price fluctuations and
periods of correction. Memory and storage components saw particularly
volatile pricing, a surge in prices during the first half was followed by a
correction in the second half as inventories in the supply chain were adjusted.

Demand from the smartphone market provided only intermittent support.
After two years of decline, smartphone shipments in China did rise modestly
in 2024, but the recovery was uneven and fragile, varying greatly among
manufacturers and models. This meant that orders for mobile-related
semiconductor components were not consistently strong throughout the year.
Meanwhile, other end-markets such as consumer electronics and industrial
devices remained weak, partly due to global economic uncertainties.

During the year under review, the revenue of the Group’s joint venture AVP
Electronics Limited and its subsidiaries (“AVPEL Group”) was not included
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. It recorded a revenue
of HK$21,496 million (2024: HK$24,098 million). AVPEL Group’s main
customers are China’s major mobile phone manufacturers and component
suppliers. AVPEL Group primarily engages in distribution of Samsung
Electronics including CMOS image sensors and multi-layer packaged chips.
Compared to the previous year, the Group’s share of profit in AVPEL Group
decreased. This decrease in profit sharing can be attributed to the focus on
the China handset market, for China major mobile phone manufacturers and
component suppliers, which have seen a decrease in both price and volume,
affecting the profitability of the joint venture.

BEENWN D

EREEEE

EEFERN  AEBEE$BEKEA1,190,000,000%
7T B EEREF984,300,0008 7T FF21% o EF =
B11%(CE-E :3.7%)  BEEHERESY
2 BEFaRNEEMNAEE  BEAFRENSUE
o BINAREE AEERF /53,700,000 7T
(20244F : 109,200,000/ 7T) * EF F¥51% °

WEBDBRE @ FEEHSHEEBDAREENE
BT o 20 HExB Rz AB11,146,200,000
770 (20244 1 937,300,000/ 70) © 16 ANEE 42U
EHRRED - BEEMKREMREEREBSUREA
43,300,000/ 7T (20244 : 46,700,000/87T) * &
WABEBT - AR EBEMS RIS BWEA
3,000,000/7T (20244 : [E5185,700,000/%70) © 132
1H AR 49 4R TS RIER 1S URZS B2 400,00058 7T (2024 4F -
300,000/87T) « AL BB ES T EMIREN -

FERDWHER
FERDEEGNFAMBBENIS K - FE2024
FRRFERTEERHEAN T  BAsmEHEZ
BMRFAT— KBEEEK - £ AEL—FEH
ERRIBAGIAZRE - EFFRRE - AEEEBS
g o 2R BRERIERAN - LERAMBAR
BV KRBT o Rify - BEEFPTISEADEE - B
RENRER - RIRRBERETHERR EFFRTHE
AftEEEEFmN T -

BEETFHMSNFERERME THSENF - KEE
BMFNTRR - 2024FhREETHEEEHERH
EIFt - EREERTEE  REFREFEZHRRS
= SHEYERFRREFERDY - B - 2IRE
RS TS E RIS EE T R TERE
KBTS ERS -

CEFEERN  NEBEBEQFRBERQ A REH
BRE (FTEREER ) NARFE 2 WS R ARE
Bira B RER - B & E5E%1521,496,000,00078 7T
(20244 : 24,098,000,000567T) * EIEEEHTIER
FARBARFHENEE LT HEER  FEHXE
DE=BEBFER  BRECMOSHERBIERZEH
HEE o LEAFERN  AEBSIGFEHTR T2
FRARBE AR EBETRRRFETE  MAERE
BFRESEE LT EERNERERERESEY
HIETE  WUMEFETALDENEFIRES -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWROMN

The Group’s semiconductor distribution revenue experienced a slightly
increase compared to the previous year. We leveraged our long-standing
relationships with suppliers and focused on mainstream product lines to
secure business stability amid the turbulence. To mitigate the impact of price
swings, the Group adopted a cautious approach in both procurement and
inventory strategy.

Consumer Product and Product Sourcing Business

The overall operation of the Group’s consumer product and product sourcing
business is mainly managed by one of its subsidiaries, AVC Technology
(International) Limited. This subsidiary is responsible for distributing a diverse
array of electronic products, encompassing small home appliances and the
latest technology gadgets, all aimed at enhancing customers’ quality of life
and meeting their diverse needs.

The consumer products segment delivered a revenue of HK$43.3 million (2024:
HK$46.7 million), broadly in line with the weakened consumption sentiments
and cautious spending across key Asian markets. The Group continued to
focus on brands like Nakamichi and SOUL, while shifting away from white
goods. Key markets for this segment include Hong Kong, Japan and select
Southeast Asian countries. During the year, consumer sentiment in our
home market of Hong Kong was cautious. In Southeast Asia countries, we
maintained our focus on e-commerce channels and partnerships, particularly
in Indonesia and neighbouring markets. However, unlike the rapid growth
experienced in prior periods, the Southeast Asian e-commerce sector showed
signs of moderation.

We have accordingly downplayed aggressive expansion in this region,
concentrating instead on optimizing operations. Elsewhere in the region,
emerging markets such as Vietnam, Thailand, and Malaysia contributed
incremental sales, reflecting the broad but gentle recovery in consumer
demand across Asia. Moving forward, this business will continue to adopt
a measured approach, seeking incremental growth through new product
offerings and possibly exploring the introduction of select products into the
Japanese market, where we see niche opportunities for high-quality lifestyle
electronics.

Internet Social Media Business

The internet social media segment remained a minor contributor to the
Group. Revenue from 830 Lab Limited (“830 Lab”) was HK$0.4 million
(2024: HK$0.3 million). This business consists of our operations in social
media marketing services and related online platform initiatives. During the
year under review, we maintained a minimal level of activity in this segment,
as the competitive landscape and rapid evolution of social media platforms
continued to pose challenges.

The Group consciously limited further investment here, aligning with our
focus on core competencies. Given its small scale, the social media segment’s
performance had no material impact on the Group’s overall results. We will
keep this business under review and remain open to scaling it up in the future
if we identify a clear niche and sustainable model; in the meantime, resource
allocation to this segment will stay conservative.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Venture Capital Business

The Group’s venture capital and investment activities experienced a profit
of HK$3.0 million for the year (2024: loss of HK$5.7 million). mainly due to
fair value gains/losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
net, and dividend income from listed equity investments in the current year
under review. As of 31 March 2025, listed and unlisted equity investments,
listed bond investments, equity investment traded over-the counter and key
management insurance contracts were held at a fair market value of HK$31.0
million (31 March 2024: HK$31.6 million) by the Group. During the year
under review, the Group's venture capital business recorded a fair value gain
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net of HK$2.8 million
(2024: fair value loss of HK$5.8 million).

The venture capital business has always contributed considerable income for
the Group. The ultimate objective for these investments is to make capital
gains on investees’ equity listings or, in some circumstances, prior to listing.

On 31 March 2025, the Group’s major strategic investments included
investments in Tooniplay Co., Ltd. and Urban City Joint Stock Company.
Tooniplay Co., Ltd. is a Korean-based mobile game developer, and Urban City
Joint Stock Company is a Vietnamese e-commerce company.

Outlook

Looking ahead, the operating environment for the Group is expected to
remain uncertain and challenging. Global economic growth is projected to
be moderate at best, with considerable downside risks. Key issues include
ongoing geopolitical tensions, notably the strained relations between major
powers, and the continuation of trade barriers in the technology sector. Trade
policies have become less predictable; for example, new rounds of export
controls and tariffs on semiconductor-related trade were introduced in late
2024 and early 2025, complicating the supply chain and raising costs for
industry players. These external factors could dampen the pace of recovery in
the electronics and semiconductor markets.

Moreover, macroeconomic headwinds such as elevated inflation and more
fluctuation of interest rates in many economies may weigh on consumer
spending power. In our core markets, we anticipate consumer electronics
demand to recover only gradually. In China, while smartphone shipments
rebounded, with a 5.6% increase in 2024, totalling about 286 million units
according to IDC, the recovery has been uneven, varying significantly across
regions and consumer segments. Looking ahead, IDC forecasts continued but
modest growth of around 3% in 2025, supported by government subsidies
aimed at promoting mid-range devices. On the positive side, government
stimuli including trade-in schemes and targeted fiscal spending, combined
with broader 5G rollout, are expected to sustain technology spending
in China. Investment in telecommunications infrastructure and digital
consumption also continues to drive replacement cycles in mobile devices and
consumer electronics. Outside the consumer sector, automotive electronics
and industrial automation fields are also areas where semiconductor demand is
forecast to grow steadily.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN N DT

Considering this mixed outlook, the Group will continue to exercise caution
and prudence in its business operations. Our strategy for the coming year
emphasizes consolidation and selective growth. We will further strengthen
our presence in Japan, where economic conditions are comparatively stable
and there are structural tailwinds for technology and consumer markets.
This pivot to Japan, alongside our established foothold in Greater China and
Southeast Asia, should help diversify revenue sources and mitigate reliance on
any single market. The semiconductor distribution business will focus on our
core competencies. We plan to deepen collaboration with our suppliers and
customers to improve supply chain visibility and responsiveness.

For the consumer products segment, given Japan’s reputation for discerning
consumers and innovation, success in this segment could not only provide
meaningful revenue growth but also enhance the Group’s brand visibility and
product development capabilities. Across all businesses, we remain committed
to risk management, closely monitoring geopolitical developments, staying
adaptable to regulatory changes (like new tariffs or export rules), and hedging
financial risks where appropriate.

Despite near-term uncertainties, the Board and management maintain a
cautiously optimistic view on the Group'’s prospects. The Group has a solid
equities and a resilient business model honed over decades in the industry.
These strengths enable us to endure short-term volatility and be ready to
capitalize on opportunities when they arise. We expect that once global
conditions stabilize, the Group will be well-positioned to achieve renewed
growth. In the meantime, our focus will be on preserving shareholder value
through disciplined execution, strategic foresight, and agility in responding to
market changes.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The total debt position and the gearing ratio as at 31 March 2025 are shown as
follows:
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A - RENKBNBARARBASHEREERS
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2025 2024

—E-RE —E-MF

HKS$'million HK$ million

BHEBT AEBT

Cash and cash equivalents RekERBELIEE 59.0 76.3
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss FBRBRIEATEBEIEZSMEE G

(included in current assets) ARBEE) 2.9 4.5

61.9 80.8

Borrowings and lease liabilities EBERREEEE 32.0 36.2

Total equity B 1,734.1 1,709.5

Total debt to total equity BB AR 2 L 1.9% 2.1%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had cash and cash equivalents (i.e. cash
and bank balances and deposits with other financial institutions) of HK$59.0
million (31 March 2024: HK$76.3 million), while the Group’s financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (included in current assets) amounted to
HK$2.9 million (31 March 2024: HK$4.5 million). The equity investments
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss included a balanced
mix of fixed income, equity and alternative investments and such amount
represented the cash reserves held for the Group’s medium to long term
business development and would form an integral part of the Group's
treasury.

The total debt to total equity ratio as at 31 March 2025 was 1.9% (31
March 2024: 2.1%), while the Group's total equity as at 31 March 2025 was
HK$1,734.1 million (31 March 2024: HK$1,709.5 million), with the total
balances of cash and cash equivalents, and equity investments and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (included in current assets) as at 31
March 2025 of HK$61.9 million (31 March 2024: HK$80.8 million).

The working capital position of the Group remains healthy. As at 31 March
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2025, the liquidity ratio was 123% (2024: 151%). A=+—H8 R#BE&E2LEAE123% (=T
151%) °

2025 2024

—EZEHF —FopEF

HKS$’'million HK$'million

BEAT BEBT

Current assets MENEE 187.9 224.3
Current liabilities mBaE (152.2) (148.7)
Net current assets MEEEFRE 35.7 75.6
Current assets to current liabilities MEBEEERBAGE X 123% 151%

Management is confident that the Group follows a prudent policy in &R EZ - AEEERBERIERESTE LA KE -

managing its treasury position, and maintains a high level of liquidity to ensure
that the Group is well placed to take advantage of growth opportunities for
the business.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group recorded financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$31.0 million (31 March 2024:
HK$31.6 million). For a detailed breakdown of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, please refer to note 19 in the consolidated statement
of financial position. For the performance during the year and future
prospects of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, please refer to
the section “Business Review — Venture Capital Business” on page 15 of this
annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN N DT

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Certain of the Group's financial assets at fair value through profit or loss have
been pledged to secure the bank facilities granted to the Group.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of approximately 125 (31
March 2024: approximately 134) full-time employees. The Group recruits and
promotes individuals based on merit and their development potentials for
the positions offered. Remuneration package is determined with reference to
their performance and the prevailing salary levels in the market. Discretionary
bonuses may granted based on the Group'’s and individual’s performances.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. So Yuk Kwan (“Dr. So”), aged 75, is the founder, Chairman, Chief
Executive Offer and Executive Director of the Company. Dr. So is the father
of Mr. So Kevin Chi Heng and Mr. So Chi Sun Sunny, all being Executive
Directors of the Company. In the early 1980’s, he founded AV Concept
Limited. Dr. So is primarily responsible for overall business strategies and
business development to the Company. Dr. So has over 49 years of experience
in the electronics industry. Under his leadership, AV Concept achieved
remarkable results in the sales and marketing of semiconductors contributing
to the appointment by Samsung Electronics as its distributor since 1982.
In 1989, AV Concept Singapore Pte. Ltd. was established to develop its
electronic business in Singapore, South-east Asia countries and subsequently
expanded to the market in the People’s Republic of China through vertical
integration in early 90's. In April 1996, AV Concept Holdings Limited listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Group
continuously received numerous awards, including Samsung Electronics’s “Best
Performance Award” in recognition of the excellent sales and marketing
performance as well as contribution to cultivate strong customers relationship
in the semiconductors market.

Dr. So holds an honorary degree, Doctor of Philosophy in Business
Administration from the International American University and a Master
Degree in Business Administration from the University of East Asia (now
known as University of Macau) and he is also a Fellow Member of the British
Institute of Management. Presently, he is the Chairman of the Executive
Committee of the Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association Limited
("HKEIA") and the Permanent Honorary Chairman of the HKEIA Education
Foundation. Dr. So is also the Vice President of The Hong Kong Semiconductor
Industry Council. Further, Dr. So is a Fellow Member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors and the Honorary Chairman of Advisory Committee
(Industry) of Cooperative Education Centre of City University of Hong Kong.

Mr. So Kevin Chi Heng (“Mr. Kevin So"”), aged 39, is the Chief Operation
Officer and Executive Director of the Company responsible for operation of
the Group and AVC Technology (International) Limited, an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Kevin So joined the Group in 2011 and
was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in November 2015.
Mr. Kevin So obtained a Bachelor of Science degree (major in Management)
from Bentley College in United States of America in May 2008 and a Master
of Business Administration degree from Bentley University in United States
of America in February 2010. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kevin So had
pursued a career in corporate finance in an international financial institution.
Mr. Kevin So is the son of Dr. So, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an
Executive Director of the Company and the brother of Mr. So Chi Sun Sunny,
an Executive Director of the Company.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. So Chi Sun Sunny (“Mr. Sunny So"”), aged 37, is the Executive Director
of the Company, chief executive officer of 830 Lab Limited, an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which is principally engaged in
internet social media business. Mr. Sunny So joined the Group in 2011 and
was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in November 2015.
Mr. Sunny So obtained a Bachelor of Science degree (major in Graphic
Design) from Northeastern University in United States of America in January
2011. Mr. Sunny So is the son of Dr. So, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
and an Executive Director of the Company and the brother of Mr. Kevin So,
an Executive Director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lui Ming Wah (“Dr. Lui"”), pPhp, sBs, Jp, aged 87, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company Since 1996. Dr. Lui is an established
industrialist serving as the Honorary Chairman of the HKEIA and the Honorary
President of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the
founder chairman of Hong Kong Shandong Business Association, Honorary
President of Federation of HK Shandong Community Organisations Limited.
Adviser Prof. of Shandong University. He was elected to the First, Second and
Third Legislative Council of the HKSAR in 1998, 2000 and 2004 respectively.
Dr. Lui was also member of the tenth and eleventh National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, Member of standing
Shandong Provincial Committee of C.P.P.C.C., Advisory board member of
the Hong Kong International Arbitration Center, President of The Hong Kong
Association for the Advancement of Science and Technology and Advisor of
Hong Kong Affairs. He is the managing director of Keystone Electronics Co.,
Limited. Besides, he is currently an independent non-executive director of L.K.
Technology Holdings Limited and Gold Peak Technology Group Ltd. (both
companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Dr. Lui
obtained a master’s degree in Applied Science from the University of New
South Wales in Australia and a PhD from the University of Saskatchewan in
Canada. He completed the “Hong Kong Senior Staff Course No. 1, 1984". He
is a Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund (“Mr. Lai"”), aged 59, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 2019. Mr. Lai obtained a
Bachelor’s Degree in Civil Engineering from Imperial College London in 1987.
He is a qualified accountant from the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
England and Wales. Mr. Lai has over 30 years of experience in finance and
treasury management. Mr. Lai started his career in 1987 with Ernst & Young
in London where he qualified as a Chartered Accountant. In 1993, Mr. Lai
transferred to Ernst & Young in Hong Kong as a manager in their audit
services and was responsible for various large company audits and IPO’s in
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). In 1996, Mr.
Lai joined the Company as the Group Financial Controller. Mr. Lai was the
Chief Financial Officer and the Executive Director of the Company from 2003
to 2006. From 2006 to 2008, Mr. Lai acted as the Chief Executive Officer of
AV BreconRidge Limited and the President of BreconRidge Manufacturing
Solutions (Asia) Limited. In 2008, Mr. Lai started his own consultancy services
and worked on projects for various PRC companies and charities. Mr. Lai
joined Vertex Services Limited (a member of HMTX Industries LLC) as the Chief
Financial Officer since 2011 and continued to serve to present. He has overall
responsibility for the finance, treasury and risk management functions of
Vertex Services Limited and its related companies in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping (“Ms. Au-Yeung”), aged 56, appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company during the year. Ms. Au-
Yeung has 27 years of international business experience with multinational
corporations. She joined Coats Plc, a UK public listed company and the
world’s leading industrial thread manufacturer serving the Apparel, Footwear
and Speciality markets in 1994. She subsequently joined Amann Group as the
Chief Commercial Officer, Global Apparel & Specialty from 2020 to 2021. She
has been the founder and director of UTransform Life and Business Limited
in Hong Kong since 2022, and appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of IOP Publishing Limited in 2023. She was appointed as the
Executive Vice President of Commercial Textiles of Lenzing Group during June
to November 2024. Ms. Au-Yeung obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Business
Administration with honours from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in
1991, and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration in Murdoch University
at Perth, Western Australia in 1994. She was accredited the Financial Times
Level 7 Advanced Professional Diploma, a formal post-graduate qualification
for non-executive directors in 2022. Ms. Au-Yeung is also a certified Fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Chi Hang (“Mr. Chan"), aged 48, was appointed as the Company
Secretary and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company since August 2015.
Mr. Chan has extensive experience in accounting and auditing, and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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The Directors of the Company present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Group consist of the marketing and distribution of electronic
components, the design, development and sale of consumer products and
product sourcing business, venture capital investment, and internet social
media business.

Further discussion and analysis of business review as required by Schedule
5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the Chairman’s
Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 6 to 18
of this annual report. The above discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the Company, as assisted by the audit committee of the
Company, oversees the Group's internal control and risk management system,
and conducts periodic reviews of such system to ensure good corporate
governance practice. The supervision process and outcome of the latest
review is set out in more detail in the section headed “Risk Management and
Internal Control” in corporate governance report in this annual report. The
following is a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group. The management of the Company meets periodically to discuss these
risks, and where appropriate, will monitor the situation closely and adopt any
necessary risk mitigation measures.

Industry risk

The sale and distribution of electronic components and design, development
and sales of consumer product and product sourcing business are sensitive
to technology change. The industry is also subject to rapidly changing
market trends and intense competition amongst different players. This may
materially and adversely affect the Group's business performance. To maintain
competitiveness, the management of the Company will meet regularly to
update the technology change and the industry environment.

Economy risk

The performance of the Group is affected by the overall economy growth,
especially in the electronic components market. If the economy slows down,
it is highly likely that the demand for electronic components may be reduced.
Any continued economic slowdown or recession may result in a decrease in
sales, and may lead to a material adverse effect on the Group’s business and
results of operations.
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Financial risk

Credit risk

To minimise credit risk, the Group has monitoring procedures to ensure
there is follow-up action to recover overdue debts. The Group also reviews
the recoverable amount of trade receivables by the simplified approach for
impairment at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Board therefore
considers that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents which
it deems adequate to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of cash flow fluctuations.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to risk of changes in market interest rates related
primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating
interest rates. It does not currently has any interest rate hedging policy, but
closely monitors its exposure to interest rate risk due to changes in market
rates and will consider hedging changes should the need arise.

Market price risk

The Group is exposed to the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of
individual securities. The management of the Company monitors the changes
of securities prices and may change the investment portfolio held if needed.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it engages. The Group strives to minimise its
impact on the environment by reducing its use of electricity and water and
encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and employment.

Compliance with the laws and regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations. During the year under review, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group during
the year under review.
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Relationship with employees, clients, suppliers and other
stakeholders

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends on the
support from its key stakeholders, including employees, clients, suppliers,
banks, regulators and shareholders. During the year under review, there
were no material and significant disputes between the Group and its key
stakeholders. The Group will continue to ensure effective communication and
maintain good relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the Group's
financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 96 to 197 of this annual report.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.01
(2024: HK$0.02) per share for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The proposed final dividend, if approved at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on Friday, 5 September 2025, will be payable on Friday,
3 October 2025 to shareholders whose names appear on the registrar
of members of the Company on Friday, 12 September 2025. Based on
908,663,302 shares in issue as of the date of this report, the total dividend
will amount to approximately HK$9.1 million.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Annual General Meeting of the Company is scheduled on Friday, 5
September 2025. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
Annual General Meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 2 September 2025 to Friday, 5 September 2025, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting,
all transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong,
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 1 September 2025.

In order to determine the list of shareholders who are entitled to receive the
proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company’s
register of members will be closed from Thursday, 11 September 2025 to
Friday, 12 September 2025, both days inclusive. Shareholders are reminded
that in order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers of shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at 17th Floor,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 10 September 2025.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association (the “Avrticles of Association”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately HK$444,784,000 (2024: HK$455,890,000).
The share premium of the Company is available for distribution or paying
dividends to the shareholders provided that immediately following the
distribution or the payment of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited

financial statements, is set out below.

MBENEE

TX#HIAEERFHRE D NELERTBRERZ &I
TEFBRFEZEAMEEANEENBERE -

RESULTS E 5
Year ended 31 March
BEZ=A=1+-HLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RE —ECUE TEC=F —E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiERr FAEL FAEL FAL FAT
REVENUE hE 1,189,997 984.294 660,008 1,042,449 1,241,160
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRB A 53,313 110,281 40,841 236,034 276,718
Income tax gt 401 (1,118) (123) (5,013) (7,192)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 53,714 109,163 40,718 231,021 269,526
Attributable to: AT ALIER -
Owners of the Company AREERA 53,714 109,163 40,718 231,021 269,788
Non-controlling interests FErERR R - - - - (262)
53,714 109,163 40,718 231,021 269,526
Assets and liabilities EERERE
As at 31 March
R=R=t+-H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RE —ENE —E-=F 2= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHTL FAL TAL TAT
TOTAL ASSETS BEHE 1,899,588 1,872,115 1,753,589 1,745,464 1,586,615
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEHE (165,531) (162,608) (140,253) (123,426) (161,606)
1,734,057 1,709,507 1,613,336 1,622,038 1,425,009
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive Directors:

Dr. So Yuk Kwan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. So Kevin Chi Heng (Chief Operation Officer)

Mr. So Chi Sun Sunny

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Lui Ming Wah, PhD, SBS, JP

Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund

Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping

The Company has received annual written confirmation from each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Lui Ming Wah, PhD, SBS,
JP, Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund and Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping, confirming their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), and considers the
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

Profiles of the Directors and senior management of the Group as at the date
of this annual report are set out on pages 19 to 22 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee, and approved by the Board of Directors (the “Board”), as
authorised by shareholders in the annual general meeting of the Company,
having regard to their skills, knowledge and involvement in the Company’s
affairs. No Directors are involved in deciding their own remuneration.

We offer competitive remuneration package, including medical and
retirement benefits, to eligible employees. Apart from basic salary, Executive
Directors and employees are eligible to receive a discretionary bonus taking
into account factors such as market conditions as well as corporate and
individual's performance during the year.

In order to attract, retain and motivate the eligible employees, including the
Directors, the subsidiaries have adopted share option schemes. The schemes
enable the eligible persons to obtain an ownership interest in the subsidiaries
and thus will motivate them to optimise their continuing contributions to the
Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Group to which any of the Company’s
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in
the Listing Rules, are as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company and associated
corporation

EERNRS  ZHREHN 2 ER

BEESHHMERRRNFAMERNARRIEAHE R
AFTRI A EMEAREEEBERNZRS - THrek
AR EEAEEEGE A

EERBSTTERAERKRS R HEER G
p 1

RZZBE-RAF=ZA=1+—H  ARAEZMRRSTH
ABRARA RS EBEEE (TERESF KIS KD
(TBHREIEEN ) EXVER) 2 B85 KRR
EARRNBIREES NS EAE35216 7 A EA TR
Tz B MATResk 2 2 - SR E EMRBIFTEL T
BITAEFETESFRSNZETA([EEFR]) A
BITHE AR R R T

RAERXTRRBBEERG 2HF2

Interests in shares of the Company RAEDBRD 2
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Nature of interest shares of the interest in the
Name of Director and chief executive and capacity Company issued shares
BRTRDER
EERBSTHABKSR ERtERSH ARAREBEREE BREDL
Dr. So Corporate interest 535,697,468 64.68%
3k NGl
Beneficial owner 52,058,400
E=BAA (Note)
(f5E)
Note: These shares include (i) 423,529,602 shares of the Company held by B.K.S. Company  Ffi7t : ZF MK B4E() H1B.K.S. Company Limited ([BKS#5H

Limited (“BKS"); (ii) 112,167,866 shares of the Company held by Jade Concept
Limited (“Jade Concept”); and (iii) 52,058,400 shares of the Company held by Dr. So
as beneficial owner. Dr. So is deemed to be interested in 535,697,468 shares of the
Company by virtue of his interests in BKS and Jade Concept, the particulars are more
fully described in the section headed “Interests of Substantial Shareholders” below.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had registered any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares” and in the share option schemes
disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised
by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, the following substantial shareholders (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests of 5% or more
in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO:
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Long position in the shares of the Company REATRMG TR
Approximate
percentage of
Number of interest in the
Name of shareholder Nature of capacity shares held issued shares
BRITROER
BRERE, R SHOMHE FiEROBEE BMABD
BKS Beneficial owner 423,529,602 (Note 1) 46.61%
EmEBA (FH3E1)
Jade Concept Beneficial owner 112,167,866 (Note 2) 12.34%
EmEBA (F7E2)
Madam Yeung Kit Ling (“Madam Yeung"”) Interest of spouse 587,755,868 (Note 3) 64.68%
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Notes:

1. BKS is beneficially owned by Dr. So. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. So is deemed to be
interested in 423,529,602 shares of the Company held by BKS.

2. Jade Concept is beneficially owned by Dr. So. By virtue of the SFO, Dr. So is deemed to
be interested in 112,167,866 shares of the Company held by Jade Concept.

3. As Madam Yeung is the spouse of Dr. So, by virtue of the SFO, she is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by BKS and Jade Concept in which Dr. So
has interest, and 52,058,400 shares held by Dr. So as beneficial owner.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company has not been
notified by any person or corporation (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company whose interests are set out above) having interests
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be notified to the Company pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or which are
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the
normal course of business are provided under note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of the related party transactions as disclosed in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements is subject to the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements of the
Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The subsidiaries of the Company operate share option schemes (the
“Schemes”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operation. Further
details of the Schemes are disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the year, the Group had not made charitable contributions (2024: Nil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 46% of the Group's total sales for the year and
sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately
23%. Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers for the year accounted
for approximately 96% of the Group’s total purchases and purchases from
the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately 91%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules), or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year, none of the Directors or their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) were considered to have an interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group, other than those businesses of which the Directors
were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or
the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total number of
issued shares were held by the public during the year ended 31 March 2025
and as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of one year, and each of the independent non-executive
directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of one to three years.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with any member of the Group
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Report
EEERE

TEEFRHER

DEFERN - HARERARATS 2 HERERE
EFREHERNL6% - ERHBAES 2 HEE(L
BIHEREN23% o FAMSEBERBAGEREL
2 RE RS BB IRIBL96% « KR [ISAHE
Rt 2 SROBR(S R EE991 % ©

EFARFMEMBPEAERR LRI RAEMA
RAZEFEMAEE RS EITIRAS%IA LE) B
BNAKRBERUSATE R MHEETHEE T Bk

s
Zs o
iy

EERHFRRB 2 ER
FRCBREFARSEAIHEACERR LR
) A504R 72 0 BRA o B 75 e SR RO A o T A
RBF 2B P RS EFERCHEEFUR
REDRR/ RAREFEZ EHBID) -

RBEREZAZREE
RERDARAFREAS 2 AN RBEERD - 1
BE-2-RFZA=+ BLFERRERED
8 ARREHTRDBBED25%HATHE -

BEERKEHN
BUTEECRARAI A —F 2R W
BB INTEECRARAI VAR E=F %
K o

BERNEERRBFAS LEENERRAEET
R B A BRI B ANEE N AR —F AR LT BARE
CEERERIN MRIFEL -

Annual Report 2025 3k AV Concept Holdings Limited 33



Directors’ Report
EEEWE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existing during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year under review and as at the date of this report, an indemnity
provision was in force. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors during the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out on
pages 36 to 46 of this annual report.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.22 OF THE
LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of financial assistance to, and
(where applicable) guarantee given for the loan facilities granted to, affiliated
companies of the Company, exceeds 8% under the assets ratio as defined
under Rule 14.07 (1) of the Listing Rules. In compliance with the requirement
of Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules, the combined statement of financial
position of the affiliated companies (with attributable interest of the Group in
the affiliated companies) as at the latest applicable date is set out below:
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Group's

Combined statement attributable

of financial position interest

BT ERRE AEEELER

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Non-current assets ERBEE 135,676 101,757
Current assets MENEE 6,921,705 5,191,279
Current liabilities MENBE (5,084,324) (3,813,243)
Non-current liabilities EmBEE (1,013) (760)
1,972,044 1,479,033

Share capital &N 180,000 135,000
Reserves @ 1,792,044 1,344,033
1,972,044 1,479,033
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On Behalf of the Board

So Kevin Chi Heng
Director
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Group is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance
and enhance its transparency and corporate value. The Group believes that
good corporate governance provides a framework between the Board and the
shareholders so as to enhancing shareholders’ interest and value as a whole.
The Board continually reviews and improves its corporate governance practices
to ensure the Company keeps abreast of the expectation of shareholders of
the Company (“Shareholders”).

The purpose of this report is to provide Shareholders with information on
the major principles and corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has applied the
major principles and complied with the code provisions, except for the code
provision C.2.1, as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “Corporate Governance Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Further details of the
Company’s corporate governance practices will be described in the following
sections.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board should assure responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company and its subsidiaries affairs.

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for the formulation of the
Group's business objectives and strategies. Matters reserved for the Board
are those affecting the Group’s overall strategic policies, finance and risk
management. The senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group directed by leadership of the Executive Directors. To
this end, the senior management has to implement, manage and monitor
the business plans, internal controls and corporate governance practices
developed by the Board.
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Board Composition
The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprised three Executive Directors and
three Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). One of the INEDs has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

Each of the INEDs has made an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers the INEDs
to be independent. Having the INEDs in the Board ensure that independent
judgment is exercised and that a proper balance of power is maintained
for full and effective control of the Group and its executive management.
The Directors believe that the existing Board composition reflects the
Company's respect for high standards of business conduct commonly
adopted by multinational enterprises. The INEDs perform an important role in
safeguarding the Shareholders’ interests.

The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing the Board composition
(which include an assessment of the skills, knowledge and experience of the
existing Directors and suitable candidates) and for formulating procedures for
appointment of its own members and for nominating them for election by
the Shareholders on the first appointment and thereafter at regular intervals
through the retirement by rotation process pursuant to the Articles of
Association of the Company.

Each of the INEDs has been appointed for specific term and has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one to three years,
which shall continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party
giving the other not less than one month’s notice in writing. All the Directors
are subjected to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.

In accordance with Article 114 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
Dr. So Yuk Kwan (“Dr. So”) and Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping will retire by rotation
at the Annual General Meeting. They are being eligible to offer themselves for
re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (the "CEQ") of the
Company are held by Dr. So.

Dr. So is primarily responsible for overall business strategies and business
development to the Company. Dr. So is the founder of the Group and has
over 49 years of experience in the electronic industry.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the Chairman and the
CEO in the same person can facilitate the execution of the Group’s business
strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation. Therefore, the Board
considers that the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code is appropriate in such circumstance. In addition, under
the supervision of the Board which is comprised of three Executive Directors
and three Independent Non-executive Directors, the Board is appropriately
structured with balance of power to provide sufficient checks to protect the
interests of the Group and its shareholders.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to, and overseeing the
functioning of the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interest of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Chairman determines
that the Board is provided with direction and sufficient consultation for the
Directors in effectively discharging their responsibilities for different aspects of
the business.

The CEO, supported by senior management, are responsible for implementation
of corporate goals, business strategies and policies resolved by the Board from
time to time. The CEO assumes full accountability to the Board in respect of
the Group's operations and development.

Save as Dr. So, the Chairman and the CEQ, is the father of Mr. Kevin So, the
Chief Operation Officer, and Mr. Sunny So, there is no relationship among
members of the Board.
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Board Meetings

Board meetings are scheduled to be held at about quarterly interval. The
senior management of the Group from time to time reports to the Directors
information on the activities and development of the Group’s business. In
addition, the Directors have full access to information on the Group and
independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary by the Directors.

The attendance record of regular four board meetings held during the year is
set out below:
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Attendance/ gabE

Name of Directors Number of meetings EZEHH BITRY
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. So Yuk Kwan (Chairman and BEHiELT

Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 (FEFHITEABEE) 4/4
Mr. So Kevin Chi Heng (Chief Operation Officer) 4/4  BREIES A (EHEAE) 4/4
Mr. So Chi Sun Sunny 4/4  EREBASEAE 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors HIIHTEE
Dr. Lui Ming Wah, php, sBs, Jp 4/4  BEPAZEIEL o php - sBS AL 4/4
Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund 4/4  BLRIEBEAE 4/4
Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping 4/4 BB+ 4/4
Board Committees EELES

As at the date of the report, there were four Board Committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Corporate Governance Committee in operation and each one of
them was established with specific terms of references to assist the Board
discharging its responsibilities and maintaining proper internal controls and to
promote good corporate governance as a whole.

Audit Committee

As at 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee comprises of three Independent
Non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Lai Yat Hung
Edmund and the other members include, Dr. Lui Ming Wah, php, sgs, Jp and Ms
Au-Yeung Kit Ping.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include (i) to discuss with the
external auditor before the audit commence, the nature and scope of the
audit and confirm their independence and objectivity; (ii) to review the
Group's financial information before submission to the Board; (iii) to review
the Group’s financial reporting system and the effectiveness of the audit
process with internal control procedure; (iv) to review the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control system and
internal audit function; and (v) to review external auditor’s management letter
and the relationship with the Group.
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In accordance with the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Audit
Committee meets at least twice a year to review the interim results and the
final results of the Company.

During the year, two Audit Committee meetings were held. The Audit
Committee had reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the interim results for
the six months ended 30 September 2024. The Audit Committee had also
reviewed and discussed with the management the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, and discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters including the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

The attendance record of the Audit Committee meetings held during the year
is set out below:
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Attendance/ eRHE
Name of Audit Committee Members Number of meetings BRZEEREHR BITIRE
Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund (Chairman) 22 BERBEHE(ER) 22
Dr. Lui Ming Wah, php, sBs, Jp 22 BEAEEL - phD - sBs - ATHT 2/2
Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping 22 BEERYZ+ 2/2
Remuneration Committee FMEER

As at 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee comprises of three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee is chaired
by Dr. Lui Ming Wabh, php, sBs, Jp, and the other members include Mr. Lai Yat
Hung Edmund and Ms Au-Yeung Kit Ping. One Remuneration Committee
meeting was held during the year to consider the salary adjustment of the
Directors and all members had attended the meeting.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management and reviewing
the specific remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and senior
management by reference to the Company’s performance and profitability as
well as remuneration benchmarks in the industry and the prevailing market
conditions. No Director or any of his associates shall be involved in deciding
his own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee normally meets once a
year and at other times as required.

RZEZRAF=A=1+—0 FTHEESH=-RB
FMITESENK - FTNEER IR AEHAEDTL
PhD - SBS - AT+ + ME MK B BIERRE L& NS
BELZT - FHEEERFARITT —REBEUEE
EEHeRR  2RNEBHEHE -

YHZEe I2REBEMARREZRSREE
EZHHBRERBRABESTSRHIER  Y2RAR
BlZRANRENEES  UREANFIMEENRTH
N BATERTESEREREREE Z ARFHNE
B EEYHEEABBASITS2EETERG 25
B HMEEE —REFRITRGH  INEATFE
RERTEH -

Annual Report 2025 3k AV Concept Holdings Limited 41



Corporate Governance Report
CEERRE

The attendance record of the Remuneration Committee meeting held during
the year is set out below:

FRBITZHFMEZE @SR 2L FELEHIIMT

Attendance/ gabE

Name of Remuneration Committee Members Number of meetings HHEZEESHEHKS BITRE
Dr. Lui Ming Wah, php, sBs, Jp BRREEE L » phD - sBS - AT+

(Chairman) 11 (/%) 1/1

Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund 171 B&EEREAE 11

Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping 171 BERYZL 11

Nomination Committee

As at 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee comprises of three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee is chaired
by Ms Au-Yeung Kit Ping and the other members include Dr. Lui Ming Wah,
PhD, SBS, JP, and Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include (i) review
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; (iii) assess the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors; and (iv) make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the Chairman and the CEO.

The Nomination Committee meeting held at least once a year and additional
meeting may be held as required. During the year, the Nomination Committee
held a meeting and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board.

The attendance record of the Nomination Committee meeting held during the
year is set out below:
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Attendance/ BEHE
Name of Nomination Committee Members Number of meetings RBZZEEHEHS BITRE
Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping (Chairman) 7 BEBRRYEEL(EE) 11
Dr. Lui Ming Wah, Php, sBs, Jp 171 BEFEE L php - osBS  ATME 11
Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund 171 RRBEAE 11
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy and the Company believes
that the implementation of this policy will help improve the functioning of
the Board and its corporate governance. Diversity of board members can be
achieved by considering various factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, ethnicity, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skill, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee considers
whether the proposed Director satisfies the diversity of Directors or not while
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become a member of the Board.
The Nomination Committee will regularly review the measurable objectives
that the Board has set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives.

As at the date of the report, the Board consists of 5 male directors and 1
female director with different professional backgrounds. The Nomination
Committee believes that the existing Board provides the required professional
skills, experience and guidance for the Company’s operations and
management in terms of the Company’s relevant business operations. The
Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board diversity policy from
time to time to ensure its effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Committee

As at 31 March 2025, the Corporate Governance Committee comprises
of three Independent Non-executive Directors. The Corporate Governance
Committee is chaired by Dr. Lui Ming Wabh, php, sBs, Jp, and the other members
included Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund and Ms Au-Yeung Kit Ping.

The Corporate Governance Committee is primarily responsible for developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and making recommendations to the Board and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

The Corporate Governance Committee meeting held at least once a year.
During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee held a meeting and
reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements.

The attendance record of the Corporate Governance Committee meeting held
during the year is set out below:
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Name of Corporate Governance Committee Attendance/ SREE
Members Number of meetings THXERZESERELE HITIRE
Dr. Lui Ming Wah, php, ss, JP FBAZES 1 » phD - SBS + AT+
(Chairman) 11 (/%) 171
Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund 171 BBRBELE 171
Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping 171 BEBRYLL 1”1
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board reviews the Group’s risk management and internal control
system from time to time and will take any necessary and appropriate action
to maintain an adequate risk management and internal control system
to safeguard Shareholders’ interests. An internal audit function which is
internally resourced and forms part of the Group’s permanent establishment
is in charge for overall review on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system and will be discussed annually with the Audit
Committee.

During the financial year under review, the internal audit function had
arranged to conduct reviews over the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control system to provide reasonable assurance
on the effectiveness and efficiency of operations in achieving the established
corporate objectives, safeguarding Group's assets, providing reliable financial
reporting, and complying with applicable laws and regulations.

The Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff for the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programmes and budget. Both the Audit
Committee and the Board were satisfied that the risk management and
internal control system of the Group has been functioned and adequately and
no material internal control aspects of any significant problems were noted.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICY

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard of
probity, openness, and accountability. A Whistleblowing Policy is in place to
create a system for the employees and those who deal with the Company
(e.g. business partners and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence, about
possible improprieties. Designated email accounts and other channels have
been set up for this purpose. The identity of each whistleblower and all
information provided in connection with a whistleblowing report will be
treated with the strictest confidence. All whistleblowing cases will be reported
to the chairman and members of Audit Committee.

To uphold the Group’s zero tolerance towards all forms of corruption,
bribery and extortion and to provide guidance to employees on how to avoid
corruption, bribery and extortion in the course of their work, the Company
also adopts the Code of Business Ethics which reflects the Company’s
stance and policies against corruption, and sets out the basic standard of
conduct expected of all employees, the Company’s policies on acceptance
of advantages and entertainment, and declaration of conflict of interest by
employees in connection with their positions or official duties.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry with the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s independent auditor during
the year, is set out as follows:

SEERRE

T e

FR BN EAAR BB AR EED 2 Bl & 55
™

Services rendered FriR R I% Fee paid/payable
et ENER

HK$'000

FHETT

Audit of financial statements ERIBHE 2,175

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

With the assistance of the Finance Department which is under the supervision
of the Chief Financial Officer, the Directors ensure the preparation and
publication of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in a timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws, rules, regulations and
accounting standards. The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries,
consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

A statement by the Company’s auditor about their reporting responsibilities
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 88 to 95 of this report.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company established a dedicated investor relations section in order
to provide timely information to the investors as well as Shareholders and
institutional investors. The Company also conducts a meeting with institutional
investors and analysts from time to time and to maintain updated information
opened to the public regarding recent development of the Company. Relevant
information of investor relations is available on the Company’s website
(http://www.avconcept.com).

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company recognises the rights of Shareholders and their opinions are
valuable to the Company. The Shareholders are encouraged to participate
in general meetings or to appoint proxies or corporate representatives to
attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to
attend the meetings. The Shareholders are encouraged to raise their enquiries
on the operations, corporate governance, corporate strategy and further
development of the Company during the meeting by way of shareholders’
rights. The process of the Company’s general meeting will be monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary, changes will be made to ensure
that Shareholders’ needs are best served. The Board members, appropriate
senior executives and external auditor will attend annual general meetings to
answer Shareholders’ questions.
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Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
In accordance with Article 68 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one
or more members of the Company deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company.

Putting forward proposals by Shareholders at general
meetings

Save for the procedures for the Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting, there are no provisions in the Articles of Association of the
Company or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for Shareholders to propose
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to propose
relevant resolutions may request the Company to convene a general meeting
in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting forward enquiries by Shareholders to the Board
Shareholders may contact the Board for enquiries in respect of the Company’s
information, to the extent such information can be made available to the
public. Shareholders may at any time make enquiry in respect of the Company
in writing at our head office in Hong Kong by post or facsimile via the
numbers and email address provided on the Company’s website.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established Shareholders Communication Policy in providing
a communication platform to the Shareholders of the Company with
information about the Company and enabling them to engage actively with
the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.
Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders shall be
ensured at all times. Any question regarding this policy shall be directed to the
company secretary of the Company or the Board of Directors of the Company.
Appropriate arrangements for the annual general meeting shall be in place
to encourage Shareholders’ participation and all corporate communication
will be provided to Shareholders in plain language and in both English
and Chinese version to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding, including
but not limited to interim reports, annual reports, results announcements,
notice of general meeting, circulars, and associated explanatory documents,
other announcements and monthly return on movements in the
Company'’s securities for each month and next day disclosure returns in
relation to the Company, which are available on the Company’s website
(http://www.avconcept.com).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the amended and restated memorandum of
association (“New Association”) after approved by its shareholders at the
annual general meeting held on 30 August 2024. The New Association of
the Company is available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIB - B RERRS

ABOUT THE REPORT

With diverse and globalised business development, environmental, social
and governance (the “ESG") is increasingly important to one’s sustainable
development. The Group recognises the importance of integrating ESG
into business operations and strategic management. To monitor its ESG
performance and management, the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the “Report”) is one of the tools to review and disclose its
performance for comprehensive governance.

With all in one mind, the Group believes that creating sustainable business
operations helps achieve long-lasting and stable development.

Reporting Boundary

The Report covers the Group’s main businesses, including semiconductor
distribution, consumer product and product sourcing business, venture capital
and internet social media business, in the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region for the period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025. The Group's
policies, management approaches and key performance indicators (“KPIs")
are included in the Report whilst environmental data is further restricted to
the operations in the Hong Kong office and warehouse. The scope of this
year's report remains consistent with that of last year.

Striving for the best, the Group will review the coverage and performance of
the Report and extend the scope of disclosures when applicable.

Reporting Principles

The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix C2 to the Main Board Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Four reporting principles, including
materiality, consistency, balance and quantitative, have formed the backbone
of the Report.

Reporting Principles The Group’s Application
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Materiality The Group communicates with different stakeholders to understand their expectations and needs
to identify the material issues. Through various forms of communication, including interviews with
different stakeholders, the Group clarifies the focus of its ESG work for the reporting year and in
the future.

B2 REEFBETERFGEER - BEROMOBMENEE - LUBFIE2EE - BRSERANE

Consistency

B BEETREFNENRD  ARBRSFENMARKNRE HENEATIEER -

Unless otherwise specified, the Group has adopted the same methodologies.

—H MIESBHA  AEBERB —BWE -

Balance The Report is prepared in a fair and impartial manner that discloses both positive and negative
impacts of or towards its operations.

T TBEARAFAENFARE KB TEHLENIENEETE -

Quantitative When feasible, the Group quantifies its performance to enhance management and disclosure.

g1t REBEATHER TE(CERRAMBEIBFIHEE -
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For further information on the Group’s corporate governance practices, please
refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this Annual Report.

Opinion and Feedback

In order to achieve continuous improvement, the Group values opinions and
feedback from both internal and external parties. If you have any comments
or inquiries on the Report or other ESG matters, please do not hesitate to
contact us by emailing ir.dept@avconcept.com.

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

To achieve comprehensive management for sustainable development, the
Board of Directors (the “Board”) oversees overall ESG performance and sets
strategic policies. The ESG Taskforce (the “Taskforce”), composed of core
members from different departments, supports the Board by monitoring
policy implementation and targets. This approach enables the Group to
execute an efficient ESG management process.

ESG Taskforce

RS 48Rk
EVRTiE/AE

e Establish sustainable o Identify ESG risks
strategic directions BARE - g REARR
7 AT BB 5 )

¢ Allocate resources to
support the implementation
of policies and targets
?EE%E;‘JEDASE%EZ%%D =]
R E

FHE A BRI S B A R

relevant policies according to ESG performance

E2iElte

e Report to the Board regularly
EHREEERE

- AN

¢ Evaluate the effectiveness of internal control mechanisms

e Examine and evaluate the Group's performance in different aspects and adjust

BEMFEALEETRATENRE - RIBERE 4@ REANREH

e Collect relevant information and data for the preparation of the Report
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Departments
and divisions

BB 5D

e Implement ESG strategies
and measures
FRE L& RERR
BEFNFE e

e Support the establishment
of policies and measures
S FIE R R A i

* Ensure compliance with
relevant Group policies
among employees in
relevant departments
RIBREEIFT B TiE=p
REEBEBBER

¢ Encourage employees in
relevant departments to
participate in activities that
promote ESG performance
SHENERIERPIRIE T2
RAERE HBEREBR

/ \ﬁﬂ@iﬁb

To ensure the effectiveness and implementation of the management
approach, the Taskforce conducts regular assessments of its sustainability
operations. If any unusual issues are identified, the Taskforce consolidates
information and communicates with relevant departments and divisions to
obtain their feedback. Simultaneously, the Taskforce will then report to the
Board regarding ESG risks and opportunities, facilitating decision-making for
ESG risk management. The Group's Board will adjust relevant policies based
on specific ESG performance and actual circumstances.

RERERIDENARENER - TEEBEAH
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RIB - B RERRS

Striving for excellence, the Group will regularly review its governance
structure and establish sustainability-related strategies, targets, and other
issues under the Board's oversight as appropriate. Although the Group does
not have a dedicated sustainable development policy for the reporting year,
it has incorporated the principles of sustainable development into its existing

relevant policies to foster sustainability.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Continuous communication with both internal and external stakeholders is
essential for the Group's sustainable development. The Group is committed

NREE &EF - REE R E RGBS - I:ﬁ
ERREERSEE THE AR RAEERE - B
BREMER - %é$¢l&ﬁ¢¢&&ﬁﬂmﬂ
MAFEERER  BEASEESIRER RO
MAEBRANHEBBE - MMEEFRFEER -

fJ> i

FOENS2H

B FRFISNER IR0 B S R B N A R E A A R
FREFEER - AEBEHOEBRFNENHEMNT

to understanding the expectations and needs of stakeholders and integrating 3K » ¢ M #§ M FSE) = BB 40 A AT $5 4B 3 R SRS AN B 12 5

their feedback into considerations of sustainability strategies and management
approaches. With the help of these stakeholders, the Group is advancing

ENERED c EEUERFNENEDT NEBLEHE
BREBMEIEBLE  WRERFHENE R -

effective governance, enhancing business operations, and fostering win-win

cooperation with relevant stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group communicated with both EHE-ZT-_HRFE=-A=+—HItFE - ZK’*IEZE%@

internal and external stakeholders via various communication channels.

Stakeholders Group

BERBBREENDRINBREDEETER

Engagement Channels

510 &4 Bl SHRE
Employees J Appraisals
=] BRE]
° Training sessions
ol ERI2
o Internal memorandum
M ED A8
Investors o Financial reports
wREE g
o Annual general meetings
BERFERE
o Corporate website
NS
o Direct communication
Eh{ uﬂ
Customers o Direct communication
NS BEEA
o Emails
BEH
o Complaint hotlines
REFEAR
Suppliers & business partners o Business meetings
BRI R Ea
o Audit reports
FEatmE
Government & other regulatory authorities o Statutory filings and notification
BT A E A B B 1 EEFEAMEM
o Regulatory or voluntary disclosures
EENEREKE
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Stakeholders Group

RIR - B RERRE

Engagement Channels

B EAR SHRE
Community o Community activities
Zad HEES
o Donations
5

Materiality Assessment

Considering stakeholders’ feedback, business nature and operational
performance, the Group has identified the material issues with regard to
the aspects stated in the ESG Reporting Guide. The results of the Group's
assessment of ESG material issues have been reviewed and remain consistent
with the previous year. The details are as follows:

BEEME
AEBEZEFMHENRE  EHHENEEEEDN
BT - T IRIR - Mg REAMEIE S| Pl sk
MERHE - AREHRE  HENERENHREN
AHERERCIERE > YEE—HEFERF -3 A
REANERIA T -

Aspects Material Issues
s BEERE
Emissions Greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions

iZ35¢7)]

Use of resources

BREM

Environment and natural resources
IRERBEAER

Employment

&l®

Health and safety
ERZ2

Development and training
TR N

BERE(DEEREE D BN
Air pollutants

RRSEY

Waste management
BEEYERE

Energy management
BERE IR
Water resources management

KERERE

Air quality
=REE

GHG emissions
R REEHEL

Recruitment and promotion

HREEFIE FH

Compensation and dismissal

AR R

Benefits and welfares

BRI

Working hours and rest periods

TERFE AR ER

Diversity, equal opportunities, and anti-discrimination
Zitle - FERENRIER

Safety measures

226

Employee health management
BTREER

Development and training
R KA
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Aspects Material Issues
ik EEEE
Labour standards . Prevention of child and forced labour

TR

Supply chain management

HREsRE

Product responsibility
EmEF

BrlbE T RogHlss T

o Supply chain management

HrEsE e

o Customer privacy protection
BRTLBRE

o Quiality management
HE2EE

o Intellectual property (“IP”) rights
T EERE ([HEBERED

o Protection of privacy
TSR
Anti-corruption o Internal control
RES A B2
Community investment o Community participation
HRgE Fadst
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION RIBRE

The Group understands the importance of protecting the environment for
its sustainable development and that of society. It closely follows the green
development strategies of the relevant business development regions,
continuously improves its environmental management measures. The Group
actively addresses the challenges and seizes the opportunities associated
with the risks of climate change. Therefore, it strives to minimise the possible
impact of its business operations on the ecological environment and natural
resources by incorporating environmental protection practices into its daily
operations and management methods. With stringent management and
compliance with relevant regulatory requirements, including the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance, Water Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste Disposal
Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance and relevant laws and regulations, the
Group was not aware of any violations of environmental laws and ordinances
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Group has always emphasised the review of its own environmental
management and adjusted the relevant strategic measures in accordance
with the actual development of the Group. The Group will initiate discussions
and establish environmental targets for carbon and energy reduction, and
waste minimisation, to enhance sustainable development in environmental
management. At the same time, the Group will develop specific environmental
policies as needed for comprehensive management and will implement the
environmental management aspects of the existing policies in the operational
management processes.
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GHG Emissions BEREBEER

The Group is well aware of the country’s green development policy and ~ AEBFHEZR G HERE - BRES BR AR
actively cooperates with the country’s carbon-neutral carbon reduction FHAUGEIKEE WL NEREFEBHAIFELR -
target to achieve sustainable business development. The Group recognises 7%= [ 32 3% 21 72 ik M 25 &5 & W9 U B IR IB 50
its environmental impacts from carbon and air pollutants emissions. The 2 o REEFRBERKNESETE - HLABARBEEE
Group will make corresponding adjustments to the relevant emission  1Z#/THEFE - ARV HEENIREFE  REY
reduction targets in accordance with its future business needs. To reduce the  SFCREITRFTAIEH) R EMRREAERERRE -
corresponding environmental impacts, various reduction measures have been 7 ZIERBHENE - LHEESHFETREHRSTE © [
adopted when complying with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance and other B - NEEFRIBHEIE TR E - BERRLE -
relevant laws and regulations, especially in the area of electricity consumption

and vehicle use. At the same time, the Group advocates environmentally

friendly operations by encouraging the involvement of employees.

Employees’ Behaviours Equipment Enhancement
BETH RBRE
o Put up energy-saving reminder labels next to switches and Progressively replace light bulbs with light-emitting diodes

in prominent locations;

FE BRI SRR AL A ¢

(LED);
FEAE MBS —HERE (LED) BUE B8

o Switch off idling devices and office equipment when it is Install energy-efficient lighting and cooling systems;
not in use; LHEETBLRAANZ AN RS

EAERE - BEREERE MR ARE -

o Encourage adjusting or switching off air-conditioners with
regard to the temperature and situation in the office;
SEVRBR A ERNRENIE R AR

o Encourage the use of online or teleconferences;
SEME BB EREEE

o Arrange the last employee to check and turn off all
unneeded air conditioning, lighting and office equipment
before leaving the office;
ZHRE—BE T ERRRAZRENERMETH
Zmz=iE - RBFIPARME

o Encourage the use of digital documents, emails and cloud
storage; and
SEEREF X - EFHHRNEREHT R

o Encourage the use of sustainable modes of transportation
such as cycling or using public transportation.
SEMEAARENZEA N PR B TESERA
25 -

Divide office area into different light zones and deploy
natural light as much as possible;
SR AEHEE S ATRRABBNESEAE AN

Keep doors and windows closed when air conditioning
equipment is running;
ZERFREETR - REFIE R

Set the temperature of air-conditioners no under 25
degrees Celsius;
R EMEOREREEMERN25T

Arrange cleaning regularly of dust screens for air
conditioning and ventilation equipment; and

ERLHBERE=RMBRARBONIES &

Replace old and highly polluting vehicles with more
environmentally friendly and higher emission standards
models.

FEAERR  EediREn SR g EMSAREN
B
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total GHG emissions reached
149.12 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent with an intensity of 1.19 tonnes
of carbon dioxide equivalent/employee. As part of the Group’s environmental
sustainability efforts, we have prevented unnecessary business travel and
optimised the use of energy. Nevertheless, business growth during the
reporting period drove a substantial increase in business travel. This led to
a notable increase in Scope 3 Other Indirect GHG emissions, resulting in a
34.5% increase in total GHG emissions compared to the previous reporting
period. Moving forward, we strive to mitigate emissions by exploring various

HE-Z-_AF=-A=Z+—HLE  BEREHKE
EEI49.1N2B_EIREE  BEAR1.I9M S
tixEE, B8 - FAASBEREREN—BH + K
SEES T TUENEBIKT - KB TEIRER o
SRTM  FERES RN AEERRE) T AKKITHES
#hn FERHECHGEERERENEEEE
hno B EEREFEAL AR EREBHEREEMT
34.5% - RERNK - KMESBIERSERE - Fln
B ERBERAERERERAER - BIRDHER -

initiatives, such as optimising travel policies and promoting virtual alternatives.

Year ended Year ended
GHG Emissions' Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE-Z-AF ®BE_T_MF
=BA=+—H =A=+—H
BERBHNE By LLFE IFFE
Scope 1 Direct GHG emissions? tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 38.52 32.12
HENHEERAERBHNE WAL EE
Scope 2 Indirect GHG emissions? tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 27.06 34.14
HEHEAERBHNE WAL EE
Scope 3 Other indirect GHG emissions* tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 83.54 44.63°
FHEEMMEREREEINE WAL EE
Total GHG emissions tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 149.12 110.89°
REREENE WS E S
GHG emissions intensity tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent/employee 1.19 0.83°

BERBHINERE

M—StiEE ES

! The Group’s GHG emissions include carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. For ease of reading and understanding, the data on GHG emissions are

54

presented in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent.

FEENRERBHNBE AR FHEEALCTR - RAEMERER AEREHREEBU —StREEWEZ7 -

Scope 1 refers to the Group's direct GHG emissions, which include the combustion of petrol in the company’s mobile vehicle. The emissions were calculated
using the methodology and emission factors outlined in Appendix Il “Guidelines for Reporting Environmental Key Performance Indicators” (“Appendix I1”)
provided by the Stock Exchange.

HENENESEEFEMNREREBYN - BERARERPITUAMRE « tHERE R ERER R ATIRE GIE = - RRMRERUERERIES) (M=) k5|
H s AP A TR E -

Scope 2 refers to the Group's indirect GHG emissions from consumption of purchased electricity. The emissions were calculated using the methodology
outlined in Appendix Il provided by the Stock Exchange and the emissions factors published by the electricity provider.

HE2ENEEEEERBENE HMELNRZRERBIN o BLPE B IRE Pt a0 I 8 — P oI E 7 AA R BN HER HE A T
HITRE -

Scope 3 refers to the Group's other indirect GHG emissions, which include GHG emissions from electricity used for freshwater and sewage processing,
paper waste disposal in landfills, and business travel. During the reporting year, all wastepaper was collected for recycling and processed by an appointed
recycler, resulting in no emissions from paper waste disposal in landfills. Emissions from freshwater and sewage processing, as well as paper waste disposal,
were calculated using the methodology outlined in Appendix Il provided by the Stock Exchange, while business travel emissions were calculated using the
International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) Carbon Emissions Calculator.

HEBEEEAMHZREREIN - OFERRRKTKEENENMEENREREHN  EHEREEFEEMEENDN - UREBHEREEN
P - ERMEFEN > AEAHENREERN - WhEEDKRERE - B REERBEREEFRPIEENIN - RIKKISKERIAREEBERATIN
£ IRRE S P AR E - MRS 2= evBERE BIER AR BB R AR A G B AR T TR -

Historical data has been updated to enhance accuracy. Emissions from business travel were recalculated by considering flight class and whether travel was
one-way or round-trip. As a result of these revisions, the total GHG emissions and intensity have been adjusted accordingly. This approach will be consistently
applied in future calculations unless further revisions are deemed necessary.

JE 2 BUE B ERTAR S R o BSIRITH BN B IR E BT S MAIRTT A (BB AR T T EHE - Bt - AEREHNEFNRECERE
HE o BRINERERRNFEDR—IER - BRIEFERRETERT -
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Climate Change

The Group recognises the climate risks associated with greenhouse gas
emissions. Acute physical risks, such as severe rainstorms and frequent
typhoons, can adversely affect transportation processes within the Group'’s
supply chain, leading to damage to electronic products. In addition, chronic
physical risks, such as the gradual increase in global temperatures, may result
in higher electricity demand and operating costs in future operations due to
increased cooling needs. The Group also faces transition risks, as consumers
may increasingly choose environmentally friendly electronic products in response
to market trends favouring sustainable development.

To address the risks that may be brought about by climate change, the Group
has strengthened its climate risk management system referring to four core
elements of IFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures published by the International
Sustainability Standards Board. The Group will further enhance and adhere
to the latest climate-related disclosure requirements as set out under Part D
of the updated Appendix C2, the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Code” (the Code) to the Main Board Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange, on a “comply or explain” basis in the next reporting year.

Governance

The Taskforce is responsible for identifying risks and opportunities arising from
climate change, incorporating physical and transition risks related to climate
change into the Group's risk assessment process, and assisting the Board, which
sets policies, to monitor the implementation of relevant policies, targets and
performance, thereby mitigating the impact of climate change on its business
operation and strengthening the Group'’s resilience to climate change.

Strategy

The Group will persist in adapting its strategy to effectively address climate-
related risks and opportunities. The Group conducts annual quality audits of
its suppliers to ensure that the sales process of electronic products such as
semiconductors supplied by the Group is properly managed. The Group assigns
an independent third party to check the products before shipping out.

Risk Management

The Group's industry is exposed to climate-related physical and market
risks. The Group attaches importance to relevant climate risk assessment
and incorporates climate risk management into its daily operation
management system. At the same time, the Group will closely monitor
changes in environmental regulatory requirements, strengthen environmental
management and promote green operations and low-carbon transition of the
Group.

RIR - B RERRE
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RIS REY

== #& =

The table below outlines the potential impacts that could affect the Group's

RSB T

AR EAEEEBHEERE

business:

Risks Potential Impact Corresponding Strategies

BB BERE HRER B

Physical Risks o Extreme weather conditions can significantly disrupt e Conduct risk assessments: The Group

BEREAR

Transition Risks

ERE R

daily operations, leading to damage or destruction
of products during transportation. This, in turn,
leads to supply chain instability and an increase in
costs.

BmARAREGEETEATEY  BRERMTE
BT IEENRE - ERERHEETIRENRK
REF

Rising resource prices, particularly energy, result in
higher procurement costs, threatening the stability
of the supply chain.
BIRER R - FHI2aR -
BB HEENIZE N -

BHERERA LT

In response to climate change, consumer
preferences are shifting towards environmentally
friendly products, this change may lead to a decline
in sales of existing products and a decrease in
revenue for the company.
ﬁf“M%ﬁ$$lm@%&“T%§&ﬁ'§m
IRIFEBRRER ° Bt - WARE A RERIRAE
DDE’]?UIJ:]%TBEF /)ﬁ/ TH&U\ °
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identifies suppliers or regions that are most
at risk from climate change impacts. This
proactive approach enables us to address
and mitigate potential disruptions by
implementing contingency plans or seeking
alternative sourcing options.
EITRBR G - EEBERIERREE TR
b & AR HER SR - B FEHCE
EEER SRR ERE S B RS REREK
B IR R R AR E B T2 -

. Sustainable practices: The Group integrates
sustainability criteria into the procurement
process, such as evaluating suppliers based
on their environmental performance.
AIFHEELE  AEEK I RHE I RIERE
HEERIE - Pl AR A IRIERIR ©

ERIA
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Metrics and Targets

The Group is committed to enhancing the transparency of its environmental
disclosures. We will establish quantifiable targets to strengthen investors’
right to know and make informed decisions. Proactively addressing climate-
related risks and opportunities, the Group will strategically allocate resources
to implement targeted policies, mitigate identified risks, and track progress
towards defined climate objectives through robust governance.

Air Pollutants

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the air pollutants emissions increased
due to business growth, which resulted in greater vehicle usage. The
emissions of sulphur oxides, nitrogen oxides and particulate matter for this
period were 0.21 kg, 10.78 kg and 0.79 kg respectively. The air pollutants
increased by 17.9%, 19.5% and 19.5% respectively in the year.

RIR - B RERRE

EREMER
SERNNESHERRRENEAE - LAKELA

BEMBR - MIERREENFBE - WEHENMK
Hjﬁﬂ%”ﬁ’ﬂi?%%ﬁ o JR B T B FE BT SR AR A O R B A0
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ERSHY)
HE_ZT-RAF=-A=+—HIFE  BAREKEER

FrEmmBEEmERASEMN - TR 52YHERtERT L
F o REEH S - REWHMBER DN RS
A/£0.21F% ~ 10.78F 7% F0.79F 7 o ANFER)ZE

TSR B EF17.9% © 19.5%H119.5% °

Year ended Year ended
Air pollutants Emissions Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE-ZT-HF HE_ZT_NF
=H=+—H =A=+—H
Z=RI5 R B By LLEFEE IEFE
Sulphur oxides® kg 0.21 0.18
maty Fr
Nitrogen oxides® kg 10.78 9.027
E=Nla7) Fr
Particulate matter® kg 0.79 0.667
FERIY) T
6 Air emissions are based on vehicle consumption and are calculated using the methodology and emissions factors outlined in Appendix Il provided by the Stock
Exgﬁggemﬁﬁkmgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂkﬁi SHFE - IR AR SZ AT AR AR OB 8 = A 31| B0 R FIBE R T TR E -
7 Historical data has been updated to enhance accuracy. A fuel efficiency of 10 km/L is assumed, in line with industry averages and past practices. This approach

will be consistently applied in future calculations unless further revisions are deemed necessary.
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RIB - B RERRS

Waste Management

With the increasing concerns on waste generation and handling, the Group
is committed to minimising its waste generation and reducing corresponding
environmental impacts. In accordance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance
and other regulatory requirements, the Group has implemented a series of
measures to reduce waste generation and extend the product lifecycle to
avoid wastage. As an office-based business, the majority of waste is generated
through day-to-day operational activities. While the Group did not set a
specific waste reduction target for the reporting year, it has implemented
various measures to achieve waste reduction at the source and promote waste
diversion. Additionally, an administrative employee is appointed to facilitate
recycling procedures and manage the transportation of non-recyclable
products.

Supporting Systems

BERS BREREH

BEYER
BEEEEYEEREEMNARZET  AEER IR
DREMIEE 4 RAREMRIE L o BB (EWEE K0
REMEAEERE  AEEEET —ZIHEERL
m%%#& ERERBY  B2RE - FA RN
WATARAERNDYE - AEE KB HWEZYH
EHEELETHIELN BALEBEARESF
ERERTARNEEYRERE BAEEEEH
SRR AERRERENEYD RSEHE - A
B ER T —RTRABAERPEURZARER
AT B EE R HiE ) o

Environmental Awareness

Adopt separation methods for waste management;
RRANSEREETERENER |

Purchase cartridges, stationery, and paper in bulk or as
needed;

HEIRBEF KETERNE - XEMARK

Prioritise the purchase and use of reusable and refillable
products;

BEBEMER R EEERMA BRANER |

Utilise electronic documents for internal communication;

FEREFEETRRER

Replace single-use tableware with reusable alternatives;

RAEEFERERRE —RMEER

Provide recycling bins;

R EIYAS -

Prioritise eco-friendly products, such as paper with Forest
Stewardship Council certification; and
BEBERRER  fINESRNERZESRENM
oo R

Implement recycling programs to promote waste
diversion.

B WG EIAEEREED DR
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Implement source separation and instruct employees to
separate recyclable wastepaper from other wastepaper;

BEHERENME - R B TR A UK A B AR S E A REAR D JE

Display waste reduction and recycling signage and notices in
prominent locations;

RAEERE - REA BREME R RRMET

Encourage on-demand and dual-sided use of paper;

SRR AR mENR)

Encourage bringing lunchboxes or reusable food containers
for takeaway;

SRETTERRERERRMATRIE

Encourage the use of reusable tableware; and

SEERTERERER &

Encourage repair and refurbishment of equipment and
devices.

BEBIENMBIREREE
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The Group’s operations are mainly office-based, resulting in negligible
generation of hazardous waste, such as batteries. However, the Group
recognises the importance of properly disposing of hazardous waste to
mitigate environmental risks. It ensures that different types of hazardous
waste are disposed of according to their specific disposal methods. For
example, batteries generated in the office should be placed in designated
recycling bins and recycled by authorised recyclers, in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, such as the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste)
(General) Regulation (Cap. 354, section 33) of Hong Kong. The Group is
committed to ensuring proper disposal, storage, collection and transportation
of chemical waste. Additionally, it will hire qualified chemical waste collectors
or contact responsible parties to collect and handle any waste generated.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group consumed a total of 0.69
tonnes of paper, representing a 64.3% increase compared to the previous
year. The corresponding intensity is 0.006 tonnes/employee. This increase
was primarily driven by increased paperwork associated with business growth
and adjustments in internal controls. To minimise paper usage, the Group
continues to actively implement policies and procedures promoting paper
reduction and has transitioned to electronic reports and e-commerce methods
where possible to support business development. As an electronic distributor,
the Group focused on providing semiconductor distribution services and
did not engage in the production of construction materials or other non-
hazardous materials during this reporting year. Given the nature of its
operations, the Group did not generate any packaging material for finished
products.

RIR - B RERRE

AEENEB T REMARE - BRIt EENERE
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ZEERBUERREY - WAL REAR - KNEE
ERTRBEENE EEMREE ST EMNEETAETT
BE - Bl MAEEENEBEZMAIEENER
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Year ended Year ended

Non-hazardous Waste Generation Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024

BE-Z-RF ®BE_T_MF

=ZA=+— =A=+—H=

BEBRZEVELE B IHEE IFFE

Paper consumption tonnes 0.69 0.42
HoRBRE 198

Total non-hazardous waste tonnes 0.69 0.42
EEEEDES 7

Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/employee 0.006 0.003

EEBEEYEE meEE
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RIB - B RERRS

Energy Management

The Group recognises the environmental impacts of its operation from the
use of energy. In this reporting year, the Group’s activities primarily involved
gasoline consumption for private vehicles and electricity consumption. To
minimise environmental impacts and improve energy efficiency, the Group
has implemented a series of measures applicable to all employees. For details
on energy-related measures, please refer to the “GHG Emissions” section.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, total energy consumption was
211,092 kWh with an intensity of 1.69 kWh/employee. While total energy
consumption increased due to business growth, the Group is committed to
enhancing its environmental stewardship. This includes exploring various

RERERE

Zliﬁlﬁ% |EEENRRBERERERREMRY
ZopAREFEASBEESGEMS - TE P LT
ABRETVHEREARBEMEANER - Ax/ME
HIRENFZETRSERNE  NEEREE— R
HRRAAEE IR - AREIRIEREERE  F25H
DRZEREEHER —E -

B2 -_hAF=-A=1+—HIFE  geRBEFEL
FA211,02FEE  BUB ITHREFEHEEEER
1.69F R - BEBMNEBRIER - BRI EFES Y
- SEMBORNGEREERE - EEERRSE

initiatives to enhance energy consumption efficiency, such as by optimising — £24& LAIRTFHEERBFERCR - BB E LA BE AR IR
fleet efficiency with better route planning. EIRIEE B RE -
Year ended Year ended
Energy Consumption Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE-Z-HF #HE-ZT-_UF
=A=+—H —A=+—H
BEROHAEE By LEFEE LIEFE
Petrol kWh in ‘000s 139.88 117.04
i FHEF
Purchased electricity kWh in ‘000s 71.21 87.54
SNEE F1E T FLBs
Total energy consumption kWh in ‘000s 211.09 204.58
BEIREHFES AR ERYINiS:
Energy consumption intensity kWh in ‘000s/employee 1.69 1.53
R EFEERE TFETEE (BB

Water Resources Management

The Group's water supply mainly comes from the municipal water supply, and
there was no issue in sourcing water that was fit for purpose. To conserve this
valuable resource, the Group complies with relevant regulatory requirements
in its daily operations. While water is mainly used for cleaning and sanitation,
the Group has implemented measures to enhance water efficiency through
close and continuous monitoring.
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Water Resources
Management

KEFRERE

RIB - B RERARS

¢ Advocate the virtue and concept of

Education water conservation

HE

Conservation X
AWEIEEIES
Promotion

R

Control &

BBE L AR BB AR R

Display water-saving notices in
prominent locations
IR EE R R EIRE R

e Install water-saving devices

Management RREKEE

78 RN
e Conduct

regular maintenance and repair

of water taps, pipelines, and storage

systems

TE BB MAEEKEERE - BKEEBM

EVETN

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group consumed a total of 172
cubic metres of water resources. In comparison to the previous reporting
period, the Group's water consumption reduced by 3.9%. This reduction
highlights the effectiveness of the Group’s water-conservation initiatives.
Moving forward, the Group aims to further enhance these initiatives and
explore new technologies or innovative approaches to optimise water

efficiency even further.

BE_Z-AF=A=1T—HILFE  "EBEBFK
ER723 75K o B E—REHAL - ARERAK
EBRAT39% ERIETBT REKERRER
HERBRIE - REARK - KEEEE—FinoeiELs
fi o WRRFRMKEIFE - WE—FRIEKER
BV ERRE o

Year ended Year ended

Water Consumption Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE-T-RF HE_T_NF
=A=+-H =A=+—H
FEXKEB By IEFE IFFE
Total water consumption cubic metres 172.00 179.00
HBRKE LK
Water consumption intensity cubic metres/employee 1.38 1.34
FKERE MK/ EE
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RIB - B RERRS

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group recognises its operations have environmental impacts and is
committed to conserving natural resources for sustainable development. With
a focus on environmental protection, the Taskforce strives to identify the
affected aspects, enabling various departments and divisions to formulate
effective monitoring and management measures. Given the nature of the
Group’s business and operational needs, private car usage is more prevalent,

RERBRER

SERBIELELHRITOTE - ABNINREER
BRMEBRFEUABRAIFEER - URRRERB
5 ARENRE HEREA TS HEER
FEME®E - (ERFERPIA 2 JE 5 E BRI E S
i o BRIEEEEBOEENEER K - AEBRDE
ARLERE  SHEREE ARERNRFEELTE

=

leading to a significant impact on air quality, natural resources and the A2 -

environment.

Environmental impact

Corresponding measures

RERE HRFEIEHE
Air quality Use air purifying equipment or other equipment to ensure
EREZ indoor ventilation, along with regular cleaning and maintenance

Outdoor air quality may be negatively impacted by air pollutants
emitted from company-owned vehicles. Additionally, inadequate
air conditioning systems or poor airflow can adversely affect
indoor air quality in the workplace.

=HNERBE KA AR EE BRI E RS R AT

Z o i TRNERARGI TR RBRE T SLETIE
SN ENEREE -

GHG emissions

B =S

Gasoline combustion releases carbon dioxide and other GHGs,
contributing to the overall stock of GHGs in the atmosphere.
This accumulation enhances the greenhouse effect, exacerbating
climate change and its associated impacts.

R ESEN SRR EREE - WRERRPAE
REENAERE - SERBMAE TREME - BT RIREL
NEEETE -
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of air conditioning systems.
EAZERFERB S E M RERRENBEANE TR
&R

Replace existing air conditioning units with more
environmentally friendly options when appropriate. Employees
are also encouraged to use public transportation to minimise
emissions and reduce the impact of private car use.
EENERT HRANEFAT R RERRNZEARE - [
K SEETEA/ARRBIAR  UHs/IMbBERIR D FALRE
ERNTE -

Adopt environmentally friendly and energy-efficient private cars
to reduce GHG emissions.
FHRARRMEENALREUR IR ERESTE
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Climate Change

Severe rainstorms, frequent typhoons and hurricanes, rising sea levels and
other events have significantly evidenced the increasing importance of
imposing climate-related mitigation and adaptation plans. The Group realises
the urgency of monitoring and addressing climate-related issues. To stay
aligned with global efforts, the Group will formulate action plans to establish
climate-related policies, identify key issues, and implement corresponding
measures.

PEOPLE-ORIENTED WORKPLACE

Employees are a crucial component of sustainable business development. The
Group values employees’ talents as its most important asset and strives to
maintain a fair and stable working environment. It is committed to providing
people-oriented management that allows employees to fully realise their
talents and potential. The Group places a strong emphasis on occupational
safety and health of all employees, implementing various measures to promote
a safe working environment. For instance, notices are prominently displayed
in the workplace to remind employees of the proper handling of machinery
and equipment. Additionally, the Group adheres to the occupational health
and safety guidelines recommended by the Labour Department and the
Occupational Safety and Health Commission to ensure compliance and best
practices.

With the implementation of comprehensive management approaches, the
Group had no records of any violations regarding employment, labour system
and occupational health and safety during the year ended 31 March 2025.
The Group will continue to maintain high operational standards by providing
a fair and supportive working environment for employees.

Employment

The Group prioritises employee protection in accordance with regulatory
requirements in Hong Kong. At the same time, the Employee Handbook
outlines internal requirements, procedures, and arrangements, including
working hours and leave arrangements. The Group is committed to fostering
an equal and harmonious workplace, ensuring a safe and healthy working
environment for all employees.

RIR - B RERRE
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R - S RERHRE

Recruitment and dismissal

R

Remuneration, retention, benefits
and welfares

- B BRIASFE

Recruitments are carried out via legal channels under the oversight of the Human
Resources and Administration Department (“HR & Admin department”). Selection is
based on past performance, personal attributes, job experience and career aspirations,
with a detailed recruitment review process in place.
BREIIEFHANERMITHREGOEEE#ET  BBRERERERE BAARE - T
TR R R - WA A ROBEEZRE

To prevent the use of child labour, the HR & Admin department thoroughly checks
applicants’ identification documents to verify their eligibility for work and the validity
of the documents. If child labour is identified, the Group will handle it according to the
mechanisms and regulations in place, such as stopping the interview immediately and
contacting relevant authorities.

ROEETRE  ANBRRITBHSRERBENSHERAXY  UREEREER
BRXHOERL - MBERETIER - NEBSIRIERERSE SOERETE - fIanEe
RS RBR AR E D o

Employees may be dismissed without notice in the event of a criminal offence, fraud,
dishonesty or behaviour detrimental to the Group’s reputation. Simultaneously, if there
is no improvement despite efforts or opportunities provided, termination may occur
with notice. All decisions must be based on legitimate, legal grounds and regulatory
requirements.

METHRMNEIRT - BEF - TREITRASEAEEREERIEE - IR R RIEND
TMERBA o EPLRIE - AR E R E NBCERDENE - TTAALS TBANER
THIHER - BB RTHAALEERERHRAERER -

To attract and retain talent, the Group provides a competitive remuneration package
with reference to market benchmarks. Employees enrolled in the Medical Insurance
Scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme receive other benefits to enhance
working incentives and retain valuable employees.

REBIRBEANT - REEZEMSEE  BHEBRFHIOFNGE - E2MEBRR
Bt El Rt AR BN B TR =/ EMER - A TIEEERIET BB ES
AT e

To foster a sense of belonging, the Group has organised various leisure activities for its
employees. Activities such as the Annual Dinner, Christmas and birthday parties create
a positive and harmonious workplace.

RIMBETHRBR - AEBSRNZIEREED - fINEFRE - BIORENERIR
4 EEERAGEE TERER o

Employee Performance Appraisals are conducted annually to assess working abilities,
contributions, and efforts. Adjustments to position or remuneration packages may
be made based on the results. The department head will complete the Manpower
Movement Form fairly and reasonably. Lastly, adjustments will be confirmed and
approved by the Chief Operating Officer and Chief Executive Officer.
REEFGFETETENZ - UMb E I - ERIRB HKRE o RIBFTZE
R NFREBLFHNEE - BFAETERRBELAFREENRAESASRHIBRE
* 0 RESHR B R R AT R R R B/ T B HE -
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Working hours and rest periods

TR AR

Diversity, equal opportunities and
anti-discrimination

Zrft - FPERENRER

RIR - B RERRE

To protect its employees, the Group has clearly indicated the working hours in the
Employee Handbook. Any overtime work is voluntary and compensated in accordance
with the compensation leave scheme. The Group holds zero tolerance for forced
labour and will handle violations of relevant regulatory requirements by carrying out
investigations and contacting the appropriate authority.

RTREETIHE  AEECAES TF M AREATERRE - TRINITHEEaRE
B WIRRHERBRHETARHE - AEEHRHE TTRFTRREE  HERE
R E ERBEMEITRIE - FRREAEME SRR

With the goal of promoting the concept of work-life balance, employees are offered
both paid and unpaid leave under the five-day work arrangement. Examination
leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave, and various rest periods are available for all
employees, along with 14 weeks of maternity leave for females and 5 days of paternity
leave for males.

AREETEEEEFENES  EIARARIEL T ZATHNESRE - 18
ETIHAIEXEHRE - B  ERNSEAEKRE A8 TR =X14EER - St
BTAIMZER5RMBEER °

The Group advocates for a diverse, fair, and inclusive workplace. Discrimination based
on cultural background, religion, gender, race, marital status, family status, political
affiliation, or other factors is not tolerated. Employees are encouraged to report
any incidents of discrimination to the HR & Admin department for investigation and
handling.

REEEZZ T RTFNBENITIESH - BREERUEE S - R R - &
W~ BEIROR - REMOR ~ BURSISSE A RARARITA - SESE 8 TR EM
AR E - WRA T ERRITHE PR - AL KRR o
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of 125
employees, of which 56 are male and 69 are female. All current employees
hold full-time contracts and are based in Hong Kong, Mainland China, and

Southeast Asia.

Number of employees by gender

RIERIEID B T AR

‘ | Male

emale %IH_:
g 56
69

Number of employees by geographical region

BiEE D B T AK

13
Southeast
Asia

L]

112

Hong Kong and
Mainland China
FENRERM
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Number of employees by age group
RFERARIZID BT AR

2
6 Above 70
years old
60-70 T0BRA £
years old
60-705%,
20
28 20-29
50-59 years old
)é%agsg%q 20-297%
40 29
40-49 203
years o
15T S50
Number of employees by employment level
REREME DB TAR
13
Senior level
management
SREERE 71
Frontline
20 employees
Middle level AIARET
management
hARERE

21

Junior level
employees
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R - HERERHRE

Turnover rate by gender
RIERIBID R R

43%

Male
S

Turnover rate by geographical region
10 B9 skt K

32%

Hong Kong and Mainland China
A R E A

Turnover rate by age group
REREI DAL E
55%

45%

20%

4%
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20-297% 30-395% 40-495% 50-5975%

17%

Female

Z

0%

Southeast Asia

RETE
33%
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Health and Safety

The Group prioritises the safety of its employees in business development
and daily operations. To protect their safety and health, the Group has strictly
complied with Hong Kong's Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance,
Chapter 509 and the Fire Services Ordinance and other legal regulations,
and established and updated internal regulations, including the Employee
Handbook and Staff Development Sponsorship Policy. Also, the Group
focuses on improving employee communication and feedback mechanisms.
All employees are expected to follow safety regulations and report any unsafe
conditions to HR & Admin Department.

As stipulated in the Employee Handbook and no smoking policy, the Group
has adopted measures and manuals aimed at minimising risks and raising
safety awareness in daily operations to effectively protect the health and
safety of employees.

Safety Training

The Group raises employees’ awareness of safety precautions by promoting
safety knowledge. The Group regularly conducts rescue, fire and evacuation
drills to reinforce the importance of maintaining a safe workplace as well as
to ensure that employees have the necessary knowledge and skills to handle
emergencies effectively.

Physical and Mental Health

The Group is committed to the well-being of employees and ensuring their
physical and mental health in the workplace. The Group takes active measures
to prevent work-related accidents and minimise personal injuries. In the
event of a work-related injury, employees are compensated in accordance
with the laws and regulations. The Group will also carry out investigation
and improvement measures to prevent the recurrence of accidents. Also,
employees are provided with sick leave for timely diagnoses of illness if
there are symptoms of influenza or other contagious diseases, to prevent
the spreading of illness in the workplace. The Group provides its employees
with extensive health care coverage for employees with illness and injury.
The Group encourages work-life balance by promoting reasonable work
hours, encouraging employees to take vacations and discouraging excessive
overtime. Additionally, ergonomic assessments are conducted to ensure
proper workstation setups, promoting good posture, reducing the risk of
musculoskeletal issues, and enhancing overall physical comfort.

The Group values the mental health of employees and regularly organises
activities that promote a healthy and work- life balance lifestyle. Safety
banners and warning signs are displayed to maintain an accident-free
working environment. Meanwhile, employee support groups have been
established, allowing individuals to connect and share experiences, fostering a
sense of community and support. The Group acknowledges and appreciates
employees’ efforts and achievements, which helps to create a positive work
environment and boost morale.
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Bad Weather Special Arrangements

The Group also has a robust risk management system for employees working
under adverse weather conditions to ensure safety. For example, staff need to
cease their work and seek shelter until the Black Rainstorm Warning Signal is
cancelled and weather conditions allow for safe outdoor work.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had no record of any
violations of relevant regulatory requirements. Regarding the comprehensive
management and monitoring of daily operations, there were no work-related
injuries or fatalities reported in the past three years. With the commitment
to protecting our employees, the Group will continue to enhance its
employee health and safety management practices, improve its management
approaches and measures, and refine its data collection systems to enhance
data availability.

Development and Training

The Group places great importance on building a solid talent pipeline. It
has established its own set of Staff Development Sponsorship Policies and
Procedures to provide different training and development opportunities
regularly. Also, Employees are provided with professional training courses
to enhance their professional skills and knowledge. The employees will
be offered different leave arrangements in accordance with the Staff
Development Sponsorship Scheme and the nature of the programmes.

Newly joined employees .

FABET B TABSEI R

RIR - B RERRE

EERRTHEHRZH
AEETRY T TENRREBR RS - WREERS
RAGHTIENEIRR - fin > EHHEERN
ZEERF  BIFFEIETETSHREE  B2ES
BRI BRI AT R 2EITPINTAE
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Organise new staff orientation; and

° Provide training covering corporate culture, business processes, job requirements and

specific job knowledge, etc.

REBRELEXL - FBRE - BUERRAREUMES TEOE -

Existing employees °
REET

Focus on their career development with profession-oriented training;

BBAEEFEROE - IR MPIBRER

o Set up a Staff Development Sponsorship Scheme for full-time employees who
completed three full years of service, encouraging participation in seminars, courses
and professional examinations; and

RRBm=—FOHEBETRIETHEREYE - SBOM2ERNE  RIENEE

ZH Rk

° In addition to frontline and junior level employees, certain management staff regularly
participate in the company’s supply chain management training activities, including
Purchasing System & Logistic System training, Logistic System Demo training, Intranet
System training, Company’s Internal System Payment Request training and Catalogue

Centre System training.
BRTRARNEEEBE TN

BrEBEhETM2ENRNHERERIIRLE - 215

REBRSNMRRGIZ - MRRFSVERIEI - REBKERERE - RRAIRSN
FREFBIEDIIA R B 870 ZFET o
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group actively provided internal
training activities for its employees in different positions to improve their
professional skills and familiarise them with the company’s operational model.

The Group's staff development and training KPIs are as follows:

Employee
Number
EEHE
Total 125
B
By gender Male 56
RIERIE S S
Female 69
7t
By type Full-time 125
RiERE S Sy
Part-time 0
T
By rank Frontline employees 71
=B RE S RIARE T
Junior level employees 21
PIEET
Middle level management 20
hRERE
Senior level management 13
BRERE
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Training
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Training
rate
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10%
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Training
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24

Average
number of
training
hours
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ETHICAL OPERATIONS

The Group values fair and honest business operations for its long-term
sustainable development. It continuously fosters a fair and trustworthy
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other stakeholders
for shared responsibility and sustainability.

The Group maintains business integrity by implementing strict management
and ongoing controls. It had no record of any violations related to supply
chain management, product responsibility and anti-corruption during the year
ended 31 March 2025. The Group will conduct an investigation and address
any cases of unethical behaviour or non-compliance in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations.

Supply Chain Management

The Group places a strong emphasis on maintaining an environmentally and
socially responsible supply chain through the implementation of sustainability
policies. It prioritises win-win cooperation with suppliers and employs a
comprehensive process to identify key suppliers, fostering collaboration for
shared responsibility in sustainable development.

Collection Assessment

e #HA

e Seek potential suppliers e Conduct performance
based on market demand assessment based on a list
and consumer needs. of criteria.
ERMisMERTNH RS RIE— RINEAEI TR
kA& N BER - ERER

e Receive quotations from
suppliers.

RS ERERRE

AN

e Compare the trade terms
including price, Minimum Order
Quantity (MOQ), payment
method, warranty, production
time, logistics etc.
HERESIER - BEEE &

EATEHENFTT N - REK

X AERBEMYRE - e Conduct visits and

e Based on the assessment result,
select suppliers that fulfil all the
requirements.

RIFFHER - BETAMA ERFAmETE 5FE
BREVPLER © e

RIB - B RERARS

R

ZAN S Eﬁ NPERNEBEBARR R AR
R SREERIUFEEEENER TP BIMHE
N E 2R AT BREHEAER - BEERH IR
BRI BERAUFKEN -

AEBBBBANEENFENS AR RBAE -
BE_FT_AF=-A=1+—HBLFE KAEEREAHE
My hHEEER  EREERRESHERLE -
AEBEBRBERERER - HHEATERIT R
TERBERETREL ZERIE -

e
AEEREERBBERAIFARRIK - #&RR
RitgREHER KEETCHESREERNER
afE- I}mﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁxm SRS IER - RERF
BHARSREIRHEERNEME -

Selection Evaluation

B +HE

e Carry out evaluation on the
quality in accordance with a
variety of criteria on a strict
and continuous basis.

AN BRI AR IR SRR A
WEESHETME -

engagements regularly to
ensure the products fit the
sales plan/customers.

TE BT TRR AR B AT LR

N /
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RIB - B RERRS

The supply chain consisted of 40 suppliers from Guangdong, and 3 from
Hong Kong, totalling 43 suppliers who are compliant with applicable laws and
regulations. By diversifying the supplier base, the Group mitigates the risks
from disruptions like production delays and quality issues, ensuring business
continuity and reducing reliance on a single source.

Additionally, working with a diverse group of suppliers provides greater
flexibility in responding to changing market conditions and customer
demands. This enables the Group to quickly adjust sourcing strategies, adapt
to fluctuations in supply and demand, and explore new opportunities. When
selecting suppliers, the Group considers whether they hold relevant ISO
certifications, which demonstrate the adherence to international standards
in areas such as quality management, environmental management, and
social responsibility. All of the Group’s suppliers have received ISO 9001
Quality Management System certification and ISO 14001 Environmental
Management System certification, ensuring product quality and compliance
with corporate social responsibility. To meet the customer’s demand for
diversification, personalisation, and refinement, the Group has implemented
management measures aligned with I1SO 9001 requirements. These measures
cover product design and development, risk control, production outsourcing,
and performance evaluation. Also, 1ISO14001 certification ensures that
the Group’s suppliers strictly regulate their environmental impact during
production, promoting sustainable development. By adopting a systematic
management approach, the Group aims to meet customer expectations and
deliver products tailored to individual needs and preferences. The Group will
continue to enhance compliance with the environmental and social guidelines
among its suppliers to ensure quality services and products.

At the same time, the Group has implemented a stringent supply chain
management system to manage and evaluate supplier performance regularly
through score-based audit reports. These reports monitor nine aspects
of suppliers, including management responsibility, management system
maintenance, product design, supplier management, preservation of the
product, incoming material inspection, production process control, inspection
& testing management and control of nonconforming products. Each supplier
is assigned scores in these nine categories, reflecting their performance in the
scoring system.
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Below is a table outlining the ranking system for suppliers and their
corresponding scoring ratios:

RIR - B RERRE

MW RBHAHERNEE R A LEBENFS T
EgF

Ranking Score Ratio £33 FoE
A Over 90% A #8i890%
B 80%-89% B 80%-89%
C 60%-79% C 60%-79%
D Lower than 60% D KB 60%

When a supplier’s ranking falls to a C or lower, the Group requests that the
supplier make improvements within 7 working days of receiving the audit
report and submit any necessary documentation. The audit report requires
suppliers to disclose information about their company, production and testing
facilities, systems, and patents. Suppliers should reply to a series of questions
related to management responsibilities, maintenance, materials inspection,
process control, and inspection, etc. Additionally, they are required to develop
a comprehensive improvement and corrective action plan to enhance future
performance.

Alongside the dynamic management of the supply chain which is based
on the scoring system, the Group has established a dedicated supply
chain management team to conduct regular interviews with suppliers
and contractors. The team implements mitigation measures following
environmental and social risk assessments across the supply chain. The Group'’s
basic requirements for suppliers include legal compliance and necessary
technical equipment. Additionally, suppliers need to provide information
about the number of production and testing equipment they have. To
maintain high material standards, the Group applies the assessment and
evaluation procedures during selection. Based on these assessments, lists of
primary and backup suppliers are established to ensure procurement stability
and product quality. For example, the Group selects products from suppliers
that meet Hong Kong safety standards or have CE certification in the EU. To
strengthen the assessment of environmental and social factors, suppliers are
required to include relevant quality and green product management system
certificates in their annual audit reports ensuring effective management of
raw materials used in production.
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At the same time, the Group keeps open communication with suppliers and
backup suppliers for immediate response in case of accidents. In addition,
the Group maintains a clean and cooperative relationship with its suppliers
to ensure a clean and healthy business environment. With the commitment
to maintaining the supply chain in a fair and equal manner, employees with
close relationships with potential suppliers are prohibited from participating in
the selection and procurement processes.

To minimise environmental impact, the Group considers environmental factors
when purchasing high-quality products. The Group evaluates suppliers’ green
procurement performance in their score-based audit reports, encouraging
the use of more environmentally friendly products and services each year. The
Group rates the electronic products from suppliers based on several criteria,
including compliance with green product technical standards, possession
of green product certification, the environmental sustainability of the raw
materials, ability to effectively identify quality risk levels, and provision RoHS
(Restriction of Hazardous Substances) test reports for the components. The
Group will sign environmental protection agreements with suppliers and
require them to provide testing reports on relevant electronic products and
update their reports annually. In addition, the Group will require suppliers
to provide environmental test reports on raw materials to ensure that the
electronic products provided are safe for human health and better for
environmental protection.
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Product Responsibility

RIR - B RERRE

EmEE

Customer satisfaction is essential in evaluating the quality of products and EEmEE 2T EERNMIREEENHEEIEE - £E
services. The Group prioritise product quality across all aspects and has EREMEZEMSEREE - WRKERERSIET —
established a series of measures and restrictions to maintain high standards —~ RFFEHE LR H] - A S IZE -

based on regulatory requirements.

Procurement

23

Quality management
EE8EE

Conduct quality checks before distribution
EDHAETEERE

Ensure compliance with the Supplier Code of Conduct on maintaining the high
standards of products purchased

RETHERTRER  UERMBEERNSRE

Adopt a quality plan designated for each project that indicates requirements for quality
control, inspection and testing, and relevant issues in the production

KRR EEBEENESTE - RAHESEH - RGN ZRIAREERH
izl k=]

Score the parts of whether the products supplied by suppliers have clear IQC (Incoming
Quality Control) sampling protocols and RoHS (Restriction of Hazardous Substances)
test reports, as well as traceability of possessed materials in their annual audit reports
EHEENFESTRETI O EHENERES BB W ESE SRR
MEEEYERGIHRSE - LERFAEEMER AT

Examine the quality-related system and policy regularly to ensure the effectiveness and
efficiency of management approaches

FHREEERBEREAMBER - EREIEFANE BUILFIBE
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Data privacy

BIEALR

IP rights
HBERE

Comply with relevant laws and regulations including the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance as well as internal policies to ensure the information collected would be used
only for the authorised purposes and accessible by designated personnel only
BTRBERERBEAEAE R L) G0 R AZIBER - BARFENEFERR
RiERE  WEHETAERFI

Collect and keep all data and information confidential and secure

Wl 2 E2RE MREMEBBENERANL S

Prohibit the use or provision of data to third parties without authorisation

BRI AR R E =T M R B8R

Equip security features together with backup services in the computers that require a
password to access to further protect the data collected

FrEBIEREDRBHRBREZIEE - FERWHHEFE - LUE—PIREMBENE
*

The Information Technology Department has set up obstruction between the office and
the commercial net to prevent data leakage or unauthorised use

BABBEMERAEMARER 2 RRED A - AP L8RS R SRR ENER

Stipulate the protection of the Group and third-party’s IP rights in the Information
Security Policy
B 2 2 BUOR T R RAE AN SR [ R 55 = 77 R e ) NSk EE

Prohibit the duplication, installation or use of software which is in violation of its
copyright or license conditions

TP~ RS A R AR SRR IR T AT

To ensure compliance with internal regulations, any employee who violates the
restriction will be subjected to disciplinary action
RERETAMBRE - BEREHHETHXILRED

Notify manufacturers if there is illegal or unauthorised use of hardware and/or software
discovered

EEREMHR/ IBEAIDESARERENER - BBMEER

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had no product recalls due
to safety and health issues, and it did not receive any product complaints.
If a complaint is received, the Group promptly communicates with the
customer to understand the issue and may provide compensation based
on the investigation’s findings. At the same time, the Group requires the
suppliers to manage and control non-conforming products and has a system
for identifying and differentiating non-conforming products. The group has
implemented a procedure for re-evaluating and testing non-conforming items
that have been reworked or repaired. This procedure is aimed at minimising
the export of substandard products to the market and ensuring the highest
quality standards for consumers. The Factory Audit Report highlights this
process as a crucial step in the Group’s commitment to delivering products
that meet or exceed industry standards and customer expectations. The Group
is dedicated to maintaining the highest product quality standards.
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Anti-corruption

The Group upholds high standards of maintaining a fair, ethical and
honest workplace, with integrity as one of its philosophies of sustainable
development. The Board has established and implemented Anti-Fraud & Anti-
Bribery Policy in the Employee Handbook, in accordance with the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance, which is applicable to the Group, its third-party
representatives, and all directors, officers, and employees, including temporary
or contract workers. Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring effective
implementation monitoring and investigation of any significant fraudulent
or bribery activities within the Group. As stipulated in the internal policy, the
Group holds zero tolerance for all forms of unethical and corruptive practices,
including but not limited to bribery, fraud, money laundering and extortion.
Employees who violate this policy may face disciplinary action, which may
eventually lead to termination of employment and/or individual civil or criminal
penalties.

Additionally, the Group has adopted a Code of Conduct that addresses
conflicts of interest, privacy, confidentiality, etc. Employees are prohibited
from providing, soliciting or accepting anything of considerable value from
employees, clients, suppliers or other stakeholders without permission from
the Chief Operations Officer. Any suspicious case must be reported to the
relevant personnel or department, such as management, department head,
HR & Admin department, for further investigation. The Group ensures
confidentiality for whistleblowers and prohibits retaliation against employees
who report violations in good faith.

To ensure the accuracy of reported incidents, responsible staff will investigate
receipts, expenditures and other provided documents under a robust financial
and accounting control system, which is regularly reviewed and audited. If any
reports are confirmed, the Group will notify relevant regulatory authorities and
terminate the employment of those involved, following relevant regulatory
requirements. The HR & Admin department will collaborate closely with the
compliance officer to guarantee that all employees understand this policy
and will take measures to record and investigate incidents, ensuring prompt
reporting to the management. This collaboration aims to foster a culture of
compliance and accountability throughout the organisation.

RIR - B RERRE
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RIB - B RERRS

To promote sustainable and high standards of operation, the Group has
implemented integrity and ethics education for various members. As a
result, during the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no corruption
cases reported against the Group or its employees. Group employees should
regularly undergo education on the risks of fraud and bribery relevant to their
roles and on compliance with applicable laws and standards. For any third-
party representatives, the Group is committed to promoting anti-fraud and
anti-bribery practices among them. The Group encourages its employees to
participate in education and knowledge training on anti-corruption to ensure
the integrity of the office environment.

To ensure the long-term efficiency of the internal system, the Group will
continue to promote an integrity culture, revise institutional regulations, and
strengthen its enforcement in line with its business and integrity governance.
The Group will enhance its risk management and internal control systems
to raise awareness among workers and suppliers at all levels about their
responsibilities through comprehensive anti-corruption training. Moreover,
each department is required to make this Policy readily accessible to all
employees and conduct briefings for new hires to ensure their awareness and
understanding.

Each department within the Group is responsible for ensuring that its
employees are well-informed about this Policy, including familiarisation with
local procedures and requirements, and the reporting process for any actual
or suspected violations or suspicious activity.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group actively fulfils its social responsibilities and demonstrates a strong
commitment to public service. In the past, the Group has donated a portion
of its education funds to local universities and vocational training institutions
to support educational activities. Recognising the importance of community
involvement, the Group encourages employees to participate in community
activities during their spare time. The Group focuses on inspiring individuals to
engage with social welfare concerns promoting the belief of that “life affects
life”. As part of strategic development, the Group integrates human capital
into social management strategies to sustain human resources and market

supply.

Looking ahead, the Group continues to uphold this spirit and give back to
the community through diverse philanthropic activities, including education,
poverty alleviation and community development support. The Group firmly
believes that through its continued efforts and contributions, the Group can
help build a more harmonious and prosperous society.
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Aspects
il

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R - HERERHRE

BRG]

Description
RE

B FTEYERIR -

HERERBEESIR

Relevant Section in the
Report
WERMNID

A: Environmental
A IRIE

A1: Emissions

A1 BERRY

General Disclosure

—RRIREE

Information on:
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Note: Air emissions include NOx, SOx, and other pollutants regulated under national laws
and regulations.

Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.
BRAERIMAZEREHN - M/RKRIEEES - BEREEEEMOEL

2 -
@ BE R

(b) ETHBETAEEALENEWEEREOINEH -

it BRI EIEREEY - GEIEYREMZETERER BV E R TRY)
BEREAIE=—GEG - Bt - GIEDA - @EiIEEY - 2HEEGRRANFIEN

BERENEEATEOIFTRES

GHG Emissions

Air Pollutants

Waste Management

Water Resources Management
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ERTAY
BERNER
KERER
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RIS REY

== #& =

Relevant Section in the

Aspects Description Report
il AES RERHBD
KPI'AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Air Pollutants

RARERIEIRAL

KPIA1.2

BB UEIRAY .2

KPI A1.3
RRREBIEIZAL3
KPI A1.4
BREMIEFAL4
KPI A1.5

BASRAE IRIZATS

KPI'A1.6

RS AEWIRIZA 6

BRI SE N ABRE HE DB

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions
(in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (#EN) REREE (#@E2) A=ERE
BfER) -

@ uE e (0) & (WiER) = E (&

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FESBEEZEYAS () R(WMER)EE (BEE) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEH|EREEY RS (W) Rk (ER) & E (n#Em)

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
P RRI B E B IR R A ERE L B IZFTIRIE 5 -
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and

a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

Rl RIE A E MEEREYNIDE - RIRIURRRE TR 5]
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Aspects
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Description
2SS

Social and Governance Report
RIE - 2 RES

== #I)jl [

Relevant Section in the
Report
WERWNID

A2: Use of Resources

A2 ERERA

General Disclosure

—RRIEE

KPI'A2.1

R EMIERA2

KPI'A2.2

RASRAEAUIEIRA2.2

KPI'A2.3

AR IEIETRA2.3

KPI'A2.4

BASRIEIEIEA2 4

KPI'A2.5

FASHERIEIRA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in buildings,
electronic equipment, etc.

BRERER(BIEER K REMREMED) BECE -

it BRAARLEE - (17 - &8 #F  BFRET -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas
or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

RENE S ERE R KEEER(WEN - KBk
W) REE (BEAEL) »

soh) s WETR

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume per facility).

wrekE (W) LR (BEAER) °

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

it 2R BRI BE IR {0 PR Ak 2t P BRER O 15 e B 45

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HAESKEVE S AR eK T EFENREE(F) - KA B ERRARER
BB IEFTERERE B

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

B AT BEM AR AR E) k (Em) S £ ESELGE -

Energy Management
Water Resources Management

BERER
IKEREE

Energy Management

RERERE

Water Resources Management

KEIRERR

Energy Management

RERER

Water Resources Management

KEIRERR

Waste Management

BEEYER
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Aspects
Ll

== #& =

Description
RE

Relevant Section in the
Report
WERMNID

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 REERRARER
General Disclosure
—RRIRER

KPI'A3.1

RSB IEIR A3
A4: Climate Change
A4 SRR
General Disclosure

— R EE

KPI A4.1

R R 1RA4.

B. Social
B:#g

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment
and natural resources.
BUREIT NGBS AR E RE E R BRIBR

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

MO RHHRREARAERNEAZE NS RRERGHEZENT
&) o

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BRI MEH R R HBITAEET ENEARKEEBEENEE

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

BB R EHETAEEVENEAR B EE R OE -

Employment and Labour Practices

ERRETIER

B1: Employment
B1: fEfE

General Disclosure

—RRI R

Information on:
(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BEAEI R RE  BREREA  TENE - B FTEle b X
IR A Ko EL A 15388 R AR MY

@@ BEK: &

() BTHBTABEATENHRBERIIROINER -
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RIR - B RERRE

Relevant Section in the

Aspects Description Report

g AES RERHBD

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part- Employment
time), age group and geographical region.

BAR A DU EB1.1 RIER -~ EIEEL (R BERE) - FRAR R EE SR E B4R - (=

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment

BAREEEBR1.2 IR - FheER RItREDHRERARLLE (=

B2: Healthy and Safety
B2 REMZZ

General Disclosure

—RRIEE

KPI B2.1
BSR A IR 1ZB2.1

KPI B2.2
RAS A MUE1EB2.2

KPIB2.3

RAS A MIE15B2.3

Information on:
(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

BRRHLZETHERERRERSBEBELAEEN

(@ BE: K

(b) BTHETABGEAZENHBERENAROINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past
three years including the reporting year.

BEZFEFRTITHMABRRL X (BREERFE) °

Lost days due to work injury.
EIEEARTIEAL -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
FEALPER AN D BB ZE R R B 2 2 48 i - DA RGBRARI T RERR 0% -

Health and Safety

Health and Safety
fERELT R

Health and Safety
fREHEL S

Health and Safety

Rz
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RIS REY

Aspects
Ll

== #& =

Description
RE

Relevant Section in the
Report
WERMNID

B3: Development and Training

B3 : R REH

General Disclosure

—RIEE

KPI'B3.1

R A IR 1ZB3.1

KPI'B3.2

RASAE AIE1RB3.2

B4: Labour Standards

B4 : ¥ T#A|

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI B4.1

FASR B IR 1EB4.1

KPI B4.2
RRSAERIE1RBA.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses
paid by the employer

BRARTHE B ETT TIERE M MB LR BEMBUR - Al RES -

i IEAE B - A B AIET T BRI ETARE o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
(e.g. senior management, middle management).
RIERREERMN (R ERERTRERE EHNZIIEEASL
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

BRI RIEBERE D - BREETREIIN TR -

Information on:
(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRADT - ZE Tokaahss Tey -

(@) B®:

(b) FEFHETABEATENHEBERLROINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

s R DI AR R E T RORHI&5 T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

R REBRE R BN R G RIER TR 8 -
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RIR - B RERRE

Relevant Section in the

Aspects Description Report
g AES RERHBD
Operating Practices
BEES
B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : fitAEsEEE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Supply Chain Management
— AR ER EIRHEFENIRIE R RIS HrEEER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
BB AE RUETEBS.1 miE D HERHE - HIERER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Supply Chain Management
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
BASR B IE1EB5.2 g EIERHEERNEN - mERITEBEMNHEMEE - HrEEER
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks Supply Chain Management
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BB IE1EB5.3 HBREN RS ERSNRE R ERROED - ANAEREIITR HERERE
BERAE -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Supply Chain Management

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

BSR4 BUIE1RB5.4 R ERER AR EES AREREMLREOEDN - UREERITRE HEREE

BT
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Aspects
Ll

== #& =

Description
RE

Relevant Section in the
Report
WERMNID

B6: Product Responsibility

B6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

—RRIE

KPI B6.1

A A U IE15B6. 1

KPI'B6.2

RS AE 51586 .2

KPI'B6.3

R NIE13B6.3

KPI B6.4
FAB AR IRB6.4

KPI'B6.5

BASEAE 451386 5

Information on:
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

B HERIRBHNERREL Y  BE  RRRLBREEARERT
VAR

@ BE: R
() EFHETABEATENERERZRBRIINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety
and health reasons.
EERCEXEMEZT AL ERRIEAMARKNE S

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they
are dealt with.

RN E M RIS B B A MBS TTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.
ot B A T T ARPE AR E A 1B D -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

R E B B R EMEKIE

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

U B B ERMRIE RALBECR - URERRITRER X -
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Environmental,

Description
R

Relevant Section in the
Report
WERWNID

Social and Governance Report

RIR - B RERRE

B7: Anti-corruption

B7 : RES

General Disclosure

—fRER

KPIB7.1

R IS 1EBT .1

KPI B7.2
BRI R IE1RBT 2

KPI B7.3
FASEAR N IE1RBT 3

Community
#HE

Information on:
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRER LLARRE - BIR - MGRFROAREM -
@ BE: R
(b) ETHETABEAZENRBERIIRONER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

REERIIN G BT ASKE R B IR B BAN BT FARMFHIE B KFL
R o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

RRPT EE e R AR WER - U RAERERITRER X -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

ftmES RS TRENRESE -

B8: Community Investment

BS : HERE

General Disclosure

—RRIEE

KPI'B8.1

RS AE IR 1EB8

KPI B8.2
BRI R IE1RB8 2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

BREAUMR2ERTREEMEHEZEENRREEKTDGZSELRT
5 BYBR ©

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,
labour needs, health, culture, sport).
I ERGE PINHE BIEEE  BTEK - #F - YL RES) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EFIRnBEMPAERWMESREHE) -

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

&S

Anti-corruption

&S

Anti-corruption
k&5

Community Investment

HEIRE

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

HERE
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e

B AZHEN RS

Ernst & Young BXKETHER B Tel 3% +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place, BB RE Fax {EE: +852 2868 4432
EY& i 979 King's Road, FEEIBEI7YR ey.com
7 Quarry Bay, Hong Kong K —RE271E

To the shareholders of AV Concept Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AV Concept
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 96 to 195, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Audiitor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code"), as applicable to audits of financial
statements of public interest entities. We have also fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter
is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Audiitor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying

FREITER

RRET FAARERMANERAE - BRMAFAAN
HRGAVBHRRER/EENFEIA » ILFFANTA
FF M BERREML B AT RS — RS - MK
MTERUEFFERTRHEER - RANETBES
Al BE IR T P & IR R DA L B BB A o

BAE BT AN RE ZR AT 47 & B IRK BAIE
BB F—EMNEE  BRABLEEENEE -
At - HAWET TERRRTEREERME SRS
BA TS HRER IR B A B AR Rt & [ B 1) YA 7 AR B0 A2
Fr e RAIEZF (B RERIE T I FEMAITH
BF)NERSBMYHEMGEVBRRNETERL
PRMHERE -

consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

FARESEE

Estimation of fair values of investment properties

REMELFEEMSE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s investment properties
measured at fair value amounted to approximately HK$121
million, with the corresponding fair value changes recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The valuation process
is inherently subjective, and dependent on estimation of adjusted
unit price. The Group has engaged independent valuers to value
certain investment properties at the end of the reporting period.

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and
disclosures about fair values of investment properties are included
in notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

RZZE-_RAFE=ZA=+—H0  BEERLATFEEFENEEY
¥#%9/5121,000,000%8 7T - MABEAFEEBEZSNGAERZERAN

R HERFASEGEIEM  WAKBGHTECARENE
%o BEBCZEBUHEMRRSHEERBEAE TIREY
EEITHE -

FEGFHE REFTAREBREVMELAFEENREINGSE
B 5 R M3 13 o
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANETTNAEERRETEE

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent valuers engaged by the Group. We also
obtained valuation reports prepared by the independent valuers,
understood the work of the independent valuers and evaluated
its work by assessing the relevance, completeness and accuracy
of the data used as inputs for the valuation, and assessing the
major assumptions and methodologies adopted in the valuation
by checking to the price of similar properties. We also involved
our internal valuation experts to assist us in evaluating the major
assumptions and methodologies of the valuation of certain
investment properties held by the Group.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BARETEE

Provision against inventories

FERE

As at 31 March 2025, the net inventory balance of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$97 million.

The Group is engaged in the marketing and distribution of
electronic components and the design, development and sale
of consumer products, which are subject to changing market
demands and market competition. Management judgement is
required for assessing the appropriate level of inventory provision
in light of the current challenging business environment.

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and
disclosures of the provision against and the balance of inventories
are included in notes 3, 6 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

R-ZE-_AF=A=+—8"
97,000,000 7T °
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HARETEE@®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BPNEFTOMEERREETEE

We obtained an understanding of and evaluated the basis which
management used in estimating the level of provision against
inventories by considering the stock ageing as at 31 March 2025
and the subsequent sales after the year ended 31 March 2025.
We also compared the carrying amount of the inventories, on a
sampling basis, to their net realisable value through review of sales
of the inventories subsequent to the year end.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B A2 EN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BAEETEE

Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

FEU B 5 AR R B A FE W RO R E R

As at 31 March 2025, the Group recorded gross trade and other
receivables of approximately HK$73 million and HK$5 million,
respectively, and accumulated provision for impairment of
approximately HK$53 million and HK$3 million, respectively.

The provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
estimated by management through the application of judgement
and use of highly subjective assumptions, including the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, identification of loss stages,
estimates of probability of default, loss given default, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

Management engaged an independent valuer to value certain
impairment of trade and other receivables assessment at the end
of the reporting period.

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and
disclosures of the trade and other receivables and their provision
for impairment are included in notes 3, 6, 18, 21 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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HARETEE@®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BPNEFTOMEERREETEE

We enquired management of the Group to understand the
Group's process for estimating the provision for impairment of
trade and other receivables. We evaluated the methodologies,
inputs and assumptions, including judgement made by the
management of the Group in identifying credit-impaired trade
and other receivables, used by the Group in calculating the
impairment. We also assessed the provision for impairment of
trade and other receivables by checking to the debtors’ ageing
analysis, settlement record, history of bad debt and available
forward-looking information.

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent valuer engaged by the Group. We have also obtained
valuation reports prepared by the independent valuer, understood
the work of the independent valuer and evaluated its work by
assessing the relevance, completeness and accuracy of the data
used as inputs for the valuation. We also involved our internal
valuation experts to assist us in evaluating the major assumptions
and methodologies of the valuation of certain impairment of trade
and other receivables.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Ki Wing Yee, Winnie (practising certificate number: P04736).

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

meEEmR

VYear ended 31 March 2025 HEZ=—T-RAF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—ECRE —EEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FET FAET
REVENUE g 5 1,189,997 984,294
Cost of sales SHEM A (1,176,827) (947,965)
Gross profit EF 13,170 36,329
Other income and gains E A A Rz 5 10,642 12,604
Changes in fair value of REMENTEEZE
investment properties 13 (8,740) (10,825)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (28,742) (25,382)
Administrative expenses 1T E H (68,743) (61,432)
Impairment of financial assets, net CHMEEZRME  FE 6 (11,693) (18,234)
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets & BIBwHIEAFEEYIRZ
at fair value through profit or loss, net SHEEZATERE
Wzt (B18) @ F8 2,843 (5.831)
Other expenses, net HMBA - F5 6 (6,001) (1,293)
Finance costs ELEEIBIN 7 (4,259) (3,038)
Share of profits and losses of: DGR R EE
Joint ventures AEDE 155,812 187,383
Associates /N (976) -
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R AR T 6 53,313 110,281
Income tax FTiSis 9 401 (1,118)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE RAREEAEGEFERRT
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 53,714 109,163
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AARBEEABEESRER
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 11
Basic AR HK5.91 cents HK12.01 cents
5.91784l 12.01784L
Diluted e HK5.91 cents HK12.01 cents

5.9 1784

12.0151L
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FEZEmBARK

Year ended 31 March 2025 HE=—T-RF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—ECRE —EZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREA 53,714 109,163
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hit2HEEER
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified AEEBHEAJEEET D BE BT E
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: 2T A8
Exchange differences on translation of foreign REGINERREE BN ERE
operations (1,904) (3,905)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS THAT REZHETEEN P EEEEE
MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR fE2EEERFAEMEEES
LOSS IN SUBSEQUENT PERIODS AND HBRELE
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (1,904) (3,905)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR AABHEEABLEFAZEIBALLE
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY 51,810 105,258
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R IR R

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

2025 2024
—ECRE —EEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=S FHT FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB REEAR
and right-of-use assets EREEE 12 32,947 33,367
Investment properties LA 13 121,118 130,091
Goodwill EES 15 -
Other intangible assets ,H\ﬁﬂ,ﬂ%ﬁfﬁqﬁ 16 2,808 3,055
Investments in joint ventures NEEREZIRE 17 1,524,514 1,451,801
Investments in associates E’\Hﬁ?‘%ﬁ@ RIZIRE 18 371 -
Financial assets at fair value through ERBERERATEBNERZS
profit or loss BhEE 19 28,064 27,126
Prepayments and deposits TBNFIERES 22 1,913 2,396
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 1,711,735 1,647,836
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 20 96,766 89,645
Trade receivables FEWCE AR 21 19,915 27,735
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEZUE - & R HAbfE
WoskE 22 9,316 26,048
Financial assets at fair value through BiRESEAFEBMERZ
profit or loss EREE 19 2,889 4,506
Cash and cash equivalents RekEFRREIER 23 58,967 76,345
Total current assets mEVEERE 187,853 224,279
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

I‘/T\

B IFIR LR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

2025 2024
—ECRE —EZF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
S=a FExT T
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables, deposits received and FERTE ZERN -
accrued expenses 24 70,543 57,586
Contract liabilities 25 2,374 1,892
Lease liabilities 14 15 119
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 26 31,998 36,111
Tax payable 1,822 2,893
Financial guarantee obligation MSERER 27 45,481 50,112
Total current liabilities 152,233 148,713
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 35,620 75,566
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #AEERAREBERE 1,747,355 1,723,402
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 14 - 15
Deferred tax liabilities 28 13,298 13,880
Total non-current liabilities ERB B ELRTE 13,298 13,895
Net assets 1,734,057 1,709,507
EQUITY
Issued capital 29 90,866 90,866
Reserves 1,643,191 1,618,641
Equity attributable to owners of the Company $“ﬂ§ﬁﬁ/\ﬁ§f‘ﬁ%ﬁ§ 1,734,057 1,709,507
Non-controlling interests - -
Total equity 1,734,057 1,709,507

So Kevin Chi Heng

wEE

Director

EZE

So Chi Sun Sunny
RELR
Director

BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEEASEIR

VYear ended 31 March 2025 HEZ=—T-RAF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRTERARLE
Share Asset  Exchange Non-
ssued — premium Capital Other  revaluation ~ fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital account reservet  resenve resene resenve profits*# Totdl  interests equity
Ereff  EXRD

BEMRE HEEER RARE  AMER WA B REEW®  BF FEREE  EREE

HK'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

Thn TR TR TEr  TEr TR TR TR TEr  TEn

At 1 Apnil 2023 \EZ=EmA-A 90866 429,719 19484 (38483) 38,765 743106282 1603916 9420 1613336

Profit forthe year EREH - - - - - - 109163 109163 - 109163

Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREpREER:

Bichange differences on translation of BEBN SRR ERZE

foreign operations - - - - - (3,909) - (3,905) - (3,905)

Total comprehensive incomelos) for the year ERemkL/ (BB)8E - - - - - 95 109163 10528 - 105238

Share options apsed of subsidiaies note 30) EARRERN( ﬁﬁ;ﬁo) - - - - - - 940 4) -

Dividend paic (note 10) BAfRE (k0 - - - - - - o) 0 -0

At 31 March 2024 RZBZRE=F=1-H 90866 429,719 19480 (38483 38765+ (3162% 1,172318* 1,709,507 - 1,709,507
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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l‘/T\

Year ended 31 March 2025 HE=—T-RF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREARL
Share Asset  Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  Capital Other revaluation fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
apital  account  reserve’  reserve  reserve®  reserve profits  Total interests equity
EREH  EXRE

BEIRE REEER RARE  HiER BR* BE  REERM  BE FBREE  RRUE

HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

Tér TEr T TEn  TEn  TER  TEr 0 TEr  TEn  TER

A1 April 2024 NZE-mERA-A 90866 429719 19484*  (38483) 38765+  (3162)* 1,172318* 1,709,507 - 1,709,507

Profit for the year ERiEH - - - - - - BM B - B
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREpREER:

Exchange differences on tranglaton of BEB SRR B 2R

foreign operations - - - - - (1,904) - (1,904) - (1,904)

Total comprehensive incomel(loss) for the year EnzERN/ (BR)EE - - - - - (1% mMa 51810 - 51810

Dividend paid (note 10) BARE F0) - - - - - - (a60) (21,260 - (2%0)

At 31 March 2025 Sy 90866 429719%  19484*  (38483) 38765+  (5066)* 1,198772% 1,734,057 - 1,734,057

###

Included in the balance of the capital reserve as at 31 March 2025 was a capital
redemption reserve balance amounting to approximately HK$16,142,000 (2024:
HK$16,142,000).

The asset revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from owner-occupied
properties to investment properties carried at fair value. In accordance with HKAS 16,
this balance was frozen and was not available to offset the current and future years’
revaluation deficits on investment properties until the retirement or disposal of these
assets.

As at 31 March 2025, there was goodwill of HK$12,427,000 (2024: HK$12,427,000)
arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years which remained eliminated
against the consolidated retained profits.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,643,191,000 (2024:
HK$1,618,641,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024.

##

H#ith

RIB-AF= A=t+— HZBRAREEGREERAREL
[#E#5824016,142,0008 70 (ZF Z U4 : 16,142,000%8
7o) e

AES[RHERESEANEREGESARATEEYIE
ZEEYE - REFERTENF165 - ZIARERRE
AR AR EHAFER AR FERENEZ BEHA -
BEEZSEERBESILERL -

RZZE-RAF=ZA=+—H8  BEUEFERENRNE QR M
EA 212,427,000 7T (ZZ Z U4 : 12,427,000/

7o) BB ERR A RERFE o
ZEFREREER _ZE_AF=A=+—HBHEEUB
MRKRAZ 7 EFEF1,643,191, ooo/%m(f it S
1,618,641,000757T)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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VYear ended 31 March 2025 HEZ=—T-RAF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—EC-hF —EomE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(i3 BT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHMERERE
Profit before tax B B3¢ Al A 53,313 110,281
Adjustments for: FATIEEEHRE
Finance costs BE KA 7 4,259 3,038
Share of profits of joint ventures DMERE R (155,812) (187,383)
Share of losses of associates DIEEE A REE 976 -
Depreciation of items of property, plant and mE - BEREEEENE
equipment 6 912 677
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEENE 6 864 1,197
Changes in fair value of investment properties BREMFENTFEEZE 13 8,740 10,825
Impairment of other intangible assets HitEpEERE 6 247 430
Impairment of other receivables H it FEWGRIE 2 R E 6 2,902 11,819
Impairment of trade receivables, net JEWE S IR 2 FME 55 6 8,791 6,415
Provision/(reversal of provision) for impairment of FERERE/
inventories (BARm) 6 1,898 (367)
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant HEME  BERRHBEEEZ
and equipment gy 5,6 (80) (250)
Gain on derecognition of financial quarantee RIEERIBEREE 2 e
obligation 6 (65,735) (121,204)
Expense in relation to the financial guarantee AL AMBERE
utilised by joint ventures F BE R 6 65,735 121,204
Impairment of investments on associates NEE N R IR ERE 6 2,068
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets 3‘;}5?,\ SR FEBEIIRS
at fair value through profit or loss, net CHEENLTER
W), EiE - %R 6 (2,843) 5,831
Dividend income from listed equity investments ETRERE 2 RBA 5 - (50)
Bank interest income RITHEHA 5 (1,537) (1,977)
Interest income on listed bond investments ETEREE ZF BWA 5 2) @)
Interest income from a loan to an associate REFT-BBEARZERLZ
FEHA 5 - (444)
Interest income from other receivables HipEUGRIE Z FIEBA 5 (103) (1,670)
(75,407) (41,635)
Increase in inventories FEEM (9,018) (73,477)
Increase in trade receivables FEUE SBRFIE N (3,939) (25,351)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits FRRE - Be REMERIE
and other receivables ViR 14,322 10,038
Increase in trade payables, deposits received ERE ZERN - BUdEe RER
and accrued expenses &R 13,033 35,365
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities adaEEn,/ (Bd) 484 (1,454)
Cash used in operations KERARSE (60,525) (96,514)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Iﬁﬁ/)lbi%‘%

an\
Year ended 31 March 2025 HE=—T-RF=A=+—HILFE
2025 2024
—E-REE —EZEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BiEE TR FHET
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through BEABBREATEEBIIERZ
profit or loss SRIEE (563) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value HEBBE@EAFEENERZ
through profit or loss SREENERIE 2,122 -
Dividend income received from a joint venture Bli—Me **/JL\%ZHQ BIA 78,671 62,937
Overseas taxes paid EREIMIIE (1,252) (298)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities g EEmE,/ (FA)
ZREenEFHE 18,453 (33,875)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHB2REESRE
Bank interest received BUERITHIE 1,537 1,977
Dividends received from listed equity investments Bl E iR AR R - 50
Interest income on listed bond investments EmEHFREZHEHA 2 7
Interest income from other receivables Hofrh U RRIE 2 RIS A 103 1,670
Purchases of investment properties REREME 13 - (18,024)
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment BB E#% - BEKREEE 12 (1,341) (738)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME  BERRXEERE 2
plant and equipment FrfS50Ia 80 250
Investment in an associate R—EBE QR ZRE (415) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities BEFZBMACREREFE (34) (14,808)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMETDFEZRERE
Net (decrease)/increase in import and trust receipt #OREFEBEER D)/
loans I 32 (4,148) 16,951
Interest paid ERFE 32 (4,247) (3,018)
Interest portion of lease payments MERNHHE % i) 32 (12) (20)
Principal portion of lease payments MENRAEEHH 32 (119) (327)
Dividends paid RS 10 (27,260) (9,087)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities BEEH(FR), Bz
ReneFsE (35,786) 4,499
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERERREBE RS EH
EQUIVALENTS (17,367) (44,184)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year imziﬁi&:ﬂfﬁﬁlﬁ B 76,345 121,371
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEE s P28 FHE (11 (842)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR & 2HE&RERRLER 58,967 76,345
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH RERERAEEB BRI DT
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the /\Eﬁ‘kﬂﬁ)ﬁ%&
consolidated statement of financial position and RARERERAME L
in the consolidated statement of cash flows ReMERELER 23 58,967 76,345
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 March 2025 —T-RF=A=1+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

AV Concept Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office
address of the Company is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business
is located at 6th Floor, Enterprise Square Three, 39 Wang Chiu Road,

Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was engaged in the following principal

activities:
° Marketing and distribution of electronic components;
° Design, development and sale of consumer products and product

sourcing services; and

° Venture capital investment

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

RAREBER

AV Concept Holdings Limited ([ANAA]]) AR H

EREFMKLZERAR o ANA A Z

S EEHUEAP.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand

Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands * & E 2

EEMBBIUNEBNEERREIGREER
= Hi6HE -

FA - AEEREATEERE

o EFMzTISHERDE

o  HENMEMZE  RABELEEUNRER

KBRS - &
o RIEEE-
ERMEARZER

AARZEEMBRRFTAT -

Place of Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
R ERTEER
B /MR /MR ARFEEREEA L TEER
Direct Indirect
B Gk
AV Concept Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Investment holding
FBITBRAR EE 2B REER
HK$1,000,000°
1,000,000/ 7C°
AV Concept Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore SGD4,000,000 - 100  Trading of electronic
EIbs 4,000,000 A1 7T components
BEEE it
AV Electronics Group Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$40,000 100 - Investment holding
Hong Kong 40,000% 7T REER
RERIHE,/BE
E-GoGo Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100  Trading of consumer
5 BT products and
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of Issued ordinary/

PAIREEER @

FENBLATRZER @

Percentage of

incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL ERTEER
L /EMREE LS /BB ARREEREE AL TBEHR
Direct Indirect
HE B3
Signeo Design International Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Design, development
E0 100787T and sale of consumer
products
Fit ABRHEEE
BED
AVC Technology (International) Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Trading of electronic
BRE (BB BRAF E0 7T components and
consumer products
BEEF I RES
Em
New Concept Capital Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100 - Investment holding
("New Concept”)* Hong Kong v and venture capital
EBERHS /A% investment
REZRREIFRE
830 Lab Limited Hong Kong HK$710,000 - 100 Online advertising
6 710,000 7T services and provision
of event organisation
services
B EEERBRRME
IR
e Represents deferred shares issued by AV Concept Limited BEBITARARBITZIELER G
# New Concept is a venture capital organisation # New Concept /3 — A& A8 4

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

106

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and investment properties which have been measured at
fair value. These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

AV Concept Holdings Limited - Annual Report 2025 3R

2.

SRTEE

2.1

AR

KR EMBRRIREBER SN AERE
2 ZAYBIwEE S ER (B3
BEBWHWEER  BAGEA (&
BEIEL) KRB REB ARG Z
BERERE - REBRSIZAFEES
B emMEERRATEEAEZREY
EO - ANR AR TERERTHIRIE L A E )
R - DR EMBBIWRTIABT (BT

275 ME=EHBEIN - FAEBETIE
BEREIZ T8 -

REREEE
HARBHRREBARAREMB R
AGEIAREDHE_FT_hF=H
=T RUEFEZMBERE - WEBRRA
ARREESREEEG 2 B (BIEEE
HEE) - EAKEN2ERRECEE
EAERERESITE DB R HRIRE
eERTEEN BIREERE THRARE
AEB T ECEMEREE 2 BEFRERN)
FEZERIRET - BVEUSZESIE -

BANREEAEEEG O HIRERE
RZ B ZESBLERNR - NREERF
HERELHEHRRECE R IES
BE—YIHEEERER B

@) HERRECEHEMKREERAAZ
BRIRHE

(b) EALEKIRBEPTES ZERN - &

i)

@ AEBEZRERIBERERE -

B A R B AR R 2 BA TS R 2 3R e AR
R WA B G BERRE - M/
NAZFAE AR B ARSI 2 B AR
BAR WHERA AR - BT
BIEZBRIE -

BRMEMEEBRASERD @HERAS
B AREA AN - B AR
GBI R MR A SRR o B
AEBEKERRIRETZRZEMZAE
SENBEENRERE  #Exm - WA Xk
RenEntiraikE 2B -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting

Standards for the first time for the current year’s consolidated

financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

(@  Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group
has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

e B RS Rk MR
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HEBBEZH
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@
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 March 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the
Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING

2.3

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these consolidated financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18
HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures®

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability!

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2.

110

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

24

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
upon initial application. So far, the Group considered that these
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards are unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Group'’s financial performance
and financial position.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group's share of
the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income
of associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture,
the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence
or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.
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2.

112

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an
asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole:

Level 1T - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 2 -

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy
by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an non-financial asset is required
(other than inventories and investment properties), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;
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116

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b)  (continued)
(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(viij a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) an entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:
Land and buildings 2% - 3%
Leasehold improvements 20% - 33'5%
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 20% —-33'5%
Motor vehicles 20%
Plant and machinery 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually
to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment
from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Club memberships

The Group’s club memberships with finite lives are stated at
cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on an individual basis. The Group’s club
memberships with indefinite useful lives are stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment loss.

Trademarks and customer relationships

Trademarks and customer relationships are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of five years.

Mobile application

Mobile application is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life of five years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

(@  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Land 50 years
Buildings 2 to 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful lives of the asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group
and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in other income in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as other
income in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as other
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

122

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage2 -

Stage3 -  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, deposits
received, financial liabilities included in accrued expenses,
lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank borrowings and financial
guarantee obligation.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade payables and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade payables and interest-bearing
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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2.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out
in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and
includes all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Net
realisable value is based on the estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within
three months that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is included
in finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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2.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when the
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@)  Sale of products
Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the products.

(b)  Provision of services
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised at the
point in time when the services have been rendered.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Share-based payments

One of its subsidiaries operate share option schemes. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expenses, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.
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130

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme,
except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions,
which are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China and Singapore are required to participate in
pension schemes operated by the respective local municipal
governments. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the pension schemes.
The contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the pension schemes.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorization for issue, about conditions
that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess
whether the information affects the amounts that it recognizes
in its financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts
recognised in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting
events after the reporting period and update the disclosures that
relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For
non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will
not change the amounts recognised in its financial statements,
but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an
estimate.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of associate
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the
extent that the differences are attributable to non-controlling
interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets
held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
If these portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under
a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the
portions could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not
qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of sources,
including:

(@  current prices in an active market for properties of a different
nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those
differences; and

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions since
the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 March 2025 was
HK$121,118,000 (2024: HK$130,091,000). Further details, including
the key assumptions used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity
analysis, are given in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group makes impairment provision for trade receivables and
other receivables based on assessments of the recoverability of these
receivables. Impairment provision is made for these receivables where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. The identification of doubtful debts requires the use
of judgement and estimates, including the current creditworthiness,
the past collection history of each debtor, identification of loss stages,
estimates of probability of default, loss given rate and forward-looking
information. Where the expectation on the recoverability of these
receivables is different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of these receivables and impairment provision
in the periods in which such estimate has been changed. The aggregate
carrying amounts of trade receivables and other receivables as at
31 March 2025 were HK$19,915,000 (2024: HK$27,735,000) and
HK$1,818,000 (2024: HK$17,652,000), respectively.

Provision against inventories

The Group’s management reviews the inventory ageing analysis
periodically, and makes allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale. The
Group carries out an inventory review on a product-by-product basis
at the end of each reporting period and makes allowance for obsolete
and slow-moving items through management’s estimation of the
net realisable value for such obsolete and slow-moving items based
primarily on the latest invoice prices, sales quantity and current market
conditions. The aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s inventories as
at 31 March 2025 was HK$96,766,000 (2024: HK$89,645,000).
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(@  the semiconductor distribution segment engages in the sale and
distribution of electronic components;

(b)  the consumer product and product sourcing business segment
engages in the design, development and sale of consumer
products and product sourcing services;

(c)  the venture capital segment engages in the investments in listed/
unlisted equity and debt investments with an ultimate objective
of obtaining capital gains on investee’s equity listing or, in some
circumstances, prior to listing. It also includes investments in
managed funds, convertible bonds and listed bonds; and

(d)  the others segment mainly comprises the Group’s internet social
media business.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted
profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group's profit before tax except that bank interest
income, interest income from a loan to an associate, interest income
from other receivables, rental income, share of profits and losses of
joint ventures and associates, impairment of investments in associates,
gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, impairment
of other intangible assets, impairment of other receivables, changes
in fair value of investment properties, finance costs and unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude investment properties, investments in
joint ventures and associates, balances with associates included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, tax recoverable, cash and
cash equivalents and other unallocated head office and corporate assets
as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax liabilities, lease
liabilities, interest-bearing bank borrowings, financial guarantee
obligation and other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the

selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS Rk MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. K& 5 IBER @
Consumer
product and
Semiconductor product sourcing Venture
distribution business capital Others Total
HEEER
RER
YEREAIH RBER fIR Hit H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TER T T FiEx
Year ended 31 March 2025 BZE-E-Rf=R=1-H
LFE
Segment revenue AHE
Sales to external customers MSNRBE S 1,146,221 43,340 - 436 1,189,997
Other revenue Hftliza - - 2,989 - 2,989
Total st 1,146,221 43,340 2,989 436 1,192,986
Recondiliation: -
Less: Other revenue (note) A Bl (3T) (2,989)
Revenue as presented in the NEEBREZ &
consolidated statement of
profit or loss 1,189,997
Segment results PBEE (20,647) (33,579) (1,572) (170) (55,968)
Recondiliation: -
Bank interest income SRITHIBHA 1,537
Interest income from other HiERFIEZ I BMA
receivables 103
Rental income HelA 5419
Share of profits of joint ventures HMEEELFE 155,812
Share of losses of associates HMEBENFEE (976)
Impairment of investments in REERRZRERE
associates (2,068)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE « BRELFXEEEZ
plant and equipment Wi 80
Impairment of other intangible assets £t &R EE 2 RfE (247)
Impairment of other receivables Hi A RE (2.902)
Changes in fair value of investment ~ ENEATEEZE
properties (8,740)
Unallocated expenses KAERZ (34,478)
Finance costs BERKA (4,259)
Profit before tax BRBRDR R 53,313
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R B RS R YR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. &Z 3 TER @
Consumer
product and
Semiconductor  product sourcing Venture
distribution business capital Others Total
HEEEM
REm
FEENH REER g% i st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL FAL AL AL
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-T-mE=A=1-H
IHFE
Segment revenue 2HE
Sales to external customers FSNLER 937,283 46,685 - 326 984,294
Other losses 2 - - (5,662) - (5,662)
Total KoY 937,283 46,685 (5,662) 326 978,362
Recondiliation: -
Add: Other losses (note) o EEsiE O 5,662
Revenue as presented in the NEEBREZ 2 E
consolidated statement of
profit or loss 984,294
Segment results APEE 8,768 (27,594) (11,373) (1,068) (31,267)
Recondiliation: -
Bank interest income SRITHRIEMA 1,977
Interest income from a loan to an RET-REBEARZERL
associate FIBIA 444
Interest income from other receivables E A& FIE 2 FI S MA 1,670
Rental income BEWA 5,552
Share of profits of joint ventures HMEEELFET 187,383
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE « BRELFXEEEZ
plant and equipment Wi 250
Impairment of other intangible assets Kt &R A 2 RfE (430)
Impairment of other receivables At IE 2 RE (11,819)
Changes in fair value of investment ~ ENEATFEEZE
properties (10,825)
Unallocated expenses KAERZ (29,616)
Finance costs BEKA (3,038)
Profit before tax BRBRD R R 110,281
Note: Other revenue/(losses) in segment revenue were classified as other income and MisE © pEfl ARz Efblies /(BB Do ALEAR

gains, and fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss, net, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS Rk MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. K& 5 IBER @
Consumer
product and
product
Semiconductor sourcing Venture
distribution business capital Others Total
HEEER
RER
YRR RREH b Htt @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL TAT TATL TAT TAT
31 March 2025 “E-EF=A=1-H
Segment assets AHEE 664,058 15,707 4,798 2,160 686,723
Recondillation: -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 85 7 i fEdZUR (505,995)
Investments in joint ventures REEREIRE 1,524,514
Investments in associates REERAR RE 37N
Corporate and other unallocated assets AR EMALEEE 193,975
Total assets BESE 1,899,588
Segment liabilities AHEE 90,920 303,021 123,482 88,374 605,797
Recondilation: -
Elimination of intersegment payables  #L5D EifER FUA (505,995)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities AR EMALEEE 65,729
Total liabilties afEaeE 165,531
31 March 2024 ZECME=A=t-H
Segment assets AHEE 626,216 13,204 5,632 2,554 647,696
Recondillation: -
Elimination of intersegment receivables #8572 iU ZUA (462,881)
Investments in joint ventures REEREIRE 1,451,801
Corporate and other unallocated assets AR EMALFEE 235,499
Total assets BESE 1,872,115
Segment liabilities 2HaE 82,781 255,943 130,324 83,548 552,596
Recondilation: -
Elimination of intersegment payables  # 5D EIRER FUA (462,881)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities AR EMALEEE 72,893
Total liabilities BERE 162,608
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. #&& 5 IBER @
Other segment information: Hib o HMEHR :
Consumer
product and
Semiconductor  product sourcing Venture
distribution business capital Others Total
HEEREM
RER
YERAH LR AR Hit @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TET FET TR
Year ended 31 March 2025 BZ-Z-RF=A=1-H
I35
Depreciation of items of property, plant 1% - BELRAEERFE
and equipment 563 - 349 - 912
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 864 - - - 864
Provision for impairment of inventories 175 2 H{ERE 1.714 184 - - 1,898
Impairment of trade receivables, net JEUE ZEET 7 HME 25 - 8,791 - - 8,791
Capital expenditure* BRRY* n - 1,269 - 1,341
Year ended 31 March 2024 (Z2-F-MF=A=1+-AH
JlE:35
Depreciation of items of property, plant ~ #1% « BEMREBENE
and equipment 525 - 152 - 677
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERELENE 968 - 229 - 1,197
Reversal of provision for impairmentof ~ F& 2 /ER &
inventories - (367) - - (367)
Impairment of trade receivables, net ERBSERRE  F8 - 6,415 - - 6,415
Capital expenditure* BRFER 184 - 554 - 738
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment. * BAELBIERNRBYE - BENLHZE
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information
(@) Revenue from external customers

REAIER @
tEE R
(a) RENREEZWE

2025 2024

—E-RE —E-MEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Hong Kong BE 43,776 47,011
Mainland China B (it 7.398 1,858
Singapore Frons 1,138,823 935,425
1,189,997 984,294

The revenue information above is based on the locations in which

the sales originated.

(b) Non-current assets

L EERTRIEHEELM AL S

e

(b) FRBEE

2025 2024

—E-REF —EomE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT FAT

Hong Kong B 1,556,874 1,484,483
Mainland China B 71,056 79,109
Singapore Frns 53,457 54,722
Other HAb 371 -
1,681,758 1,618,314

The non-current assets information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments,
prepayments and deposits.

Information about major customers
Revenue from each of the major customers, which amounted to 10%
or more of the total revenue, is set out below:

HiIERBEEE R EEMEIATE
ERTEReRTA  BNFERESD -

ERFEEF2ER
KASEERF ((halkzE10% A 1) Bk
YT

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-E

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Customer A ZFEA 276,231 117,571
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Uz~ At A K Rz
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: W ~ HtWA R ez 9T
2025 2024
—E-RE —E U4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Revenue from contracts with customers ke &
Semiconductor distribution FHEHH 1,146,221 937,283
Consumer product sales and product HEBMEEMEE RNELKBEES
sourcing business 43,340 46,685
Others Hit 436 326
1,189,997 984,294
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) WRERHH
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_Z-RAF=A=+—-HILEE
Consumer
product and
product
Semiconductor sourcing
Segments distribution business Others Total
HEEERR
ik YERIH EmRBER Htt @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn ThRL THERL TARL
Total revenue from contracts with customers RERPENZYNHER 1,146,221 43,340 436 1,189,997
Geographical markets HEME
Hong Kong Y - 43,340 436 43,776
Mainland China RE R 7,398 - - 7,398
Singapore G 1,138,823 - - 1,138,823
Total revenue from contracts with customers REEPENZNHER 1,146,221 43,340 436 1,189,997
Timing of revenue recognition KERANEE
Transferred at a point in time REEEEHES 1,146,221 43,340 436 1,189,997
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

0]

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

5. W -

Wess

e B RS Rk MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

Hag A R W @)
HAEA R T HATIT © ()

REFFEH WG @)

(0]

W 35 B R B A ()

HE-_Z-_WNFZA=+—ALFE

Consumer
product and
product
Semiconductor sourcing
Segments distribution business Others Total
BERELR
Pk YEEAH EnREES Eth &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Titn T THr T
Total revenue from contracts with customers REEPAH 2 WaiER 937,283 46,685 326 984,294
Geographical markets HEMHS
Hong Kong BE - 46,685 326 47,011
Mainland China HE A, 1,858 - - 1,858
Singapore g 935,425 - - 935,425
Total revenue from contracts with customers REEPAH 2 WaER 937,283 46,685 326 984,294
Timing of revenue recognition W B R R
Transferred at a point in time REERRESER 937,283 46,685 326 984,294

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in
the current reporting period that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

TRIINARE AR 2 WE
(BERIABREHVAHNER)

2025 2024
—E-RE =Sl 1t
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Revenue recognised that was included in R ARERTER
contract liabilities at the beginning of BEPHWE
the reporting period:
Sale of products HEEM 862 2,302
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
goods and payment is generally due within 30 to 45 days of
issuance, except for well-established customers, where the terms
are extended to over 60 days.

Provision of services

The performance obligation is satisfied when the services are
rendered and payment is generally due within 30 to 45 days of
issuance, except for well-established customers, where the terms
are extended to over 60 days.

As a practical expedient, the transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) are not disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements because all the remaining performance
obligations in relation to the sale of products are a part of
contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or
less.

5.

Yz ~ WA R R E @

ook~ Ep A RIS STET ¢ ()

KEEFEHNZ2WE @

(i) BREEF
AEEBHETERERMT -

HEE
BHAETERXNEMBERNNFBETE
FHR30EAS KRG - IEEBRIFH
EPESN - EHIREREBIBO0X -

TR

BRI EEBEIRHE RIS ENK RN FOREE
HR30EAS KA - HEEERIFH
EPESN  EHIREREBBO0X

ERAITRE.  "REEHRTENEE
(RER AR RZRK) MR S BRI AR
REMIEMRMENRKE - TIEMAA EH
EERAANBR TEROEETRRETHR
B—FRAREBLH—F -

Other income and gains HAWA K Y s
2025 2024
—E-RE —EO4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Bank interest income IRITHBUA 1,537 1,977
Interest income on listed bond investments EEHEE ZFEMRA 2 7
Interest income from a loan to an associate RHT—EEE AR ZER T WA - 444
Interest income from other receivables Eo A R GRIE 2 FI BULA 103 1,670
Dividend income from listed equity investments — _EFRRAIRE 7 B BUA - 50

Gain on disposal of items of property, plantand HE&EWE - BiREMEEER 2 K

equipment 80 250
Rental income HalwA 5,419 5,552
Foreign exchange differences, net PEN =% 558 2,972 1,189
Others Hh 529 1,465
10,642 12,604
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6.
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

e B RS Rk MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

BRBL AR
NEEZ BRFAER 5%, GEA) LT & E
1BiER

2025 2024
—EC-HE —ZTE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BEE FERT FHT
Cost of inventories sold* SHE R AR 1,174,898 948,328
Provision/(reversal of provision) for FEZRERRE (EERE)
impairment of inventories* 1,898 (367)
Depreciation of items of property, W - BEREEBETE
plant and equipment 12 912 677
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 12 864 1,197
Lease payment not included in the Rt AHEBBEZENHENK
measurement of lease liabilities 14 1,633 1,503
Auditor’s remuneration ZERNEN S 2,175 2,175
Staff costs (including director’s remuneration - 8 TR (BIEEE=M ¢
note 8): —KizEs) -
Wages, salaries and other allowances Ié“ e REAER, 49,375 42,382
Pension scheme contributions** RIREE IR~ 2,096 1,782
51,471 44,164
Impairment of financial assets, net: TREERE T
Impairment of other receivables H M RIE 2R E 22 2,902 11,819
Impairment of trade receivables, net f’%”ﬁlf’f%ﬁﬁrykz/ﬁ@ FEE 21 8,791 6,415
Total st 11,693 18,234
Other expenses, net: HMER - 5
Impairment of investments on associates REEE AR ZIRERE 18 2,068 -
Impairment of other intangible assets Hiv @\ EERE 16 247 430
Expense in relation to the financial guarantee B34 & EMB B SIERE
utilised by joint ventures oE=§! 65,735 121,204
Gain on derecognition of financial guarantee ~ BUHHERIISIERE T2 s
obligation (65,735) (121,204)
Others Ht 3,686 863
Total st 6,001 1,293
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at BiBEE T§Q$Fﬁ§lJﬁEZ$rﬂ§
fair value through profit or loss, net EZATEE M), B -3
5} (2,843) 5,831
Foreign exchange differences, net PEHER  FE (2,972) (1,189)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE -« BFEREHES 2iH
plant and equipment (80) (250)
Direct operating expenses (including repairs WHRREMFEFEE BELE
and maintenance) arising on rental-earning M (BE#ERIRE)
investment properties 801 712

* These balances are included in “Cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

*x There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

* ZERBBIAFABERZ [HEKAE] -

o WERORMWZ R AT HASEEREEAREE
REHEFKE -
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

7.

146

FINANCE COSTS 7. EERAK

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEKRRZ AT
2025 2024
—E-RE —EpUE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIERZF B 4,247 3,018
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14) HEaEFE FIFE14) 12 20
4,259 3,038

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST 8.

PAID EMPLOYEES

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing
Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

ESFRAUFMES ZES

EEHM

RIELETRA - BERBRDIE383(1)(a)
(b) ~ (O RDERAR (WEEENEER) R

F2RHBE 2 FRNEEHINT -

2025 2024

—E-HF —EE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Fees we 450 424

Other emoluments: Hibiie -

Salaries, housing and other allowances, e BERAEMERIA

and benefits in kind REMF = 20,380 16,367

Pension scheme contributions RIREET R 751 751

21,131 17,118

21,581 17,542
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST 8. EEHMRANVEMESZES
PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Directors’ remuneration (continued)

(a)

(b)

Independent Non-executive Directors
The fees paid to Independent Non-executive Directors during the
year are as follows:

(&)

EEHMW @

(a) BIUFHITES
FAXMNFEULIFRTESZRESMT

2025 2024
—E-RE —EPU4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Dr. Lui Ming Wah, pPhD, SBS, JP S RAEES L - PhD - SBS - AT L 150 150
Mr. Lai Yat Hung Edmund R IBS & 150 150
Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping* BRES R T 2+ 150 36
Mr. Charles Edward Chapman* Charles Edward Chapman?t 4 * - 88
450 424
* Mr. Charles Edward Chapman passed away on 1 November 2023. He * Charles Edward Chapmanft £ =T = =F +—
ceased to be as an Independent Non-executive Director on 1 November A—BEtt - R _ZT-_=F+— A—B1EA
2023. BAUIFEHITES -
# Ms. Au-Yeung Kit Ping was appointed as an Independent Non-executive # SR TFZ TR - -_MFE-RARAELZEARE
Director on 5 January 2024. SLIEMITESE o
There were no other emoluments payable to the Independent FAWEEMEMEIFNTES 2HE (ZF
Non-executive Directors during the year (2024: Nil). TP M) o
Executive Directors (b) HITEE
Salaries,
housing and
other
allowances, Pension
and benefits scheme Total
in kind contributions remuneration
g2 -EER
HAZER R BIkS5E
BYRE = Eo Fb
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FAT
2025 —E-HE
Executive Directors: WITES
Dr. So Yuk Kwan FEaE L 13,100 405 13,505
Mr. So Kevin Chi Heng B ELEAE 4,169 191 4,360
Mr. So Chi Sun Sunny B A 3,111 155 3,266
20,380 751 21,131
2024 k= 110 S
Executive Directors: WITES
Dr. So Yuk Kwan w iRt 9,653 428 10,081
Mr. So Kevin Chi Heng B ELE 3,926 184 4,110
Mr. So Chi Sun Sunny BRE AL 2,788 139 2,927
16,367 751 17,118
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST 8.

PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Directors’ remuneration (continued)

(b) Executive Directors (continued)
There was no other arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2024: Nil).

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2024:
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out above.
Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2024: two) highest
paid employees for the year are as follows:

EEFMROLuFMEE 2ER
()
EEHMH )
(b) BITEE@
R BT AREENERREHRE
(EMTHI 2 E bz (B : f8) -

TfuFMss RS

FA- fuFE=s cBEEE=L (=T —-N
FZEF  EHMFEENLEX - FRE
B (CE-F : M) FMaE2EEZ
BT

2025 2024

—E-RE —E-MF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHxT FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e B EEYAE 4,184 3,885
Pension schemes contribution RIREET B 233 221
4,417 4,106

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

TN TFUATHERzFE=IEESREZA
E g N

Number of employees

EBEAH”
2025 2024
—EC-RE —E N4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 21,500,000 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 77T % 2,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T 1 1
2 2
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

INCOME TAX 9. FSH

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group EEIE’\ZKEIE/\EWLT'EEEE%FEEHV%&
did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during wA I EEHRE AN EREE (T
the year (2024: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been F:Mm) e Emﬂﬂliﬁgn%/%/mf‘Jzifﬁlﬁﬂhz$%

calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the B E X BMERAERER ZBERE
Group operates.
2025 2024
—E-RE —E N
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Current — Elsewhere BVER — Eofth 3=
Charge for the year FAXZH 181 1,650
Deferred (note 28) & (Pff5E28) (582) (532)
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year FRARIBEER) 45 (401) 1,118

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at
the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax (credit)/charge at the

RAARRREAED KB R A EMELEE R
ZEEREFE 2 BB ADEFEM 2 HEMX
HREENERFEHEMER), X2 HER

effective tax rate is as follows: W
2025 2024
—E-_RE TN
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Profit before tax BRA% A& A 53,313 110,281
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% (2024: HAEME16.5% (ZF —04F : 16.5%)

16.5%) B IE 8,797 18,196
Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions ﬁﬁﬁ AERERRERER  ZE 519 132
Profits and losses attributable to joint ventures e YNE VNI

and associates i A N B 1B (25,548) (30,918)
Income not subject to tax HAEFBRUA (1,182) (1,326)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR R S 3,582 6,352
Tax losses not recognised RIER 2 FIEEE 14,181 9,469
Others Hh (750) (787)
Tax (credit)/charge for the year FAREHESR) ZH (401) 1,118

The share of tax attributable to joint ventures amounting to

HK$23,158,000 (2024: HK$28,024,000) is included in
profits and losses of joint ventures and associates”

statement of profit or loss.

“Share of
in the consolidated

DEEEE Z EIEFTEA23,158,000%8 T (=

T P4 : 28,024,000/ 7T)

AECERBERT

mERRZ [0
Bl e

BFrALREIE

/ﬁnjﬁljﬁgﬁ
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R B RS R YR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

10. DIVIDENDS 10. ®E
Dividends recognised as distribution during the year: FAERBDIR IS -
2025 2024
—E-RE —E N4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
2025 - Interim — HK$0.01 (2024 nil) CECRF-FH-GRERR.0ETT
per ordinary share (ZZ U« 48) 9,087 -
2024 - Final — HK$0.02 (2024: 2023 final B UE - RE - FRCE EAR0.028
dividend HK$0.01) per ordinary share T(ZZENE  —E - =FREKE
0.0177T) 18,173 9,087
27,260 9,087

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2025 of HK$0.01 (2024: final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2024 of HK$0.02) per
share has been proposed by the directors and subject to approval by
the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based on
the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company, and the
number of ordinary shares of 908,663,302 (2024: 908,663,302) in issue
during the year.

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue for the
current year.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, a subsidiary of the Group issued
share option to its employees and directors. No adjustment had been
made to the Company’s basic earnings per share amounts presented
for the year ended 31 March 2024 in respect of these share options
issued by the Company’s subsidiary as they had an antidilutive effect on
the basic earnings per share amounts presented.
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BRI EERR ARG LHUAERR - TTAIEE -

RRAHEBANBEEBREF

EREABFECEIRIBEARREE AEEE
i A & F B 3577 E @R 2 H 908,663,3020%
(ZZ =Py : 908,663,302/ 51 & -

RAFE  ARBYEBEHBECRHITER

B e
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12.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS Rk MR

31 March 2025 —E-RF=A=+—H

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 1. XRATEBABLBRER @
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on: BRERREERFIRBEATEIERAE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EME
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHETT
Earnings B
Profit attributable to owners of the Company, AU ESRERREESRN 2
used in the basic and diluted earnings RAREE AEERT
per share calculation 53,714 109,163
Number of shares
RAEE
2025 2024
—EBE-RE —E U4
Shares gy
Number of ordinary shares in issue during RUFTESRERNREESRT 2
the year used in the basic and diluted earnings ~ FRAEX/TEBREA
per share calculation 908,663,302 908,663,302
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT- 12. ¥¥ - BMERREUREAREE

OF-USE ASSETS

2025 2024

—E-hF —B e

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

BaE FET FAET

Property, plant and equipment W - BERERE (a) 13,201 12,757
Right-of-use assets FREEE (b) 19,746 20,610
32,947 33,367
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R B RS R YR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(a) Property, plant and equipment

12. % BERRBURERAEEE

(&)

(a) W% MEKRE

Land and Furniture,
buildings fittings
Buildings (outside Leasehold and office Motor Plant and
(HongKong) ~ HongKong) ~improvements ~ equipment vehicles machinery Total
B®  iHEET HE G %ER
(BH) (FBUME) NEEE  BOERR AE BERES Rt
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Tén Tén Tén Tin iz TEn
31 March 2025 “ECREZAST-A
A1 Aprl 2024 RoB-MEME-R
Cost s 5,409 8,616 8511 5,685 7308 1,163 36,732
Accumulated depreciation and ZHTERAE
impairment (2,340) (303) (8,511) (4.957) (6,701) (1,163) (23,975)
Net carrying amount FHFE 3,069 8313 - 728 647 - 12,757
At 1 April 2024, net of accumulated X =FZEMA-R
depreciation and impairment NBEHTERAE 3,069 8313 - 728 647 - 12,757
Additions hE - - - n 1.269 - 134
Depreciation (note 6) & (o) (132) (202) - (230) (348) - (912)
Exchange realignment S - 4 - 11 - - 15
At 31 March 2025, net of accumulated #=F=HE=F=+-8"
depreciation and impairment MBEHTERAE 2937 8115 - 581 1,568 - 13,201
At 31 March 2025: R-$-EF=A=1-R:
Cost AR 5,409 8,619 8511 5,714 1m 1,163 36,693
Accumulated depreciation and ZHTERAE
impairment (2471) (504) (8,511) (5133) (5.710) (1,163) (23.492)
Net carrying amount FHFE 2938 8115 - 581 1,567 - 13,201
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e B RS Rk MR

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-

OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(a) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

31 March 2025 —E-RF=A=+—H

12. % BERRBURERAEEE

(&)

(a) ¥ - BERRE@

Land and Fumiture,
buildings fittings
Buildings (outside Leasehold and office Motor Plant and
(HongKong) ~ HongKong)  improvements equipment vehicles machinery Total
BF  HRET BE &R RER
(BR)  ERME) nEEE  BLERE A HRRES ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T Thn TEn T T
31 March 2024 “EME=R=t-H
At 1 April 2023: RZEZ=FMA-R:
Cost i 5409 8,791 8,511 5579 7679 1,163 37132
Accumulated depreciation and ZHTERAE
impairment (2,209 (113) (8511) (4,816) (7.434) (1163) (24,246)
Net carying amount e 3,200 8678 - 763 215 - 12,886
At 1 April 2023, net of acumulated  R=Z-=#MWF-A
depreciation and impairment ThEHERAE 3,200 8,678 - 763 215 - 12,886
Additions AE - - - 184 554 - 738
Depreciation (note 6) & (Hite) (131) (192) - (202 (152) - (677)
Exchange realignment AT - (173) - (1) - - (190)
At 31 March 2024, net of accumulated R=F-RE=A=+-8"
depreciation and impairment M2 AERRE 3,069 8313 - 78 647 - 12757
At 31 March 2024: RZZ-MF=A=1-8:
Cost i 5,409 8,016 8,511 5,685 7,348 1,163 36,732
Accumulated depreciation and ZHTERRE
impairment (2,340 (303) (8511) (4,957) (6,701) (1163) (23979)
Net carying amount e 3,069 8313 - 78 647 - 12757
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R B RS R YR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-

OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the

12.

ME - BERRBURCERAEEE

(b) EREEE

AEEEREEECRESENFNED

movements during the year are as follows: PN
Leasehold Motor
land vehicles Total
HELH# AE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHEIT
As at 1 April 2023 NZE-=FMA—H 21,475 332 21,807
Depreciation (note 6) & (Hf:6) (865) (332) (1,197)
As at 31 March 2024 and RZE-_MF=A=+—HBE=F

1 April 2024 “MEFEMA—H 20,610 - 20,610
Depreciation (note 6) IE (fi3x6) (864) - (864)
As at 31 March 2025 RZZE-RF=FA=+—H 19,746 - 19,746

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s management identified certain
subsidiaries which continued to sustain losses and estimated
corresponding recoverable amounts of their property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets. Based on these estimates,
no impairment loss (2024: Nil) was recognised to write down
the carrying amounts of these items of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to their recoverable amounts
as at 31 March 2025. The recoverable amounts were determined
based on value-in-use calculations using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering the remaining useful lives of
the respective items of property, plant and equipment and the
remaining lease terms of the respective right-of-use assets.
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13.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS Rk MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWME

2025 2024

ZECRHF —EoE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Carrying amount at beginning of year FzRmEE 130,091 124,828
Additions NE - 18,024
Changes in fair value of investment properties &% A FEBEZ &5 (8,740) (10,825)
Exchange realignment PE H A (233) (1,936)
Carrying amount at end of year FRZEERRTE 121,118 130,091

The Group’s investment properties consist of one (2024: one)
residential property in Hong Kong, four (2024: four) office properties,
several (2024: several) serviced apartments in Mainland China and
five (2024: five) office properties in Singapore. The directors of the
Company have determined that the investment properties consist of
three classes of asset, i.e., residential properties, office properties and
serviced apartments, based on the nature, characteristics and risks
of each property. The Group's investment property in Hong Kong
was revalued on 31 March 2025 based on a valuation performed
by management with reference to recent market transactions at
HK$5,300,000 (2024: HK$5,300,000). The Group's investment
properties in Shenzhen and Chengdu were revalued on 31 March
2025 based on valuations performed by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal
Ltd., independent professionally qualified valuer, at HK$49,681,000
(2024: HK$55,228,000) and HK$21,307,000 (2024: HK$23,824,000),
respectively. The Group's investment properties in Singapore were
revalued on 31 March 2025 based on valuation performed by GT
Real Estate Pte Ltd., independent professionally qualified valuer, at
HK$44,830,000 (2024: HK$45,739,000). Each year, the Group's
chief financial officer decides to appoint which external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s investment
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The
Group's chief financial officer has discussions with the valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuations are
performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included on
page 198.

AEEZREMEREMNREREZ —H(ZE
ZOF  —IEEEWE - URFEAM Y
B(ZE_NF  WBE)RAEME 2E(Z
ToF  ZE) RBEXAB LR N
ZEIE(_E_mi AIBE)PAEWE - AR
T%%ﬁ&?& EREWEZEL  BERE
% *%&é%%ﬁzu %:*EEE'EH1I%
ME - BAEMERBRBEAASE - REEBMNR
9&;‘%2&@%%&& i@@%ﬁﬂkﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ?%
EITEE T_HF=-A=1t—HEH
E530000&%ﬂﬂ_np_@fﬁ 5,300,000%5
TL) o REBMRF ﬂ\\&ﬁX%BZ?xéf%¥ﬂa%
VEESERGEMESFATEHEERRD
TEE R-ZE-RF=-A=+—80% J@E
449,681,000/ 7T (ZF — U4 : 55,228,000
HIL) 21,307,000 L (T — P4 ¢
23,824,000 7T) ° ANEBIRIAFTINGE 2 K E )
¥ hIE Ny HESEERIEERGT Real Estate Pte
Ltd ETTHE  RZE-_RAF=ZA=+—RHEH
£44,830,000/8 7T (ZZ =4 : 45,739,000/8
T c AEEEREVISBESERTER T I
HERD - BEHAEE 2 REYEEITINGE
B TEEHBERETSNG B2 Bulk
ARG EERE - R FEY B PRMETH
(ELS3 $E@§FHWZ%@E§ 4R = o
HERERGELS

BREMEIDNRELEHERTE=7  #—F
BB BEHN R A MWK 14 -

BRAAEEREME 2 E—
H o

FHIBHNFE198
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e IR R R M

31 March 2025 —E-RF=A=+—

B

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of

the Group's investment properties:

13. REVE @
N EBESHRERE

TRINRAKERENEZ A FEEFESR

51

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2025 using
R-B-HF=A=+—-HZ

AEEEFTERFER
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SER™S EXRAEE ERTAHE
ZHE BWAE WAE
(F—8) (€ i) (=) &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value TR EIE LR RT
measurement for: BEE :
Residential properties FEWHE - - 5,300 5,300
Office properties FE/NES ) ES - - 94,511 94,511
Serviced apartments AR AE - - 21,307 21,307
- - 121,118 121,118
Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2024 using
RZZE-ZNF=A=+—HZ
N BEEREA
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERR T BRAEBE BERTAEER
Z B BAE BAE
E ) E-®) E ) At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT T
Recurring fair value TAFIEZEEERTF
measurement for: BETE -
Residential properties FEME - - 5,300 5,300
Office properties /Ny ES - - 100,967 100,967
Serviced apartments RERAE - - 23,824 23,824
- - 130,901 130,091
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e B RS Rk MR

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

13. BREVXE @W

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

Fair value hierarchy (continued) REEESHERE@®
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements FRN - F-EBRE_EZHATEERFELE
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 B EZENEEAEAREE(ZE N
(2024 Nil). F ) -
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of DEER EEE=E 2 ATEAES
the fair value hierarchy: SHER
Residential Office Serviced
properties properties apartments
ey WAEYE BREXAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2023 N_E_=FMH—H
ZIRE SRR 6,800 92,137 25,891
Additions NE - 18,024 -
Net losses from a fair value adjustment F4RA Bm KR NIERZ
recognised in the consolidated N EEFHE
statement of profit or loss EEFRE (1,500) (8,547) (778)
Exchange realignment PE 3% - (647) (1,289)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 R -ZT & =/F=+—H
and 1 April 2024 R=—E-mEmA—H
ZHRE SRR 5,300 100,967 23,824
Net losses from a fair value adjustment FARA BRI R NERZ
recognised in the consolidated NP EEARERFEE
statement of profit or loss - (6,479) (2,261)
Exchange realignment [E 5% - 23 (256)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2025 R-ZT_FHF=H=+—H
ZERESE 5,300 94,511 21,307
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B IR M

31 March 2025 —T-RF=A=1+—H

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) REWE @
Fair value hierarchy (continued) REEESHERE@®
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs T XL E R B Y R EIT R ER TR ER
to the valuation of investment properties: MRk EEAE :
Valuation Significant Value
techniques unobservable inputs (weighted average)
fR{E R BERRAHEHAE HE (InfEF19)
Residential property situated Market comparison Adjusted unit price HK$9,851

in Hong Kong
INBEZETWE

Office properties situated
in Singapore

RIAFTINE 2 A E) 2

Office properties situated
in Mainland China

RIFe B A 2 H A=)

Serviced apartments situated
in Mainland China

P B RIEA AR

Under the market comparison approach, the properties are valued on
the market basis assuming sales in their existing state with the benefit
of vacant possession and by making reference to comparable sales
evidence as available in the relevant markets. Comparison is based on
prices realised in actual transactions or asking prices of comparable
properties. Appropriate adjustments are then made to account for the

approach

MHLLEUE

Market comparison
approach

MHLLEUE

Market comparison
approach

MSLLEVE

Market comparison
approach

M5 LLEVE

(per square foot) (2
KRR ENEREFAR)

024: HK$9,851)
9,851/ 7T

(ZZ U4 : 9,851 7T)

Adjusted unit price
(per square metre) (2

AR BBAER (BFIK)

SGD8,917
024: 5GD9,101)
8,917%1 N T

(ZZ M4 : 9,101F hikTT)

Adjusted unit price
(per square metre)

AR EMER (BFTTK)

RMB47,037

(2024: RMB51,700)
AR#47,0377C

(ZZ=mF : AR¥51,7007T)

Adjusted unit price
(per square metre)

RRHEEMER(EFITK)

RMB18,462

(2024: RMB20,410)
AR#18,4627T

(ZZ=mF : AR¥20,4107T)

differences between such properties in terms of age, time, location,

floor level and other relevant factors.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the adjusted unit price would result
in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment

properties.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

14. LEASES AND LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of leasehold land,
buildings and motor vehicles used in its operations. Leasehold land has
a lease term of 50 years. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms
between two and three years, while motor vehicles generally have lease
term of five years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

Details of right-of-use assets are included in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

(a) Lease liabilities
The carrying amounts of the lease liabilities and the movements
during the year are as follows:

e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

14. HEREESS

FEEFEREBEA
AEERAEEDEROEERE L BT
RAEBAIUEEAL - HETHOELHA
S04 - BFMBEHMBREME=FZH - fS
ENHERBEARRF - —RME - ARETE
EAREENNSRINBEEEAE -

EREEEFBEN G M BERAM T2 -

(a) HEEME
HERENRESERFANEHET

2025 2024

—E-RE —EME

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FAT

As at beginning of year REF] 134 482
Accretion of interest recognised FNTERIIF LGN FFFET7)

during the year (note 7) 12 20

Payments (g (131) (347)

Exchange realignment B 5, - (21)

As at end of year RER 15 134

Analysed for reporting purposes as: BE 2FHH -

Current liabilities nEBE 15 119

Non-current liabilities ERBER - 15

15 134

Within one year —FR 15 119

In the second year o - 15

15 134

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BE S EHEIH A A ITREA S BREM
H3TERE -
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R B RS R YR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

14. LEASES AND LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

14.

HERHESEE®

FEBEEREBEA @)
(b) FHAERFABRRPEINSEMT -

2025 2024

—E-RE —E U4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Interest on lease liabilities MEBEMNE 12 20

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEEZIE 864 1,197
Expense relating to short-term leases RHHEEENAX GTAITTHRER) *

(included in administrative expenses)* GET)
(note 6) 1,633 1,503
Total amount recognised in profit or loss NERERZ BT 2,509 2,720

*

Included in “lease payments not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities” in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

(c) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 13) consisting of one
(2024: one) residential property in Hong Kong, four (2024: four) office
properties and several (2024: several) serviced apartments in Mainland
China, and five (2024: five) office properties in Singapore under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the
Group during the year was HK$5,419,000 (2024: HK$5,552,000),
details of which are included in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e B TSR R AT

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

14. LEASES AND LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 14. HERHEEEE@®
The Group as a lessor (continued) AEBEEREHEA @
At 31 March 2025, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the RZZEZRE=A=+—0  AEEBEHEHA
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its P RT3 8971 AT A i 1 B AR 2 HA el e L Y
tenants are as follows: RUWBESFAT -
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-MEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Within one year —FR 4,588 6,317
After one year but within two years iR —FERFEN 2,385 706
After two years but within three years HBEMEE=FN 627 -
7,600 7,023
15. GOODWILL 15. B
2025 2024
—E-RE —EMF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FATT
At beginning and end of year: FYIRFER :
Cost DN 32,780 32,780
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (32,780) (32,780)
Net carrying amount BRTHF - -
Impairment testing of goodwill BEERERH
Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated to the FREBEHNE L HECHREEFEEIH
cash-generating units of the semiconductor distribution business and EHLTFHRERARAAZXER RS ELAS
the mobile application development business for impairment testing. iz - LERERAIR - EERNBEEE2E0R
Goodwill was fully impaired in previous years. (ER
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R B RS R YR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. HibE\EEE
Club Customer Mobile
memberships  Trademarks relationships  application Total
=t [} EFBE FREARS it
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TR THER THER TR
31 March 2025 ZE-HEF=ZHA=1+-H
At 1 April 2024 RZZZMFMA—R :
Cost A 4,518 87 23,223 9,400 37,228
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZEHEELRE (1,463) (87) (23,223) (9,400) (34,173)
Net carrying amount RETE 3,055 - - - 3,055
Cost at 1 April 2024, net of accumulated RZTZUFMA— AR -
amortisation and impairment Nk 288 LRE 3,055 - - - 3,055
Impairment (note 6) E (fiske) (247) - - - (247)
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRF=A=1—H 2,808 - - - 2,808
At 31 March 2025: RZE-RFZA=1+—H:
Cost N 4,518 87 23223 9,400 37,228
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZEEELRE (1,710) (87) (23,223) (9,400) (34,420)
Net carrying amount REFHE 2,808 - - - 2,808
31 March 2024 —E_NE=ZA=1-H
At 1 April 2023 RZZE-=FNA—A:
Cost A 4,518 87 24,200 9,400 38,205
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZEEENRE (1,033) (87) (24,200) (9,400) (34,720)
Net carrying amount RETE 3,485 - - - 3,485
Cost at 1 April 2023, net of accumulated R-E-ZEMA—BHRA -
amortisation and impairment W% 218 RRE 3,485 - - - 3,485
Impairment (note 6) A (F17E6) (430) - - - (430)
At 31 March 2024 RZZZWF=A=+—H 3,055 - - - 3,055
At 31 March 2024: RZE-_ME=A=+—-H:
Cost A 4,518 87 23,223 9,400 37,228
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZEEENRE (1,463) (87) (23,223) (9,400) (34,173)
Net carrying amount RETE 3,055 - - - 3,055
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e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16. % ﬂﬂ,mﬂ/ﬁécﬁ
During the year ended 31 March 2025, certain club memberships F%Zi —HE=A=+—HIEFE "
were impaired due to the decrease in market value. The directors /)WETJI mERIE - §$ﬁiﬁf§EﬁEm
had consequently determined to recognise an impairment loss of EEW SREMBERE247,0008 L (=
HK$247,000 (2024: HK$430,000) on certain club memberships and :EE 430 ,000%870) W2 E st B & T
their recoverable amount of HK$1,901,000 (2024: HK$2,187,000) was BHE FARXTEEREHEREETRK
determined using the fair value less costs of disposal with reference to SR AURE 451,901,000 T (ZF — /U4 -
the market price quoted for the relevant club memberships. 2,187,000/ 7T) °
INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 17. REELEZRE
2025 2024
—E-HE —ZTmF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Share of net assets DREEFE 1,479,033 1,401,689
Financial guarantees provided (note 27) B IR MR (Mi5E27) 45,481 50,112
1,524,514 1,451,801
Particulars of the material joint venture are as follows: ERREREHBET
Percentage of
Bk
Place of
incorporation Ownership Voting Profit  Principal
Name Issued share capital and business interest power sharing  activities
A% BRITRE AUk EE LS HEEER REE  oEEFN  TEEHR
AVP Electronics Limited 180,000,000 ordinary shares Hong Kong 75 50 75 Trading of electronic
components
REARAT 180,000,000% & iR E BESTIH

The above joint venture has a financial year end of 31 December.
The consolidated financial statements are adjusted for the material
transactions between 1 January and 31 March.

AVP Electronics Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, “AVPEL
Group”), which are considered a material group of joint ventures of the
Group, are accounted for using the equity method.

L2 IHBRFER BT _A=1+—
H-meaMBmRew—A—HAE=A=1—
HZBARRSIEHFE -

FEERARLEKBAR (SHERIEEE])
WRREAEBZERALLEEE @ DA
N
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 17. REELEZRE @

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
of AVPEL Group adjusted for any differences in accounting policies

TRIRREEEZHHERME CRETE
TR = RIEH ) U R ERA I EIRR AR

and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial H SR 2 R
statements:
2025 2024
—E-RE —E U4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT

Cash and cash equivalents RekERBELIEE 2,505,623 1,510,689
Other current assets HivmEh&EE 4,416,082 5,837,129
Current assets MENEE 6,921,705 7,347,818
Non-current assets ERBEE 135,676 144,929
Current liabilities mBAE (5.084,324) (5,620,635)
Non-current liabilities JEMEBEE (1,013) (3,194)
Net assets attributable to owners of FEIEERAREE ANEGEEFE

AVP Electronics Limited 1,972,044 1,868,918
Reconciliation to the Group’s interests BIREENGERE 2 R

in the joint ventures:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEEEHELL 75% 75%
Group's share of net assets attributable REBSHREERAREAA

to owners of AVP Electronics Limited BIREEFE 1,479,033 1,401,689
Financial guarantees provided (note 27) BRI SR (FisE27) 45,481 50,112
Carrying amount of the investments RERESRE 1,524,514 1,451,801
Revenue & 21,495,619 24,097,948
Interest income FMEBIA 56,351 63,361
Depreciation e (7,490) (7,378)
Interest expenses F B (224,482) (223,290)
Tax IR (30,877) (37,366)
Profit and total comprehensive income FREMN &2 AL

for the year 207,750 249,844
Dividends paid 2RRE 104,625 83,700
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

18. REFE QT 2KRE

2025 2024

—E-RE —EME

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Share of net assets DIhEEFE 2,659 220
Goodwill EES 1,878 1,878
Provision for impairment TRE R (4,166) (2,098)
371 -

Two (2024: one) of the associates have respective financial year
end of 31 December and 28 February (2024: 31 December), and
the consolidated financial statements are adjusted for the material
transactions between their respective financial year ends and 31
March. Apart from aforementioned, all other associates have a financial
year end of 31 March, which is coterminous with that of the Group.
The balances with associates are included in notes 21 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses
of certain associates because the share of losses of these associates
exceeded the Group’s interests in these associates and the Group has
no obligation to take up further losses. The amount of the Group’s
unrecognised share of losses of these associates cumulatively at the end
of the year was HK$6,598,000 (2024: HK$6,151,000).

During the year, an impairment of HK$2,068,000 (2024: nil) was
recognised for the investments in associates in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss based on the recoverable amount of zero,
which has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior
management covering a five-year period. The discount rate applied to
the cash flow projection is 15% (2024: nil).

ME(ZZEZMF - —FE)BE QR RFE4L
HAE+-_A=+—BE-_A-+tNB(CZ—-HQ
F:F+ZA=1+—H)  REEHBHRERERN
ERENIRFEEE=ZA=1t B 2Z2EAX
SIELFHE o B 7T LA LB Z QR FILASN - BT
BHEMBERART Y RFEBHA=A=+—
A - EARSEAR o HEE QT 2 EHREN G
GRS mERMI FE21 %22 o

AR EE THE QR 2 BRBBAERNZ
LHE N R 2R - BAREBEI BRI EEE
— BB MAREDRIEERE (LS
ERRIZEE AEERAEROEZSHER
RIEEZ FREFT£% /56,598,000 L (=%
— P04 : 6,151,000/ 7T) °

FR-REATKESEAT  BRBEQRZ
FERNGAEBERPERIE2,068,000/8 T
(ZZ2ZmF - &) HiIRESAEEEIEN
MERFHENMEEE - ERAESRBAR
FRABETEET - ReRBABEANRIIRE
A15% (Z T P04 : fE) o
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REFE QB Z2IRE W)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the TRINRAAEE @R NER 2B E QT 28
Group's associates that are not individually material: BERHEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —E - OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FATT
Share of the associates’ loss for the year DEHE AR FNEE (976) -
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive DEEE AR R EEEARE
loss (976) -
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBREE QR 2 IREREER
investments in the associates 371 -

19.

166

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. g%@#ﬁéﬁ'&ﬁt{%{am&Zﬁﬁmﬁ

PROFIT OR LOSS

2025 2024
—EC-REF —EEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BRE FET FAET
Listed equity investments AR E 109 1,461
Listed bond investments FHESEE (a) 100 138
Equity investment traded over-the-counter BN ZIRAILE (b) 2,128 1,672
Unlisted equity investments JE LRI AR E (0 552 1,235
Key management insurance contracts FTEEBEABRBED (d) 28,064 27,126
30,953 31,632

Analysed for reporting purpose as: MMEANDEER
Current assets MENEE 2,889 4,506
Non-current assets IEMBEE 28,064 27,126
30,953 31,632

AV Concept Holdings Limited - Annual Report 2025 3R



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The above listed equity investments, listed bond investments and an
equity investment traded over-the-counter were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading.

The key management insurance contracts were mandatorily classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.

The unlisted equity investments were classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as the Group has not irrevocably elected
to classify the unlisted equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Notes:

(a)

The listed bond investments have coupon rates ranging from 0% to 8.75%
(2024: 0% to 8.75%) per annum and maturity dates from 6 March 2023
to 31 January 2031 (2024: 6 March 2023 to 31 January 2031). Included in
the amount was a listed bond of HK$24,000 (2024: HK$51,000) which was
matured on 6 March 2023 and the directors considered that the amount of
HK$24,000 (2024: HK$51,000) could be recovered.

The Group had equity interest in Tooniplay Co., Ltd., which principally engaged
in mobile game development business.

The Group has equity interests principally in Urban City Joint Stock Company,
which principally engaged in e-commerce business in Vietnam.

As at 31 March 2025, the key management insurance contracts represented
life insurance plans with investment elements relating to two members of
key management personnel of the Group and the joint venture. The total
sum insured is US$15,800,000 (approximately HK$122,800,000) (2024:
US$15,800,000 (approximately HK$122,800,000)) with an annual minimum
guaranteed return of 2%. Certain key management insurance contract of
HK$9,090,000 (2024: HK$8,775,000) was pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group as at 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, if the Group withdrew from the insurance contracts,
the accounts value, net of surrender charges of US$260,000 (approximately
HK$2,025,000) (2024: US$260,000 (approximately HK$2,023,000)), would be
refunded to the Group. The amount of the surrender charges decreased over
time and was no longer required from the 19th year of contract conclusion
onwards.

e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

19. ZRBRFRAFEEIIRz2EHME

=@

bt FRRARE - FHESRERENZS
BARESEAEBBSRATEMBESEY &
REE  EEARSRARERE -

TREEABRBRANBHEDBRBBRE
BAFEENGRZEMEE  REARANRSE
REALTHEERINEERAE -

FELTRAREDBEREBBRLAFEET
ﬁEZﬁnﬂiéF JR R S E T AT
BEBFELTEAREDEABBEMEE
NIRRT BER -

it

(a) EHESFERENEEAFHENFT0%ES.75% (=
S PUF 0% %E8.75%)  AHE=Z2==
FZAANBEZZ=—4F—A=t+—H(Z%
TE: B =F=AANHEZE=—5—A8
=+—H)  FltEeER-_T=_=F=AXAH
Z|H 224,000/ (ZZ =4 : 51,000/7T) &
MEH - EERABELTE24,0008 (==
4 : 51,0008 7) A FULE o

(b) AEERTooniplay Co., Ltd. #EAKEE - ZAFE
DB RENIFEEA T -

() A paElEEZ# B Urban City Joint Stock Company
(FZ2EMRREETREED) IR -

(d) RZTE-RAF=RA=+—H FEEBAER
BANERAEBRALCEMETEER
ABEBOBRENABRRKRTE - RIRGBEL
15,800,000 7T, (47122,800,0005 7t) (=2 — 1
4 : 15,800,000 7T (£7122,800,0008 7T) )
FESERBRBRES2% R_T-_A%=F
=t-— EI ETEZERABRKRE%9,090,000
I (ZZT —PU4 : 8,775,000/ ) B E IR AES
Tﬁi‘z'i%lsﬁ MEERITRAE ©

RZZEZRAF=ZA=+—08 ' WAEEELRE
G4 - RIBRPEBERINKRIEIRE260,000% 7T (4
2,025,000/ 7T) (ZZ =4 : 260,000% 7T (49
2,023,000/7T)) B HREZREE - RREGTE
BERSRI MR MR L - MR A KRS 1965
AT BHREERERE -
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31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

20. INVENTORIES 20. &

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Finished goods BN 96,766 89,645

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EWE ZR™
2025 2024
—EZEHF —EToEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
Trade receivables FEUE Z RN 72,626 71,655
Impairment NENIE] (52,711) (43,920)
19,915 27,735

The Group’s trading terms with customers vary with the type of
products supplied. Invoices are normally payable within 30 to 45 days
of issuance, except for well-established customers, where the terms are
extended to over 60 days. For customer-specific and highly specialised
items, deposits in advance or letters of credit may be required prior
to the acceptance and delivery of the products. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables and has a credit control policy to minimise
credit risk. A credit committee consisting of senior management and
the directors of the Company has been established to review and
approve large customer credits. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s net trade receivables are amounts due from the
Group's associates of HK$11,705,000 (2024: HK$9,549,000), which
are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.
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AEBERXFILZ XS IEFREFHEZER
BRIMAMTR - BRFBHANERE R0
EASKAXN BB RAXBHEZEP
ZHRHAIAEEHEBE0R - BEE PR IE
ELRBREMZAR  EEMFTERINERM
ZRIA R RTANIRE KA ERE - BREP
BREFE LR - AREZADHEREE 2 &
WA E B AR E S A HIEEEE HIBOR -
NEEREEERR - BARRzEREERE
NEREKZEEZEGDERIL - UEBH R
HEEPRBEER - &R EXA - ARASE
EZEKRESERERBRZ BN CIEFE
B AW ESAEREERR - AEELKR
REESRBAEAERRIEMEERA
¥ - EKE SRA TR

AEBRERKEGEFZFERLERNAEE
Bt &8 N B FIAE 11,705,000 70 (Z T — U4 -
9,549,000 7T) « NIRERHETAEEFER
FHREEEEREE -



21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

EI‘I&E 2z EE:TA (%)

ERN#BER MW MR EERREE  NRE RS
R 2 BB SRR BRE DTN

as follows:
2025 2024
—ECRE —EEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Within 1 month 1ME AR 7,562 22,402
1 to 2 months 12218 A 247 779
2 to 3 months 2231 A 142 89
3 to 12 months 321218 A 5,582 3,673
Over 12 months HRiE121E A 6,382 792
19,915 27,735
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade FEWE 5 RN B BREE ST -
receivables are as follows:
2025 2024
—E_RE —E U4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At beginning of year F4) 43,920 37,505
Impairment losses, net (note 4) EEE - FEE (KiEEd) 8,791 6,415
At end of year FR 52,711 43,920

An impairment analysis on trade receivables, other than amounts due
from the Group's associates, is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating). The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions.

An impairment analysis on amounts due from the Group's associates
is performed as at 31 March 2025 by considering the probability of
default of comparable corporate bonds with published credit ratings. As
at 31 March 2025, the probability of default applied was 75.0% (2024:
75.0%) and the loss given default was estimated to be 61.1% (2024:
61.8%). The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the loss allowance for
amounts due from the Group’s associates was HK$8,566,000 (2024:
HK$7,379,000). As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate loss allowance for
amounts due from the Group's associates was HK$15,945,000 (2024:
HK$7,379,000).

RIS B AR A AR IR E {T IR MO 5 AR50

(PR &= BB 2 2 )

BIBERIN ZBEDHT

Ut 2BMERES - Eé‘ﬁfﬂﬁf%ﬂﬁ*ﬁw
EBREANZ [E%F 0 a4 5 r 8 8 B 2iat &
(BB P RREVAIRTAR) © "%t E RBR T BRI
BER  SRREEBEARRRE ARG

MBI BIE =M -
ANEIEREER -

2 AR B R AR B A L TR

R-EBE-HE=ZA=+—HEBEECTIRE
B RO B LB A RHESFE B REITIE
AEBBHERNTFIEZBEINT - RZZTEZh
E_)EJ_wL A HANELOMEET5.0% (=

ZPOEF ¢ 75.0%) RIBHBAEREFAE61.1%
(777@¢ 61.8%) o BB K EMEH AU
&)ﬁ%”‘auﬁkﬂ&ﬂﬁkﬂg@#ﬂmﬁ B ({14 8
)EH o

HE—ZT— £¢ B=+—BIFE » EKR
RENE R RIFUARNEE R /58,566,000/8 7T
(=== @¢ 7,379,000/%75) fjfﬁi
:Her B ﬁEMAZZK;%IHS%M“ RIERE
iéiﬁéﬁ%v%ﬁ?%15,945,0005%m(_§_@¢
7,379,000/67T) °

Annual Report 2025 £3§ AV Concept Holdings Limited 169



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R B RS R YR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

For trade receivables relating to accounts which are long overdue
with significant amounts with known insolvencies or non-response
to collection activities, they are assessed individually for impairment

allowance as follows.

21. BEWEZ R @

SBMCO A B EREAYCHENEENER
EERBYEE 2R E AR EUE SR -
BB ER BT -

Expected Gross
credit loss carrying Loss Carrying
rate amount allowance amount
BHEE
[ pES IREAE it e IRESHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT T
As at 31 March 2025 R-FE-_HEF=HA=+—H
Credit impaired EERE 82% 63,949 52,244 11,705
As at 31 March 2024 MZTE_WF=A=+—H
Credit impaired EERIE 82% 53,197 43,648 9,549

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's non-credit impaired trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2025

TREERBBREES TN EBAREERE

ERENEEEZERTNEERBROER

R-ZF-ZHF=ZA=1—H

Past due
B
Less than 1t03 3t012 Over
Current 1 month months months 12 months Total
Mg SR-R —-ZE=fR ZE+=@A t=EANUL &%
Expected credit loss rate EHEEEEE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.89% 95.45% 5.38%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) REBE(TEL) 1,273 6,215 143 562 484 8,677
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) EHEEEE(TEL) - - - 5 462 467
As at 31 March 2024 RZZZMFE=A=+—H
Past due
Less than 1103 31012 Over
Current 1 month months months 12 months Total
e SR—ER —ZE=A =2+=fA +ZEANUEL CE
Expected credit loss rate BHEERRX 0.00% 0.00% 0.06% 5.10% 47.49% 1.47%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) REBETEL) 14,912 958 1,737 314 537 18,458
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) EHEEEE(TEL) - - 1 16 255 272
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

22. ENRIE - e R EMEWFEIE

RECEIVABLES
2025 2024
ZE-RHF —ZmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Prepayments TEf SRR 2,791 1,905
Deposits birsa 6,620 8,887
Other receivables o fE IR 4,720 40,769
14,131 51,561
Provision for impairment of other receivables H Al FECGRRIE R (B 4 (2,902) (23,117)
11,229 28,444
Portion classified as non-current: DERIERE 2 EH D -
Prepayments and deposits ERRERES (1,913) (2,396)
Current portion TENED D 9,316 26,048

Included in the gross balances of other receivables as at 31 March
2025 primarily represented interest receivable of interest-bearing loan
to an independent third party of HK$2,826,000 due in April 2024,
while balance as at 31 March 2024 mainly represented (i) balances
with associates of HK$23,117,000; and ii) interest-bearing loan to an
independent third party of HK$15,209,000 due in April 2024.

An impairment analysis is performed by management at each reporting
date on other receivables. If a significant increase in credit risk of other
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit losses. As at 31 March 2025 and
2024, it was concluded by the management that the outstanding
amounts of balances with associates and interest-bearing loan to an
independent third party were credit-impaired, with the respective
recoverability considered remote.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the loss allowance for the
interest receivable in relation to interest-bearing loan to an independent
third party are assessed to be HK$2,826,000 (2024: Nil). During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the loss allowance for balances with associates
of HK$11,819,000 were made. As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate
loss allowance for balances with associates was HK$23,117,000.

RZTE—RAF=A=+—HOHMERKE
EHRBETFEARE T BB LE=F 25
BEERANERFE2,826,00087T ' ZEXRN
ZEZNFMNARE  MARZTEZMNFE=A
ST -HAMERETZER)EBE QR ZER
23,117,000 7 : R()REHETF—2BLFE=
ET B E 15,209,000 ' 2 ERN T
ZIFMAEIE e

EEEN SRS B S H BRI TRE
DT o MEA KB EERBR & XHER
AR - BREFEAZHIEHEER
B RZE_AFR-_F-_MF=A=+—
A EREESHERRE  HEEQFZKE
BEBCEMMB T EBIE=FNEE
RAEERE - &a8n el MR

HE-_T-RAE=-A=1+—HAIFE iR
F—ZBBNE = FMETEERNERE SR
BE{h51/22,826,0008 0 (T — 004 : &) -
HE-_S-NME=A=1+—HIIFE  HB§L
NEZ KERETIRETEE1511,819,000/8 7T -
—E-NEZA=+ R HEEQARZEH
RSB R 4RRE 523,117,000/ 7T »
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22.

23.

172

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. ANFIE » RERAMBEBRFIE
RECEIVABLES (continued) (48)
Deposits and other receivables excluding balances with associates and e REAMEKFOR (TR E RSN E) 2 &k
interest-bearing loan to an independent third party mainly represent Mgt T —2BUE =AM EEF) F2HEM
rental deposits and deposits with suppliers. An impairment analysis is ERe hitENRE REREEH - A&5H
performed at each reporting date by applying a loss rate approach with RRABBEENSZERNEENBIEIBLRHE
reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The Group assessed ITTREDT - AEBEFN - EREASV KRS
the loss allowance for other receivables of HK$1,818,000 (2024: AR OSRAF - T HANP 8 ¥ ] 50 R 3k 8 BARRIE
HK$17,652,000), for which there was no recent history of default or 2 E b EUWFRIE 1,818,000 7T (— T — PU4F ¢
past due amounts, under the application of HKFRS 9 was insignificant. 17,652,000/ 70) B & 1B B ok - 2L 6 o
The movements in provision for impairment of other receivables are as Hubpelh 18 7 BiEBEEEs T -
follows:
2025 2024
—E-RE —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHETT
At beginning of year F47) 23,117 11,298
Impairment loss (note 6) RIEEE (H756) 2,902 11,819
Written off e (23,117) -
At end of year FR 2,902 23,117
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME 23. REREFNFATHEREPER

DEPOSITS

2025 2024

—EC-RE —EO4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Cash and bank balances Be MIRITET 44,721 65,911
Deposits with other financial institutions REA & BEE 2 T3 14,246 10,434
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkERBESIER 58,967 76,345

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB"”) amounted to approximately
HK$1,094,000 (2024: HK$123,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME
DEPOSITS (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of
between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks and other financial institutions with no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND
ACCRUED EXPENSES

23.

24,

REeERFERAEHEREHREFER

(&)

FRRBTZREREBRITZEAFHRANE -
T B R EREUH S - BEIE BFE R F—H
EZ@AATE  DRIAKEZAKREFH
RME @ WIRE B 2 5 8 H7F 508 X BREUF
B o BEDEBINMEERFZIRIT RO &

RS B S RS -

E%1#E§5%EE%R s BRRERETE

2025 2024

—E-REF —E U4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHTT

Trade payables FERTE SR 53,650 39,507
Deposits received BliL e 1,254 2,151
Accrued expenses FEETE A 15,639 15,928
70,543 57,586

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the payment due date, is as follows:

RIBNREIME - RBERABERE 2 EBNE

SRR R DT

2025 2024
ZE-HF —ZmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Trade payables: FERTE 5 R -

Current BIER 46,753 38,709
1 to 30 days 1£30H 4,621 304
31 to 60 days 31£260H - 19
Over 60 days #8860 H 2,276 475
53,650 39,507
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled JERTE SERFTITENE - —MA30E90KK 4

between 30 and 90 days. Ho
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25.

26.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Statements

25. ERNAE

2025 2024
—E-REF T mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Short-term advances received from customers TEWE 57 Bi7E

Sale of products HEEM 2,374 1,892
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver BHEEREARHEYERE L EEBEERME

semiconductor and consumer products. At 1 April 2023, contract WEPHEHHRIE KN =FMA—AQH "
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$3,387,000. The increase and AHBEHAE3,387,0008TC —E-—AFK=

decrease in contract liabilities in 2025 and 2024 was mainly due to the
increase and decrease in short-term advances received from customers
in relation to the sale of products at the end of the reporting period,
respectively.

? “HFENARNBEBNERD T EEHR R
SHIRA RS IHE EMRBIEP OB IIE

DRBEI R

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. MIEERITER
2025 2024
t- k1 ZEImE
Effective Effective
annual annual
interest interest
rate Maturity HK$'000 rate Maturity HK$'000
BRI B T BREHE o=t TR
Current wE
Import and trust receipt loan - unsecured EORETRESS - BEA 5.48% - 2025 6.72% - 2024
572% —BChfE 31,998 749% —ZF-NEF 36,111
2025 2024
—E-HE —TmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable within one year or on —FANREREE
demand ZIRITER 31,998 36,111
All the Group’s bank borrowings bore interest at floating rates and NEE 7 A RITERIRERE BAEEREF

were denominated in United States dollars at the end of the reporting
period. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing bank
borrowings approximate to their fair values.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

27. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE OBLIGATION

During the year, the Group has provided financial guarantees to joint
ventures in relation to the bank lending facilities granted to these joint
ventures, and the Group will make payments to reimburse the lenders
upon failure of the guaranteed entity to make payments when due. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
the guarantees.

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except for limited
circumstances. All guarantees are approved by the Board of Directors.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of the
ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the cumulative
amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance is measured by
estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based on the expected
payments to reimburse the holders (i.e. the banks) for a credit loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the debtor (i.e. the joint ventures). The amount initially recognised
representing the fair value at initial recognition of the financial
guarantees was based on the valuation from an independent valuer
engaged by the Group. The method used in determining the fair value
of these guarantees was by reference to the recovery rate and key
financial ratio of the guaranteed entity.

The credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts is classified as
stage 1. During the year, there were no transfers between stages.

27.
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MBRERER
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28.

176

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows:

28. EEBIEEE

FABREHARBZESHNT ¢

Revaluation
of properties
YIEEHGHE
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 April 2023 RZZE-=FMA—H 14,412
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FAFTABGFEERETZ
statement of profit or loss during the year EIERIE (F13E9)
(note 9) (532)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZEZWF=A=+—HxK
—E-pUFmMA—H 13,880
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FREFFAGFEERKZ
statement of profit or loss during the year RIERIE (F15E9)
(note 9) (582)
At 31 March 2025 R-B-_HF=A=+—H 13,298

The Group has estimated tax losses arising in Hong Kong and Singapore
of approximately HK$873,897,000 (2024: Hong Kong of approximately
HK$788,715,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which losses arose. The Group
also has unrecognised tax losses arising elsewhere of approximately
HK$16,426,000 (2024: HK$16,135,000) that will expire during 2025 to
2030 (2024: 2024 to 2029) for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets in respect of these losses have not been recognised
as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and, in the opinion of the directors, it is not considered probable
that sufficient future taxable profits will be available against which the
tax losses can be utilised.

AV Concept Holdings Limited - Annual Report 2025 3R

AEEREBRINEELE 2 GHEBEEE
49873,897, 0008 L (ZE-NF : HEFH
788,715,000/ 7T) + Al &R AR AR S5 8215 /&S
B2 RElZ RRERBAF o REE TR EHAL
M5 EAE 2 R ER T IEE 18 47/516,426,0007
JT(ZZ P4 : 16,135,000/ 7T) © SR —-F
—HEEZE=TF(CTNF  —ZFWF
EZERTNF) EIE - AR R R E RS
Bl o WESZEBHBEBRELERIBEEE - AZ
EHEBHACESHEE-—BREHEZHBARE
4+ BEERABBIAIEB TR Z AR RER
i FIA LR SH TR IR RS 18 o



28.

29.

30.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued) 28. EERBEE @
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding RBEPEMERETE  RAIIEREESTIR
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign AR E R 2 INE 12 2 R BB
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement 10%TEHMH - ERREBE_TTNEF—-H—H
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 RAEXN  WEAR-ZEZE+LF+-_HA=+—H
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is TBFTEE A& 2 B H) o fii s B A B HNED 45 & 25 P
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign BRVEARE R 2B ERBHE - AIREETE
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group MR EE - ASEM S - BAMERS5%K
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by 10% ° ALt - AREBEEZS R E AT
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings ZEEMBATIRE_EE N \F—A—ARE
generated from 1 January 2008. 42 B IR Z R BEATERT
At 31 March 2025, there was no significant unrecognised deferred tax RZZBZRF=A=+—0  BAKE B
liability (2024: Nil) for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted NE > BERARRAEECERELER 2 EN
earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures. RIEME  UESEARAERECHEAE(CE
P04 ) o
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of AR BT g EmE R SRR RS M EES
dividends by the Company to its shareholders. o
SHARE CAPITAL 29. A
Shares &)
2025 2024
—E-RE —EMEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Authorised: EE
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares 2,000,000,000f% & EI{E
of HK$0.10 each 0.10/8 7T 2 H AR 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRARE
908,663,302 ordinary shares 908,663,302 % F A H (A
of HK$0.10 each 0.10/8 7 2 i 90,866 90,866

Details of the share option schemes of the subsidiaries and the share
options issued under these schemes are included in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Share option schemes adopted by subsidiaries

On 5 August 2013, 830 Lab Limited (the “830 Lab"”) adopted a share
option scheme (the “830 Lab Scheme”). Under the 830 Lab Scheme,
830 Lab may grant options to any of its full-time employees and
directors and any eligible persons as defined therein to subscribe for the
respective ordinary shares of 830 Lab.

On 1 February 2021, Whizoo Media Limited (the “Whizoo Media”)
adopted a share option scheme (the “Whizoo Media Scheme”). Under
the Whizoo Media Scheme, Whizoo Media may grant options to any of
its full-time employees and directors and any eligible persons as defined
therein to subscribe for the respective ordinary shares of Whizoo Media.

30.
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 30. BT E m)
Share option schemes adopted by subsidiaries (continued) B S 1 B BR 40 2 BB AR RE 5T B (430)
830 Lab Scheme 830 Labzt &l
The following share options were outstanding under the 830 Lab HE-Z-_MNE=A=+—HILFE  M830
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2024: Labst BB NRITE 2 EIRAENT
Number of share options
BRE"A
At
31 March Exercise Exercise
At Granted Lapsed Exercised Cancelled Expired 2024 Date of period of price of
Name or category 1 April during during during during during  and 31 March grant of share share
of participant 223 the year the year the year the year the year 2025 share options options options
RZB=RE
ZR=1-H
SRENL e 3 k-%-1% B BRE  BREC
Bl mA-B  RERRE  REREN REABOR  REREE RERER  ZAST-B RiAH 2 i@
(both dates HKS
inclusive) per share
(BEBEMA) BiRET
Director of 830 Lab and
the Company
830 LabRALTZES
So Chi Sun Sunnyand total 220,000 - (220,000) - - - 5August 2013 6 September 2015 8.0
BR4Res ZE-ZE/\ARA 105 August 2023
ZE-REAARH
ES
“E-=E)\ARA

Note: The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the

M BhEZRBEHARLAMETEMMSL 2B

commencement of the exercise period. f] ©
2025 2024
—E-RE —EE
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
R IITREME BREHE ETHTRE BRERE
HKS$ ‘000 HK'$ ‘000
BT T4 BT T
per share per share
SR s2d
At beginning of year F4) N/A
TER - 8.0 220
Lapsed during the year FRERM N/A
TER - (8.0) (220)
At end of year FR N/A - N/A -
TER TiEA
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

31.

Share option schemes adopted by subsidiaries (continued)
830 Lab Scheme (continued)

In the prior year, 220,000 share options were lapsed and non-
controlling interests of HK$9,420,000 were transferred to retained
profits accordingly.

The fair value of the share options granted during prior years was
HK$12,453,000, which was fully recognised by the Group in prior years
since all share options granted had been vested during prior years.

At the end of the reporting period, 830 Lab had no share options (2024:
Nil) outstanding under the 830 Lab Scheme.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 100 to 101 of the consolidated financial
statements.

e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

30. BRETE @

31.
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Major non-cash transactions

180

(a)

(b)

(9]

(d)

In the prior year, interest income from a loan to an associate
of HK$444,000 was not yet received and was recognised in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables.

. REBRESRERWE
IEFRERS
(@) REEFE RET-EBEADZER

H I B UL A 444,000 T ARBIFEE R
R - mE REMEIGTIANER -

During the year, the decrease in investments in joint ventures (b) RFNR- A*AE%Z&QH’J%,@LOOO
amounting to HK$4,631,000 (2024: HK$27,847,000) was ;‘%ﬁ(:;?fmi 27,847,000 7T) -
attributable to the net effect of recognition of financial B AR ER I IS ERE 161,104, OOO/’FSE
guarantee obligation of HK$61,104,000 (2024: HK$93,357,000) (77 — U4 : 93,357,000 7T) B4R FE
and derecognition of financial guarantee obligation of RE SR E 165,735,000/ 70 (ZZ =Y
HK$65,735,000 (2024: HK$121,204,000). i 121,204,000/ 7T) B F5/2 ©
During the year, the Company invested in 49% equity interest () FR - AEBELIFAK{ES 000,000 7T (=
of an associate for a total consideration of HK$3,000,000 (2024: TOME - M) RERNGE—HBE AT
Nil). The balance was settled through the current account with an 49% AR fE o shEE LA — R A F AR
associate. ERE&E -
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities d) BEIBFEEAEEH
2025 —E-HE
Interest-bearing Lease
bank borrowings liabilities
MSSRITER HEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FEx
At 1 April 2024 R-T-mEmA—Q 36,111 134
Changes from financing cash flows BEBRSREY (4,148) (119)
Interest expense FEFX 4,247 12
Interest paid classified as financing cash flows ~ 2iEARERERE ZEMNHFIE (4,247) (12)
Exchange realignment P H AR 35 -
At 31 March 2025 R-Z-_RAF=H=+—H 31,998 15
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 32. 6B e RhEaRkMTw

CASH FLOWS (continued)

Major non-cash transactions (continued) FEIRERZ @
(c) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (0 REIBFEEZEEEE (&
(continued)
2024 —E-PF
Interest-bearing Lease
bank borrowings liabilities
Bt BERITIE AR HEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
At 1 April 2023 RZE_=FMA—H 19,618 482
Changes from financing cash flows MERESREL 16,951 (327)
Interest expense FEFX 3,018 20
Interest paid classified as financing cash flows ~ 2¥EAREREREZEMNHFIE (3,018) (20)
Exchange realignment b 5 A (458) 2m
At 31 March 2024 RZZE_WF=A=+—H 36,111 134
Total cash outflow for leases HERSREAE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated AR EHeRERCHERSRL 2%
statement of cash flows is as follows: W
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-MEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Within operating activities FEALE A 1,633 1,503
Within financing activities FFARE A 131 347
1,764 1,850

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

33. FREE

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided RS BRI AR - RS MBS HRER ARER
for in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: HZHABELT :

2025 2024

—E-REF —E U4

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#xT FAT

Guarantees given to banks in connection with
facilities granted to joint ventures

RETAREEEZERREHRT

MITZHER 3,497,254 3,484,667
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33.

34.

182

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the bank lending facilities granted to joint
ventures subject to cross-guarantees given to the banks by the Group
were utilised to the extent of approximately HK$3,497,254,000
(2024: HK$3,484,667,000). For the financial guarantees provided to
joint ventures in relation to the bank lending facilities granted, the
Group has recognised the financial guarantee obligation amounting to
HK$45,481,000 (2024: HK$50,112,000) as a liability as at 31 March
2025 which was disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following

33.

34.

AREE @
RZZE_RF=A=+—0 AEEHEED
EERZBTEFEERESEERFRT
EAF A 43,497,254,0008 T (Z 2 4 -
3 ,484,667,000870) - N gLE B bEER 2
RITEREEMREZHBER  A5EL
75A777£¢ A=+ BV BERET
45,481,000 70 (ZZ P4 : 50,112,000/
TOERBARE « FHIENERE M EREM E274
E‘go

BBREALRS

(a) BAGEMBRREMIOFLZRS
SN REBRFREGREATET TIA

material transactions with related parties during the year: TERZS :
2025 2024
—E-HF —TmEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
{iEsd FHET FAT
Joint venture: —feErE
Dividend income A B A (i) 78,671 62,937
Associates: [ l/NC]
Sale of products iﬁ%@uu (i) 12,938 24,020
Commission expenses k=9 (iif) 149 1,902
Interest income FEUA (iv) - 444
Notes: Bi5E
(i) The dividends declared by the joint venture of the Group were for the (i) AEE-—BEECEMTRZBRETIFHE

interim dividends for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June
2023 and the year-end dividends for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023.

(ii) The sale to associates were made at prices and terms mutually agreed
between the parties.

(iii) The commission expenses paid to an associate were made at prices and
terms mutually agreed between the parties.

(iv) Interest income from a loan to an associate is charged at 5% per
annum.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group
The Group’s key management personnel are the Executive
Directors of the Company, and further details of their
emoluments are included in note 8(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. TRIT R
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments BRI ANREHRERS 2 FEEHE
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: m
2025 —E-RE
Financial assets SEEE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

EBRBREATERE
JIRzSRERE
Designated Financial
as such assets at
upon initial  Mandatorily amortised
recognition designated cost Total
R RE B AT IR
HRRETE BHEE ZEMEE &3t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FizE TEr TER Tl TEr
Trade receivables FEIE 5 R0 21 - - 19,915 19,915
Financial assets included in FABRIE - Rek
prepayments, deposits and HitEWIEz e MEE
other receivables 22 - - 8,438 8,438
Financial assets at fair value FBBRBEATERYER
through profit or loss JEREE 19 552 30,401 - 30,953
Cash and bank balances Be RiRITER 23 - - 44,721 44,721
Deposits with other financial REM & RIKE 2 TR
institutions 23 - - 14,246 14,246
552 30,401 87,320 118,273
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R A A5 BR
ZeBMEE
Notes HK$'000
BiaE FHET
Trade payables FERTE S ERK 24 53,650
Deposits received Biize 24 1,254
Financial liabilities included in accrued expenses st AJEAHERMERIEE 24 13,304
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 15
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT B ERITIE K 26 31,998
Financial guarantee obligation MISIEREE 27 45,481
145,702
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

financial instruments

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued)

2024
Financial assets

35.

EMIREZDE@®

BRI EMTARRSHEERK ZRME R
w8

—ZFIg

TREE

F

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

ERBREATEE
St S REE
Designated Financial
as such assets at
upon initial Mandatorily amortised
recognition designated cost Total
i ik RE AT R
REFIETE RHIEE JEHEE &t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HisE FET TET THET FAT
Trade receivables U E FERH 21 - - 27,735 27,735
Financial assets included in FABRIE - Re Rk
prepayments, deposits and HiE s IEz e MEE
other receivables 22 - - 26,539 26,539
Financial assets at fair value FBBRBEATERYER
through profit or loss JEREE 19 1,235 30,397 - 31,632
Cash and bank balances Be RiRITET 23 - - 65,911 65,911
Deposits with other financial REM &R 2 TR
institutions 23 - - 10,434 10,434
1,235 30,397 130,619 162,251
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
RS AT R
ZEHBE
Notes HK$'000
BiaE FAT
Trade payables FERTE S ERK 24 39,507
Deposits received Bz E 24 2,151
Financial liabilities included in accrued expenses st AJEAHE ML RIEE 24 13,058
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 134
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT B ERITIE K 26 36,111
Financial guarantee obligation MISEREE 27 50,112
141,073
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36. @AM TAAFEERIFEESR
R
AEESRTARASERATEELENA
EEBRIN ZEASERAFEENT -

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
IRESE AFEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
—ECRE —EoNF ZE-RHE 2 —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FAT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value FEiBEEEATEREYERZ
through profit or loss TRIEE 30,953 31,632 30,953 31,632
Non-current deposits EmBIR S 1,913 1,982 1,913 1,982
32,866 33,614 32,866 33,614

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables (other than non-current deposits), trade
payables, deposits received, financial liabilities included in accrued
expenses, interest-bearing bank borrowings and financial guarantee
obligation approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee. At
each reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
chief financial officer. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial
reporting.

EEENE REMFRRELER  BERES
BRAR - RTATRN SR - e REMEYRRIAZ
EREE CGERBREMRIN) - BNE SRR
BEliRE  FFARERNSRERE  MER
TEAEFBEREFZATFEEEERES
FRE  FEHARZETIAONEHRNIE -

AEEHPBRBGAMEHBPIBEEEF
EXMIARFEBEZEERER - M2
BEEMNERPBRENERZESER - B
MPARZHERAITEMTABEZES -
TEEHETERZIRZRAE - BEFBR
EENIIAEGE BERZEGU-FMER
TR EEMBRBEEIWmAERRERE
=8
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36.

186

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of non-current deposits have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

The fair values of listed equity and bond investments, an equity
investment traded over-the-counter measured as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are based on quoted market prices.
The fair values of unlisted equity investments measured as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss have been estimated with
reference to multiples of comparable listed companies, such as income
approach by discounted cash flows method or issued prices of recent
transactions. The fair values of key management insurance contracts
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are based
on the account values less surrender charges, quoted by the vendors.
The directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the
valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which are
recorded in profit or loss, are reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation
of financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as
at 31 March 2025 and 2024:

36.

ERMITEAFEERAFEEER
BEm@
SREERABY AT EBENEHIANGHE
RBH (MERETERHE) SN S T2
RBEEARE o O ERBEDANGEER
T(EE -

FRBEEZ NFEEDERRBLEK - 7
SRR MR THEAZ TEZRRH X ETAH
AKRREMEBAMAE -

FTERBBEREATEEIRZEMEED
ETEARESFERE  BIRFEAREZR
FEEDREAENENE - HE/BBRRE
BAFEEINRZEMEENIFLMRARE
ZAFEBENSEANELRETARZEH
Pl BRRBE S REEZ R NETIIHRRF
METEMLE - DERBBERKRATERT
FreRMEENTIEZEBABRRBRANZAT
EBEYKREFPEBERERER(RAETRE)
AE - BFMAE WEERMSHZEFAF
EBEREEMHIRARLE) RAFEE A
MEDH(NERLE) BRAE  ARNKREH
MR RAEZEE -

CRTAGRER - Z-AFR-_ZE_WF=A
=t RAZERTAERBABEREEHE
EAMEtamT

Valuation Significant
technique  unobservable input  Value Sensitivity of fair value to input
fEERN EXTUEZGAE ¥E DATEEHRAEZHRE
Unlisted equity investments classified  Income Discount rate 16% 5% increase (decrease) in the discount rate would result in decrease
as financial assets at fair value approach  BRIRE (2024:17%) (increase) in fair value by HK$8,000 (2024: HK$23,000)
through profit or loss WAK 16% SRR E7 (TR 5% BB A TERE T2 (LF)8,00057T
FETRERE - HRAERER (ZEZRE 17%) (ZZZIE £ 23,000%7T)
BRATEESIR e RAR
Key management insurance contracts ~ N/A Account values HK$30,087,000 5% increase (decrease) in account values would result in increase
classified as financial assets at fair ~ ~MEf BPEE (2024: HK$29,355,000) (decrease) in fair value by HK$ 1,504,000 (2024: HK$1,468,000)
value through profit or loss 30,087,000 RPEELA(TE)5%BERATEELA(TH)1,504,000%7T
IZERAERRBAY HERES (W% 29,355,00087T)  (ZERZMF : 1,468,000%7)
BaRATEEFIG eREE
Surrender charges  HK$2,023,000 5% increase (decrease) in surrender charges would result in decrease
RIRERA (2024: HK$2,229,000) (increase) in fair value by HK$101,000 (2024: HK$111,000)
2,023,000 EREM LT (TR 5% EBATEE MK (LD 101,00087T

(ZEZME : 2,229,000%7T)
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 36. ERMITEAFEERATEESH

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) K@

Fair value hierarchy NEEESHERE

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of TRINTHAEZEREESHTARTFEEZER
the Group's financial instruments: 2R -

Assets measured at fair value: RAVEEFEZEE :

As at 31 March 2025: RogE—gmFE=f=+—FA:

Fair value measurement using
FEATEEREAR
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
ERWE BEATHE EAFAUHE
ZHRE BWAE BWAE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(-8 (E=8) (=B &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET TET TET FHET
Financial assets at fair value through  EBERIZATEETHE
profit or loss LERMEE 2,337 - 28,616 30,953
As at 31 March 2024: R-_FE-pFE=H=4+—H :

Fair value measurement using

s EATEEREA

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

RS BEXRAER BEANAEER

ZRIE BAE BWAE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
E—B (F=E) (E=F) &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET

Financial assets at fair value through  EBERIZATEETIHE

profit or loss ZEREE 3,271 - 28,361 31,632
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the

year are as follows:

36. ERMITEAFEERATEESH
B8 @)
NP EESEREE@®
BRAVEEHEZEE | (@)

FA -

F=BNATEEHEZEBNT :

2025 2024

—E-RE —EPO4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FAT

At beginning of year F1) 28,361 26,790
Total gains recognised in profit or loss REEERZ W =BT 255 1,571
At end of year FR 28,616 28,361

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as

at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3

(2024: Nil).

Assets for which fair values are disclosed:

R-E-_RAF=A=+—HER=_ZE-_NF=A

=t—R  AEEHREEMRATEEFEZ
ERAE -

BREQAFEEZEE:

FA - FERF_EZHARAFEEFELE
BY AfEEASBLE=-E(CT_MOF:
=) -

As at 31 March 2025: R-E-aF=HA=1+—-F:
Fair value measurement using
HEATEERER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
EBRTE BEATEE EATTEE
ZRE BWAE BAE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(-8 (=8 (=B &t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHET TET TR FHET
Non-current deposits FnEESE - - 1,913 1,913
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: (continued)

As at 31 March 2024

36.

e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

EMIEAFEERLATFEESH
ZRE @)

NP EESEREE@®
WEATEEZEE : (@)

R-FE-mFE=H=+—H :

Fair value measurement using

s EATEEREA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
R ARE ERAER BEATAER
2B BAE BAE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
E—@ (F=B) (B=E) &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TAET TET
Non-current deposits FnEESE - - 1,982 1,982
37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. MBEREEBERBX

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank borrowings, lease liabilities, cash and bank balances and deposits
with other financial institutions. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations. The Group
is also exposed to market price risk in respect of financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and market price risk. The
Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of

these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has no significant foreign currency risk because its business
is principally conducted in Hong Kong and most of the transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars or United States dollars. Since the
Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the Group’s

exposure to foreign currency risk is considered to be minimal.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,

receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Annual Report 2025 3k AV Concept Holdings Limited

AEBEZIZEMTABEMBRITER  H
E8E RENBITEFURREBSREEE
ZHER -ZREEMIAEZIZRARIREE
BLERE - ARERHEMZASMEENE
& PIEREZRARENE SRR - B8
AEBEEERESL - AEENEBBIESR
NFEEIRZ 2 BEEMmELEDERR

AEESBIAFRELEY EBAKAINEE
B EEER - ADHELARRTERR - 8
FeRIRBEERER SRR IE it
W -

SN LB

AEEWESERINERR  AEFEREFEL
BEG  HREDRZIABITRETTEE ©
B TTEE T ENE - BUR B PR ER 2 SN
[ A% AR AT B A8

FERR
AEEREERAMEEEZF=0ETE
B ARBIZBRRBMARBNEERETT
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. BIERAKREREBERBE@®
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EE =B (3
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BRERBKFREER
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure TRINFUAEBEEBRRAEENEELE R
to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based NEFEBENEAEERR  ZEEBEE
on past due information unless other information is available without LU @ AR (BER ABZ A SRS N5
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification at the end 2 E A ERIBR AN 2 HA R 4 TR ) 55 R PR BR
of the reporting period. The amounts presented are gross carrying DEAEE -2 EBERSMEECRER
amounts for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the CRELMBEEREOER 2 EERR
financial guarantee contracts.
As at 31 March 2025 R-B-AF=A=+—H
12-month
ECLs
12{8 A RH Lifetime ECLs
FEFE 2HRBEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
1] [32) BE3 ik &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER Fax Fax FEx TEx
Trade receivables* FEUE 5 AR5+ - - - 72,626 72,626
Financial assets included in prepayments, ~ RIERFUE » & REMEK
deposits and other receivables HERFIE eRHEE
~ Normal** —IEE** 8,438 - - - 8,438
- Doubtful** —RERx* - - 2,902 - 2,902
Cash and bank balances Be RFTER
— Not yet past due — HAREH 44,721 - - - 44,721
Deposits with other financial institutions M E 4 B 2 73
~ Not yet past due — HAREH 14,246 - - - 14,246
Guarantees given to banks in connection ~ R FAECEZEERET
with facilities granted to joint ventures BT EIR
— Not yet past due (note 33) — AR (f7E33) 3,497,254 - - - 3,497,254
3,564,659 - 2,902 72,626 3,640,187
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37.

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 March 2024

e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

R REE B ZERBEEK @)

&R @
RAEBR K F R R ()

R-ZE-MFE=A=+—H

12-month
ECLs
1218 AFEH Lifetime ECLs
FEEE 2 HREEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
EEY 5] E] i At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THET THET FAT FAT
Trade receivables* EWE SR~ - - - 71,655 71,655
Financial assets included in prepayments, ~ RIERFUE « e REMEK
deposits and other receivables HERFIE eREE
- Normal** —Eg** 29,853 - - - 29,853
- Doubtful** — RER** - - 19,803 - 19,803
Cash and bank balances Be RFTER
-~ Not yet past due — AR 65,911 - - - 65,911
Deposits with other financial institutions A Eth 4 B 2 175
-~ Not yet past due — AR 10,434 - - - 10,434
Guarantees given to banks in connection LR FALLEZEERET
with facilities granted to joint ventures BI7 2R
— Not yet past due (note 33) — M AREH (F33) 3,484,667 - - - 3,484,667
3,590,865 - 19,803 71655 3,682,323
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for * AEEFRELEWE SREFRABE -

impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 21
to the consolidated financial statements.

*x The credit quality of these financial assets is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

WERRERNEHEENRA MWK T
21°

> ZELBEAENEEERNERABERERIE
B BEEHRASREESVSHERENEE
REBAEEREM - B8 REENEEERR
BRIRER] -

BRASEREKE Z RS ER 2 EERR
ZE—EFEEDTBURTIN RS IS MA M
21858 o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. BIERAKREREBERBE@®
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk RENE S RS
The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and credit lines to meet FEEHNEERERERACHEREEHE W
its liquidity requirements. The Group finances its working capital BERBESHE K - AEEBBESKEESE
requirements through a combination of funds generated from WESHBITERRESEESTRBNE
operations and bank borrowings. & o
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end of AEEZ SRABENRE PR RIRITOR
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, ARIR AR B ERE AT
is as follows:
2025
—EZHF
Within
1 year or
on demand
and total
—FR
REREE
Rt
HK$'000
FTHERT
Trade payables JERTE SRR 53,650
Deposits received L 1,254
Financial liabilities included in accrued expenses STABSEANSRARE 13,304
Lease liabilities HEARE 39
Interest-bearing bank borrowings P BRI TIE X 31,998
Guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities granted HETEECEZEERHTRITZER
to joint ventures (note 33) (Ft3¥33) 3,497,254
3,597,499
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37. BB RAKREREBERBE@®
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBES R (®
2024
e Sl 1t B
More than
Within 1 year but
1 year or less than
on demand 2 years Total
—FRN —EP E
REREER BARME &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FIT FHET FHT
Trade payables JERTE SRR 39,507 - 39,507
Deposits received 2z e 2,151 - 2,151
Financial liabilities included in accrued STABSEANESRARE
expenses 14,270 - 14,270
Lease liabilities HEaE 131 19 150
Interest-bearing bank borrowings P BRI TIE X 36,111 - 36,111
Guarantees given to banks in connection B FAELEZEE
with facilities granted RETRITZER
to joint ventures (note 33) (Pf5E33) 3,484,667 - 3,484,667
3,576,837 19 3,576,856
Market price risk T E R
Market price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities mERRE AR IEH R ERNZSEEKT 2
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the BEHRABTELATEE TR AR - AEHE
value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to market price EERIRARE RS EABBREBEREZATERE
risk arising from individual equity investments and key management R eMEEZ FEERABRRAE L (T
insurance contracts classified as financial assets at fair value through 19) MEER M ERE - NREBKIL EmRAE
profit or loss (note 19). Most of the Group's listed equity investments BT REE AT BT - WA A B A R ST
are listed on the Stock Exchange and were valued at quoted market W mEFEME -
prices at the end of the reporting period.
The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the close of business REEIRERHERF2FARI AL ER
of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the reporting FIAEREF - R 2 ISR AR S - ARE
period, and its respective highest and lowest points during the year are as FEBZF A& REEREINT
follows:
31 March High/low 31 March High/low
2025 2025 2024 2024
—EC-RE —EC-RE —ZNE k=Sl 1t
=A=+-A B&/ BI& =A=t+—H &/ &K
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index &8 —1BAE# 23,120 24,771/16,224 16,541 20,865/14,794
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Market price risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% change
in the fair values of the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and key management insurance contracts with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax, based on their carrying
amounts at the end of the reporting period.

37. BEREEEEZRBEK@®

™ {8 E.k ()
TRINEMBEMEHESIZZERT -
BREHRERE ZIRASHEAE - 28BS
BAFEEINGRZEMEERTRZEEABR
ez ATEESEES%  AEEBRHANG
M2 GURE -

Increase/
decrease
Carrying in profit
amount before tax
RRBE A% F
IRESEE B, m
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHER
2025 —B-RE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ZEBEFIEZ AN FEETIEZ CREE 2,889 144
Key management insurance contracts classified 2 iEAFBESEAFEEYEZ
as financial assets at fair value through SREECETEERAER
profit or loss RERE# 28,064 1,403
Increase/
decrease
Carrying in profit
amount before tax
R Al g A
RS #n, A
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHTT
2024 —EF
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss #BIBRIE N FEEVIEZSREE 4,506 225
Key management insurance contracts classified 218 AEBEZERATFEENEZ
as financial assets at fair value through CMEEZFETEAB
profit or loss REREH 27,126 1,356
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise the shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is required to comply and has complied with certain capital
requirements set out in the bank lending facilities. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total capital. The Group’s policy is to maintain the
gearing ratio at less than 75%. Net debt includes trade payables, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings, less cash and cash
equivalents and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
included in current assets. Capital represents total equity.

The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

37.

e B RS ERAR MR

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

R REE B ZERBEEK @)

EXEE

AEBEAEE TEBRRREAEEFE
REZHEN  WHEBRBBZERLE - UK
HEBRFBGEAZBIRER

AEBERBEERA BEERELENER R
EHHAR - AEEXEREEFHEARRIKEZ
BB~ AR R B AN B TR BUA RS 3
BREXRGEE - ARBEAETY DB TRITER
FEEMBCETEARE - REE-_F_0F
ZAET—HRZZE-ZWF=ZA=+—HItF
B AEEEEEAZBR  BRIEFBE

AEBFREABRBLEL X (B FEBRUNEAR
BEREAR - AKBEZERRDBEAAREL
RERFNTS% AT - B FRREERMNE S K
o HERBERMERITENR B ARDE
ENREMERREER EBBRSERATE
BIRZ EREE - BRI ARE

RIEMEERR 2 EARBELLEMT

2025 2024

—E-RF —E U

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Trade payables FERTE SRR 53,650 39,507
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 134
Interest-bearing bank borrowings b BRI T 3K 31,998 36,111
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BHekERREER (58,967) (76,345)

Less: Financial assets at fair value through B BRERIZATEEYERE

profit or loss included in current assets EREETTARDEE (2,889) (4,506)
Net (cash)/debt (Be) BEFHE 23,807 (5,099)
Total capital B4R 1,734,057 1,709,507
Gearing ratio BRBELE 1.4% N/A
NE A
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

196

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company

38.

RO 2 B FHIR TR

BRRBEHREREARBAPBRAKRZE

at the end of the reporting period is as follows: £
2025 2024
—E-RE —E N4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR ZIRE 580,122 563,184
CURRENT ASSETS RENERE
Due from associates U B N R FIAR 3 3
Prepayments TEfTFRIE 447 364
Cash and cash equivalents ReRERBESIER 19,848 53,527
Total current assets MEEERE 20,298 53,894
CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥ i=Ri=
Accrued expenses FEETEHA 3,147 4,068
Financial guarantee obligation HISEREE 45,481 50,112
Total current liabilities mENB(ERE 48,628 54,180
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEEFE (28,330) (286)
Net assets AEFE 551,792 562,898
EQUITY R
Issued capital BEITIRA 90,866 90,866
Reserves (note) A IEED) 460,926 472,032
Total equity e RER 551,792 562,898
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38. XATZMBRRET @

COMPANY (continued)
Note: Bt EE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ATz EEanT
Share Capital
premium redemption Retained
account reserve profits Total
RIPBER REEEHEE RERR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FET
At 1 April 2023 R-E-_=FmNA—H 429,719 16,142 14,166 460,027
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 EWA LSS - - 21,092 21,092
Dividend paid (note 10) BERAE (EE10) - (9,087) (9,087)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZZOF=A=+—AK
ZEZNFHA—H 429,719 16,142 26,171 472,032
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 WA 4EZE - - 16,154 16,154
Dividend paid (note 10) BAREE (FIFE10) - - (27,260) (27,260)
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_AF=A=1+—H 429,719 16,142 15,065 460,926
BERSHSRRE(ZETMOFEEITA) - K

In accordance with the Companies Law (2004 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, the Company’s share premium account is distributable in

certain circumstances.

— ==

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 39. REMBHRRHE

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2025.

TEFRMBRRER

EEQUERIRRETH -

Annual Report 2025 3k AV Concept Holdings Limited

REZ B S ERES TERTAITOK

TORFEANA=THEHE

=

197



List of Investment Properties and Buildings Included in Property, Plant and Equipment
RENFBERTAYE - BMEREBEZET

31 March2025 —ZZE=-HF=A=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWE
Approximate Effective equity
Address gross areas Lot number  Lease expiry interest to the Group Usage
rEEER
3k BHBER R R HAZIEA B Az
HONG KONG
E
Flat 302, 3/F, Block G, Telford Gardens, 603.00 sq.ft. NKI 5744 2047 100% Residential
No. 33 Wai Yip Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon
NENEBREERRIERIEEACE3RI0E 603.007 7R NKI 5744 —TMtF 100% =z
MAINLAND CHINA
HEIRE
Units A-D, 25/F, Noble Center, 1006 Fu Zhong San Road, 1,000.77 sq.m. N/A 2053 100% Office
Futian District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province
ERE AT RHERET=H10065% 1,000.77F 7k TER “Th=F 100% YN
HEFLBAZDE
The whole of 28th Floor, Tower One, Neptune Center, 1,088.42 sq.m. N/A 2048 100% Services
Gaoxin District, Chengdu City, Sichuan Province apartments
m)|| B E T EERE O —H28E R 1,08842F 7K TR —ZmNE 100% g S WNE
SINGAPORE
K
2 Kallang Avenue, #06-24, CT Hub, Singapore 124.00 sg.m. N/A 2075 100% Office
124.00F 755K Em —ZtnF 100% YN
2 Kallang Avenue, #06-25, CT Hub, Singapore 168.00 sg.m. N/A 2075 100% Office
168.00°F /52K TEm —ZthF 100% YN
2 Kallang Avenue, #08-25, CT Hub, Singapore 168.00 sg.m. N/A 2075 100% Office
168.00°F 772K TEm —ZthF 100% YN
2 Kallang Avenue, #09-19, CT Hub, Singapore 98.05g.m. N/A 2075 100% Office
98.0F 7K TEfS —TthF 100% YN
33 Ubi Avenue 3, #07-37, Vertex, Singapore 310.0 sq.m. N/A 2067 100% Office
310.0F 75K TES ZERtE 100% WRE

BUILDINGS INCLUDED IN PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT

The buildings included in property, plant and equipment mainly represented
the head office of the Group located at 6th Floor, Enterprise Square Three, 39
Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong and the office of a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company located at 33 Ubi Avenue 3, #07-72, Vertex,

Singapore.
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FTAMIER - BERREZET

FAYE  BEMBREIEFEIZAAEEAHSE
B - (R BB NEEERREIR B FEES = HeiE A
NARRIZEMBE AR Z R - 7433 Ubi Avenue
3, #07-72, Vertex,Singapore °
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